ADDENDUM No. 4

Date: April 18, 2025

DORMITORY AUTHORITY - STATE OF NEW YORK

Dormitory Authority – State of New York ("DASNY")
GENERAL CONSTRUCTION –
COMMUNITY MINOR MAINTENANCE (GC-CMM)
ALL REGIONS 1, 2, 3 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10
DASNY Project # 3111209999

This **ADDENDUM** is hereby included in and made part of the Contract whether or not attached thereto. All requirements of the original Specifications and Drawings shall remain in force except as noted by this **ADDENDUM No. 4**

THE PURPOSE OF THIS ADDENDUM IS TO CHANGE THE FOLLOWING ITEMS:

Item No. 1 – Modifications to the Notice to Bidders

Changes have been made to the **Notice to Bidders**. Please see the **updated Notice to Bidders attached**.

Item No. 2 – Modification to the Information for Bidders

Changes have been made to the **Information for Bidders**. Please see the **updated Information for Bidders attached**.

Item No. 3 – Modifications to the Form of Bid

Changes have been made to the **Form of Bid**. The Contractor shall specify their multiplier to three (3) decimal places on the **updated Form of Bid**. All bids must be submitted using the **updated Form of Bid**. Please see the **updated Form of Bid attached**.

Item No. 4 – Modifications to the General Conditions

Changes have been made to the **General Conditions**. Please see the **updated General Conditions attached**.

Item No. 5 - RFI Question

P&P bonds.

The contract documents mention that the total work order value is an average of \$150,000 yearly, meaning for the 2 years this contract covers the total expected value of the contract would be \$300,000. The project does require P&P bonds which are based on the total contract value.

When the sales increase, the bonding company seeks to get paid the additional premium, the cost of the original P&P bonds would be on the basis of the \$300,000 but that is an expense

that is paid at the time that the contract is awarded as the P&P bonds are sent with the contract executed.

If for instance no work orders are issued or completed....how will the contractor get paid for this expense specifically?

A. Payment and performance bonds are required on a Work Order basis, not at the time of bid or contract award. Following the bid, apparent low bidders will be required to provide a Surety letter attesting to the bidder's overall and per project bonding limits. Following contract award, payment and performance bonds will be required prior to the issuance of a Work Order and will be reimbursed at cost. The prime will not be allowed to apply their multiplier against the reimbursement of bonding.

Item No. 6 - RFI Question

Typically in other projects, when the prime is MBE or WBE, half of the MWBE goals are waived. Will this be the case for this project?

A. The participation goals are applicable over the term of the contract. If the prime is an M/WBE or SDVOB, any services they performance themselves will count toward goal participation.

Item No. 7 - RFI Question

Can copies of old work orders and old factors be provided to bidders?

A. These contracts were last bid in 2020, and the bid results and awards were posted to the DASNY website. Here is a link to the solicitation on the DASNY website: https://www.dasny.org/opportunities/rfps-bids/2020/general-construction-minor-maintenance-all-regions.

Item No. 8 – RFI Question

Will the projects that we will be working on require Builders Risk Insurance for the contract? If so, will we be reimbursed for the cost along with our mark-up?

A. Builders Risk Insurance is required on a project-by-project basis as determined by the Owner. Builders Risk Insurance will be reimbursed at cost and the Contractor will not be allowed to apply their multiplier against the reimbursement of Builders Risk Insurance.

Item No. 9 – RFI Question

Will bid bonds be needed for each region that we will bid?

A. See Section 10.0 – Bid Security and Estimated Annual Contract Volumes, paragraph A. of the **updated Information for Bidders attached**.

Item No. 10 - RFI Ouestion

Will we need to have our sub-contractor submit the performance and payment bonds for the projects? Since the GC is not allowed to perform the work, we will not be able to submit our performance and payment bonds as our Surety will not issue then since we are not doing any work here except supervision of the project?

A. No, the prime is required to provide Payment and Performance Bonds.

Item No. 11 - RFI Question

Are the performance and payment bonds reimbursable on a per project basis for the cost along with our mark-up?

A. See response to **Item No. 5**.

Item No. 12 - RFI Question

Can you let us know the names of the contractors who were low bidders for this contact back in 2020 and what there mark-ups were for each region?

A. See response to **Item No. 7**.

Item No. 13 – RFI Question

If the Contractor completes investigation, planning, vetting the bidders and bidding the project but DASNY decides that the work is not to be awarded, due to funding or any other reasons. Will the contractor be compensated for their time?

A. No.

Item No. 14 - RFI Question

If there are change orders on the contract. We understand that the installer doing the work will receive normal Overhead and Profit laid out in the general conditions but will the GCCMM contractor receive overhead and profit as per the general conditions change order spec or at the percentage that was bid for the overall GCCMM?

A. See ARTICLE 7 -- CHANGES IN THE WORK of the update General Conditions attached.

Item No. 15 – RFI Question

Can you provide an example of how our bid docs should show our percentage mark up? For example; 24% markup is to be 1.24 or .24

A. The Contractor shall procure the identified scope of work for a lump sum price multiplied by the number written on the **updated Form of Bid attached**. Contractors shall specify their multiplier to three decimal places. For example, a 24% mark-up should be written as a 1.240 on the **updated Form of Bid attached**.

Item No. 16 - RFI Question

Will there be reimbursement for any additional insurance cost and should that cost be rolled into the multiplier provided by contractors? Or will those costs be reimbursed on a work order basis?

A. See ARTICLE 15 -- INSURANCE AND BONDS of the **updated General Conditions attached**. All insurances outlined in Article 15 should be taken into consideration when calculating multipliers. Insurance will be reimbursed on a Work Order basis.

Item No. 17 - RFI Question

If a scope of work is verified and priced but the work order is cancelled or not executed, are contractors entitled to any recoupment of cost or services expended?

A. See response to Item No. 13.

Item No. 18 - RFI Question

If bidding contractor is MWBE certified, does this count toward the MWBE goals noted within the contract?

A. See response to **Item No. 6**.

Item No. 19 – RFI Question

Is builders risk insurance required for all potential work orders?

A. See response to **Item No. 8**.

Item No. 20 - RFI Question

Will GC and/or subcontractors be required to generate baseline scheduling and two-week lookahead scheduling for work orders?

A. Contractors will be required to submit a project schedule in accordance with the Owner's direction, on a Work Order by Work Order basis.

Item No. 21 – RFI Question

Will GC be required to carry payment & performance bonds although contract prohibits self-performance? Can P&P bonds be offset to subcontractors?

A. See response to **Item No. 5** and **Item No. 10**.

Item No. 22 - RFI Ouestion

Can multiplier for previously awarded DASNY GC-CMM contract be provided to bidders?

A. See response to **Item No. 7**.

Item No. 23 - RFI Ouestion

Confirmation that work orders for the subcontracted work maximum value is no greater than \$80k

A. Confirmed. See Section 1A.02 - Maximum Contract Values of the **updated General** Conditions attached.

Item No. 24 – RFI Question

Is the prime or subcontracted recommended company providing the performance bond given the prime is not allowed to self-perform work?

- On the past contracts only payment bonds were necessary
- Are bond costs considered a pass through with no markup allowed?
- A. See response to **Item No. 5** and **Item No. 10**.

Item No. 25 – RFI Question

Section 7.0 A Is it expected from the prime contractor that a list of proposed subcontractors be submitted at time of bid? Or does this statement pertain to work order issuance timeframe?

A. No, a list of proposed subcontractors should not be submitted at the time of bid. Regarding Section 7.0 – Approval of Subcontractors/Subcontract Limits, paragraph A. of the **updated Information for Bidders attached**, the Owner will specify the timeframe prior to the issuance of a Work Order.

Item No. 26 - RFI Ouestion

Section 8.0 C Confirm only to be submitted if notified as low bidder.

A. Only apparent low bidders shall submit the items specified in Section 8.0 – Opportunity Programs Requirements, paragraph C. of the updated Information for Bidders attached.

Item No. 27 – RFI Ouestion

When the prime is provided an RFP and due to unforeseen reasons the project does not produce a workorder, will the GCMM prime be reimbursed for all its costs?

A. See response to **Item No. 13**.

Item No. 28 – RFI Question

Section 8.0 E Does this pertain to prior to workorder award or overall regional contract award?

- For example region 7 would the GCMM submit with its bid a request for amended goals in advance of the prime region being awarded?
- A. Regarding Section 8 Opportunity Programs Requirements, paragraph E. of the **updated Information for Bidders attached**, the participation goals apply to the

base term of the contract for the region. Any request for amended goals shall be submitted to ccontracts@dasny.org prior to the RFI deadline outlined in **Addendum No. 3**.

Item No. 29 - RFI Question

If a prime contractor decides to provide reduced goals for a particular region will the low bid be awarded regardless of the multiplier?

A. The Owner determined the participation goals for each contract. See response to **Item**No. 28 and Section 8.0 – Opportunity Programs Requirement, paragraph B. of the updated Information for Bidders attached.

Item No. 30 - RFI Question

Will the bid forms be revised to carry out the decimal point in order to prevent multiple awards in the same region?

A. Yes, the **Form of Bid** has been revised. See response to **Item No. 15** and the **updated Form of Bid attached.** Only one contract will be awarded in each region.

Item No. 31 - RFI Question

Proposed prime contractors bidding on the regions are not allowed to self-perform with its own workforce any GC or special trade work. Please confirm.

A. As per Section 7.0 – Approval of Subcontractors/Subcontract Limits, paragraph B., of the **updated Information for Bidders attached**, the contractors shall subcontract all work of the contract unless otherwise approved to utilize its own forces by the Owner. The Chief, Procurement may, in writing, modify these requirements where the Chief determines it is in the best interest of the Owner.

Item No. 32 - RFI Question

Do proposed bidders need to provide similar work experience in size and nature as part of submission?

A. No. As per Section 17.0 – Forms and Documents of the updated Information for Bidders attached, the apparent low bidder shall submit a Minimum Qualifications Form.

Item No. 33 – RFI Question

Do awarded prime contractors need to pay their staff prevailing wage rate?

A. See Section 16.03 – State and Federal Labor Law Provisions of the **updated General** Conditions attached.

Item No. 34 - RFI Ouestion

Confirm the multiplier proposed on should cover the primes profit and overheard, job oversight, 10 hour OSHA trained employees, onsite prebid meetings (multiple if deemed necessary), preconstruction meetings, Utilization plan submissions, submittal management, project scheduling, weekly meeting updates with client, bond closeout, payment structure on dasny PM Webb, compliance audits in nys contract system, onsite punchlist meetings, SSP's, one-year warranty for labor and material, closeout submission.

A. Confirmed.

Item No. 35 - RFI Question

With the exception of excavation work is builders risk required by all prime GCMM potential bidders?

- In the past insurances has not been reimbursed please confirm if under this contract the prime contractor will be paid
- A. See response to Item No. 8.

Item No. 36 – RFI Question

Are contractors required to carry the insurances noted below and if so, should the cost of these insurances be included in the lump sum multiplier or will they be paid per work order?

- a. United States Longshore and Harbor Workers' Compensation Act and Jones Act:
- b. Railroad Protective Liability insurance:
- c. Marine Protection & Indemnity insurance and Hull & Machinery insurance:
- d. Professional Liability insurance:
- A. See ARTICLE 15--INSURANCE AND BONDS of the **updated General Conditions attached**.

Item No. 37 – RFI Ouestion

There is no bid bond listed in the contract documents....is that correct?

A. As per Section 10 – Bid Security and Estimated Annual Contract Volumes, paragraph A. of the **updated Information for Bidders attached**, each bid must be accompanied by a certified check of the bidder made payable to the Dormitory Authority or by a bid bond prepared on the form of bid bond included in the Contract Documents, duly executed by the bidder as principal, and the surety thereon.

On the solicitation page of DASNY website, under the Attachments tab, bidders will find a Contract Document titled, "Bidding Requirements (updated)." The Bid Bond can be found on pages 31-33 in this document.

Item No. 38 – RFI Question

The COI sample provided shows Pollution Liability for 2'000,000, will all contractors be required to carry 2M pollution liability for this specific project?

A. See ARTICLE 15--INSURANCE AND BONDS of the **updated General Conditions attached**. Specifically, please refer to Section 15.04 - Other Insurance Provided by Contractor, paragraph B.

Item No. 39 – Attachments

Notice to Bidders (revised) Information for Bidders (revised) Form of Bid (revised) General Conditions (revised)

END OF ADDENDUM

NOTICE TO BIDDERS Dormitory Authority – State of New York ("DASNY") GENERAL CONSTRUCTION – COMMUNITY MINOR MAINTENANCE (GC-CMM) ALL REGIONS 1, 2, 3 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10 DASNY Project # 3111209999

Sealed bids for the below work located in the counties listed below will be received by DASNY at its office located at 515 Broadway, Albany, NY 12207. Each bid must be identified, on the outside of the envelope, with the name and address of the bidder and designated as a bid for the project titled above. When a sealed bid is placed inside another delivery jacket, the bid delivery jacket must be clearly marked on the outside "BID ENCLOSED" and "ATTENTION: CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS UNIT – MOLLY GRUSS." DASNY will not be responsible for receipt of bids which do not comply with these instructions.

Only those bids in the hands of DASNY, available to be read at **2:00 PM** local time on **April 30, 2025**, will be considered. Bids shall be publicly opened and read aloud. Bid results can be obtained on the DASNY website; http://www.dasny.org, forty-eight (48) hours after the Bid Opening.

All individuals who plan to attend bid openings in person will be required to present governmentissued picture identification to building security officials and obtain a visitors pass prior to attending the bid opening.

Individuals and entities submitting bids in person or by private delivery services should allow sufficient time for processing through building security to assure that bids are received prior to the deadline for submitting bids.

All bid openings will be made available for viewing live via Zoom at www.zoom.us. To enter the meeting, select "Join a Meeting" then enter Meeting Id 550 592 4065, Password 730959. Individuals are strongly encouraged to utilize this public viewing option as an alternative to in person attendance at bid openings.

A Pre-Bid Meeting for Prospective Bidders will be held on Monday, March 10, 2025, at 10:00 AM for all regions via Zoom at www.zoom.us. Prospective Bidders interested in attending the Pre-Bid Meeting can register at the following link:

https://dasny.zoom.us/meeting/register/P1meRsFOSwG8bVOBYPIzIg.

To enter the meeting, select "Join a Meeting" then enter Meeting Id 873 0243 0588, Password 171035.

Due to the specialized nature of the General Construction – Community Minor Maintenance Program attending the Pre-Bid Meeting is strongly recommended.

A Complete Set of all Contract Documents shall be posted to DASNY's website: https://www.dasny.org/opportunities/rfps-bids/construction-contracts.

Contract(s) to be bid:

REGION(S)	TRADE	OPTION(S)	BID SECURITY	ESTIMATED ANNUAL CONTRACT VOLUME (PER CONTRACT TERM)
1	General Construction	1	\$5,000	\$500,000
2	General Construction	1	\$5,000	\$500,000
3	General Construction	1	\$5,000	\$500,000
4	General Construction	1	\$5,000	\$500,000
5	General Construction	1	\$5,000	\$500,000
6	General Construction	1	\$5,000	\$500,000
7	General Construction	1	\$5,000	\$500,000
8	General Construction	1	\$5,000	\$500,000
9	General Construction	1	\$5,000	\$500,000
10	General Construction	1	\$5,000	\$500,000

<u>Base Term</u>: Two (2) years from the issuance of a Notice of Contract Award.

Option Period: Both the Owner and the Contractor must mutually agree to extend the Contract for an option period. The Contract includes one (1) Option Period, and the term of each Option Period is two (2) years.

Notwithstanding this designation, DASNY reserves the right, at its sole discretion, to assign work to any contractor in any geographic area.

REGION(S)	COUNTIES INCLUDED
1	New York (Manhattan), Bronx, Kings (Brooklyn), Richmond (Staten Island), and Queens
2	Nassau, and Suffolk
3	Westchester, Rockland, and Putnam
4	Orange, Sullivan, Delaware, Ulster, Dutchess, Greene, and Columbia
5	Rensselaer, Albany, Schenectady, Otsego, Schoharie, Fulton, Montgomery, Saratoga,
	Washington, Warren, Hamilton, and Herkimer
6	Essex, Clinton, and Franklin
7	Lewis, Jefferson, and St. Lawrence
8	Broome, Tioga, Tompkins, Cortland, Chenango, Cayuga, Onondaga, Madison, and Oswego
9	Monroe, Wayne, Livingston, Ontario, Seneca, Yates, Steuben, Schuyler, and Chemung
10	Niagara, Orleans, Genesee, Erie, Wyoming, Chautauqua, Allegany, and Cattaraugus

In accordance with State Finance Law § 139-j and § 139-k, this solicitation includes and imposes certain restrictions on communications between DASNY personnel and a prospective bidder during the procurement process. Designated staff for this solicitation is: **Josh Powers, Sr. Procurement Administrator at DASNY Construction Contracts, 518-257-3341, JPowers@dasny.org or DASNY at ccontracts@dasny.org**. Contacts made to other DASNY personnel regarding this procurement may disqualify the prospective bidder and affect future procurements with governmental entities in the State of New York. For more information pursuant to this law, refer to the DASNY website; http://www.dasny.org or the OGS website; http://www.ogs.ny.gov.

Section 1.0 - Pre-Bid Meetings

A Pre-Bid Meeting for Prospective Bidders will be held on Monday, March 10, 2025, at 10:00 AM for all regions via Zoom at www.zoom.us. Prospective Bidders interested in attending the Pre-Bid Meeting can register at the following link:

https://dasny.zoom.us/meeting/register/P1meRsFOSwG8bVOBYPlzlg.

To enter the meeting, select "Join a Meeting" then enter Meeting Id 873 0243 0588, Password 171035.

Due to the specialized nature of the General Construction – Community Minor Maintenance Program attending the Pre-Bid Meeting is strongly recommended.

All individuals who plan to attend bid openings in person will be required to complete and present government-issued picture identification to building security officials and obtain a visitors pass prior to attending the bid opening.

Individuals and entities submitting bids in person or by private delivery services should allow sufficient time for processing through building security to assure that bids are received prior to the deadline for submitting bids.

All bid openings will be made available for viewing live via Zoom at www.zoom.us. To enter the meeting, select "Join a Meeting" then enter Meeting Id 550 592 4065, Password 730959. Individuals are strongly encouraged to utilize this public viewing option as an alternative to in person attendance at bid openings.

Section 2.0 - Examination of the Contract Documents and Site

- A. Prospective bidders shall examine the Contract Documents carefully and, before bidding, shall make a written request to the Owner, for an interpretation or correction of any ambiguity, inconsistency or error therein which should be discovered by a reasonably prudent bidder. Every request for such interpretation must be received at least ten (10) days prior to the date fixed for the opening of the bid. Such interpretation or correction, as well as additional Contract provisions the Owner shall decide to include, shall be issued in writing by the Owner as an Addendum, which shall be available on the DASNY website (www.dasny.org) where the Contract Documents are available for inspection by prospective bidders. Such Addendum shall become a part of the Contract Documents and shall be binding on prospective bidders whether or not the bidder receives or acknowledges the actual notice of such Addendum. Requirements of the Contract Documents shall apply to Addenda.
 - 1. Deadline for written requests for interpretation or correction of bid documents shall be April 20, 2025, at 2:00 PM. Please submit all written requests for interpretation or correction of bid documents to Josh Powers, DASNY, jpowers@dasny.org and Construction Contracts at ccontracts@dasny.org.

- B. Only interpretations, corrections or additional Contract provisions issued in writing by the Owner as Addenda shall be binding. No officer, agent or employee of the Owner is authorized to explain or interpret the Contract Documents by any other method and any such explanation or interpretation, if given, must not be relied upon by the bidder.
- C. At the time of the opening of bids, each bidder shall be presumed to have read and to be familiar with the Contract Documents. The failure or omission of any bidder to receive or to examine any Contract Document shall in no way relieve any bidder from any obligation in respect to the bid of such bidder.

Section 3.0 - Qualifications of Bidder

- A. The Owner may make such investigation as the Owner deems necessary to determine the responsibility of any bidder or to determine the ability of any bidder to perform the Work. Bidders shall furnish to the Owner all information and data required by the Owner, including complete financial data, within the time and in the form and manner required by the Owner. The Owner reserves the right to reject any bid if the evidence required by the Owner is not submitted as required or if the evidence submitted by or the investigation of any bidder fails to satisfy the Owner that the bidder is responsible, or is able or qualified to carry out the obligations of the Contract or to complete the Work as contemplated.
- B. In the event the bidder fails to establish to the satisfaction of the Owner, as set forth in (A) above, that the bidder is both responsible and meets the qualification requirements of the solicitation, the Owner reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to reject any bid.
- C. The submission of a bid or proposal in connection with this Notice to Bidders or Information for Bidders constitutes a material representation by the bidder that, to the best of its knowledge, after reasonable investigation and due diligence, the bidder's aggregate bonding capacity limit is equal to or in excess of the Estimated Annual Contract Volume (EACV) of the GC-CMM term contract as set forth herein. Bidder acknowledges that DASNY will reasonably rely on this representation in the making of awards for the Contract.
- D. Contract Experience Requirements for General Contractor (GC):
 - 1. The Bidder or its Principals for the contract shall meet the following minimum requirements:
 - a) The Bidder shall have completed or substantially completed in each of the last two (2) years at least five (5) projects each with a contract value of at least \$100,000. The projects used for qualification listed above must be where the Bidder was the prime contractor for the specific trade on which they are bidding.
 - b) Experience will be viewed from both the perspective of completed projects of comparable scope and magnitude as well as the experience and depth of the bidder's personnel. The determination of relevant contract experience in terms of size, scope and complexity will be at the sole discretion of the Owner.

Section 4.0 - Executive Order No 170.1 - Uniform Guidelines for Responsibility Determinations

The criteria contained in Executive Order No. 170.1 will also be applied in the bid review process. In the event of any conflict between the criteria in Executive Order No. 170.1 and the criteria in the Contract Documents, the stricter criteria shall apply.

Section 5.0 - Executive Order No 125 - NYS Vendor Responsibility Questionnaire

- A. For any contract \$10,000 or more, the New York State Vendor Responsibility Questionnaire For-Profit Construction (CCA-2) Certification Page shall be submitted by the apparent low bidder to the Owner within five (5) business days of receipt of the Pre-Award Notification Letter. Executive Order No. 125 dated May 22, 1989 is found at 9 NYCRR §4.125.
- B. The apparent low bidder shall submit a New York State Vendor Responsibility Questionnaire For-Profit Construction (CCA-2) Certification Page to the Owner for any subcontractor proposed for the Work upon request of the Owner.
- C. The Owner recommends that vendors file the required Vendor Responsibility Questionnaire online via the New York State VendRep System (the "System") prior to submission of the bid. To enroll and use the System, see the System Instructions http://www.osc.state.ny.us/vendrep/vendor_index.htm or go directly to the VendRep System online at https://portal.osc.state.ny.us. Vendors must provide their New York State Vendor Identification Number when enrolling. To request assignment of a Vendor ID or for System assistance, contact the Office of the State Comptroller's ("OSC") Help Desk at 866-370-4672 or 518- 408-4672 or by email at ciohelpdesk@osc.state.nv.us. Vendors opting to complete and submit a paper questionnaire can obtain the appropriate questionnaire from the System website www.osc.state.nv.us/vendrep or may contact the Owner (DASNY) or OSC's Help Desk for a copy of the paper form.

Section 6.0 – 2005 Procurement Lobbying Law

- A. Pursuant to provisions of the General Conditions, Article 18 2005 Procurement Lobbying Law, for any contract \$15,000 or more, the 2005 PROCUREMENT LOBBYING LAW CERTIFICATION as part of the Omnibus Procurement Certification form is to be submitted with the bid.
- B. All bidders, domestic and foreign, must be in compliance with New York State business registration requirements. Contact the NYS Department of State regarding compliance.

Section 7.0 - Approval of Subcontractors/Subcontract Limits

- A. Pursuant to provisions of the General Conditions, Article 6 Subcontracts, bidders shall within the time specified by the Owner, submit to the Owner the names of the Subcontractors which the bidder proposes to use on the project. The Owner reserves the right to reject any bid if the names of proposed Subcontractors, or additional subcontractor information, are not submitted as required.
- B. Self-Performance Requirements/Subcontracting Limits:

- 1. The contractors shall subcontract all work of the contract unless otherwise approved to utilize its own forces by the Owner.
- 2. The Chief, Procurement may, in writing, modify these requirements where the Chief determines it is in the best interest of the Owner.

Section 8.0 - Opportunity Programs Requirements

- A. Pursuant to provisions of the General Conditions, Article 20 Opportunity Programs and Article 21 Service-Disabled Veteran Owned Businesses, the Contractor agrees, in addition to any other nondiscrimination provision of the Contract and at no additional cost to the Owner, to fully comply and cooperate with the Owner in the implementation of NYS Executive Law ARTICLE 15-A, PARTICIPATION BY MINORITY GROUP MEMBERS AND WOMEN WITH RESPECT TO STATE CONTRACTS and Article 17-B, SERVICE DISABLED VETERAN OWNED BUSINESSES. These requirements will include: equal employment opportunities for minority group members and women (EEO), plus opportunities for minority and women-owned business enterprises (M/WBE). The Contractor's demonstration of good faith efforts shall also be a part of these requirements.
- B. The Owner has adopted a goal-oriented approach to ensure employment of EEO & M/WBE at a level commensurate with their capability and availability. The Owner has determined that the goals for EEO & M/WBE participation in the Work of the Contract are follows:

REGION(S)	TRADE	MBE %	WBE %	SDVOB %	EEO%
1	General Construction	18%	12%	6%	45%
2	General Construction	18%	12%	6%	45%
3	General Construction	18%	12%	6%	45%
4	General Construction	18%	12%	6%	45%
5	General Construction	18%	12%	6%	45%
6	General Construction	18%	12%	6%	45%
7	General Construction	18%	12%	6%	45%
8	General Construction	18%	12%	6%	45%
9	General Construction	18%	12%	6%	45%
10	General Construction	18%	12%	6%	45%

- C. The low bidder shall submit the following as referenced in the Contract Documents, within the specified time frames:
 - 1. Statewide Utilization Management Plan ("Utilization Plan"), Refer to Article 20 Opportunity Programs, specifically Section 20.03 for Submittal Requirements;
 - 2. Utilization Plan Cover Sheet
 - 3. Standard Equal Employment Opportunity Policy Statement
 - 4. Permanent Employee Distribution
 - 5. Scope Verification Form

- 6. Monthly Workforce Utilization Report
- 7. Compliance Report
- D. Failure to provide the above plans and the aforementioned information may be cause for rejection of the bid, and / or Work Order and payment request being denied.
- E. Requests for amended goals should be submitted to Procurement in advance of award of the Contract.

Section 9.0 - Preparation of Bids

- A. Bids must be submitted on the Form of Bid supplied by the Owner in the bidder's full legal name or the bidder's full legal name plus a registered assumed name. Bids shall be enclosed in a sealed envelope, addressed to the Owner, and marked with the name and address of the bidder, and the name of the Project. All blank spaces for bid prices must be filled in, using both words and figures, words to take precedence over figures. Conditional bids shall not be accepted. Bids shall not contain any recapitulation of the Work to be done. No oral, facsimile transmittal, electronic or telephonic bids or modifications of bids shall be considered. Bids shall contain an original signature of the bidder in the space provided on the Form of Bid.
- B. Bids that are illegible or that contain omissions, alterations, additions, or items not called for in the bidding documents may be rejected as not responsive. Any bid which modifies, limits, or restricts all or any part of such bid, other than as expressly provided for in the Contract Documents, may be rejected as not responsive.
- C. The Owner may reject any bid not prepared and submitted in accordance with the provisions of the Contract Documents.
- D. Any bid may be withdrawn prior to the scheduled time for the opening of bids or authorized postponement thereof and any bid received after such time and date shall not be considered.
- E. No bidder may withdraw a bid within sixty (60) days after the actual date of the opening thereof. After sixty (60) days, the Owner, at its sole discretion, may request that the bidder extend the expiration of the bid, as often as deemed necessary, to a date set by the Owner. After sixty (60) days, if the Contract has not been awarded and the Owner elects to not request an extension, the Owner may consider the bid as expired and return the bid security.
- F. No action or proceeding concerning in any way any bid for the Contract or the Contract shall be brought against the Owner in any location other than Albany County unless the Owner specifically consents, in writing, to a change of venue.

Section 10.0 – Bid Security and Estimated Annual Contract Volumes

A. Each bid must be accompanied by a certified check of the bidder made payable to the Dormitory Authority or by a bid bond prepared on the form of bid bond included in the Contract Documents, duly executed by the bidder as principal, and the surety thereon. Bidder failure to provide bid security as

prescribed, may result in rejection of the bid. Bid bonds submitted as bid security shall contain an original signature of both the bidder and the surety providing the bid bond in the space provided on the Form of Bid Bond. The surety shall be authorized to do business in the State of New York by the New York State Department of Financial Services, rated at least A- by A. M. Best and Company, or meet such other requirements as are acceptable to the Owner in its sole and exclusive discretion.

1. The Bid Security and Estimated Annual Contract Volumes of each contract to be awarded are stated in the table below.

REGION(S)	TRADE	OPTION(S)	BID SECURITY	ESTIMATED ANNUAL CONTRACT VOLUME (PER CONTRACT TERM)
1	General Construction	1	\$5,000	\$500,000
2	General Construction	1	\$5,000	\$500,000
3	General Construction	1	\$5,000	\$500,000
4	General Construction	1	\$5,000	\$500,000
5	General Construction	1	\$5,000	\$500,000
6	General Construction	1	\$5,000	\$500,000
7	General Construction	1	\$5,000	\$500,000
8	General Construction	1	\$5,000	\$500,000
9	General Construction	1	\$5,000	\$500,000
10	General Construction	1	\$5,000	\$500,000

- 2. The Minimum Contract Value for all contracts is \$0.
- 3. A separate Bid Bond is required for each Bid.
- During the contract period, the Contractor may receive Work Orders that surpass the Estimated Annual Contract Volume. However, the Contractor is not guaranteed to receive this volume of Work.
- B. Any certified checks submitted as bid security shall be returned to all except the three (3) lowest bidders after the opening of bids, and the remaining checks shall be returned to the three (3) lowest bidders after the Owner and the accepted bidder have executed the Agreement, or if no Agreement has been executed within sixty (60) days after the date of the opening of bids, upon demand of the bidder at any time thereafter so long as such bidder has not been notified of the acceptance of such bid.
- C. Bid Bonds of all but the bidder executing the Agreement shall be destroyed by the Owner either 1) after the Owner and the accepted bidder have executed the Agreement, or 2) if no Agreement has been executed, sixty (60) days after the date of the opening of bids.
- D. Apparent Low Bidders will be required to submit a letter from their Surety attesting to their overall and per project bonding limits.

Section 11.0 – Compliance with Laws

The bidder shall sign and submit with the bid the COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS – CERTIFICATION as part of the Omnibus Procurement Certification form included in the Contract Documents.

Section 12.0 - Bid Designation

- A. Each bid shall bear on the <u>outside of the envelope</u> the name of the bidder, its address, its telephone number and designated as bid for the following: "BID ENCLOSED FOR <u>GENERAL</u> <u>CONSTRUCTION COMMUNITY MINOR MAINTENANCE (GC-CMM) PROGRAM</u>; REGION NUMBER: _____" (Fill in Appropriate Region Number from Table Below).
- B. No more than ONE Region per envelope.
- C. Notwithstanding the contract designation, the Owner reserves the right, at its sole discretion, to assign Work to any contractor in any county covered by any of the contracts herein bid.

REGION(S)	TRADE
1	General Construction
2	General Construction
3	General Construction
4	General Construction
5	General Construction
6	General Construction
7	General Construction
8	General Construction
9	General Construction
10	General Construction

Section 13.0 - Award of Contract

- A. Award of the Contract shall be made to the bidder submitting the lowest bid, if:
 - 1. In the opinion of the Owner, the bid is responsive to the bid solicitation, and such bidder is qualified to perform the Work involved, is responsible and reliable.
 - 2. The bidder submits required documents as described under Section 17.0 Forms and Documents.
 - 3. On all contracts, the bidder furnishes within Seventy-two (72) hours after low bidder notification, documentation of efforts to encourage the participation of New York State enterprises as suppliers and subcontractors. Also, in a post-award compliance report, furnish documentation of efforts to provide notification to New York State residents of employment opportunities, through the New York State Job Service Division, or provide such notification in a manner consistent with existing collective bargaining contracts or agreements.

- B. The Owner reserves the right to reject any bid or all bids, to waive any informalities or irregularities or omissions in any bid received or to afford any bidder an opportunity to remedy any informality or irregularity.
- C. As part of the Work Order Contracting Program, the Owner reserves to itself, in its sole judgment, the right to limit the number of Work Order Contracts awarded to any single bidder or contractor. Subject to the limitations appearing above and elsewhere in this bid package, the contracts will be awarded, if at all, to the combination of bids resulting in the least overall cost to the Owner.
- D. The execution of the Agreement shall not be construed as a guarantee by the Owner that the plant, equipment and the general scheme of proposed operations of a bidder is either adequate or suitable for the satisfactory performance of the Work or that other data supplied by a bidder is accurate.

Section 14.0 - Required Bonds

- A. As a condition precedent to the issuance of any Work Order by the Owner, the Contractor shall provide (1) a Performance Bond in the form attached hereto in an amount at least equal to 100% of the Contractor's Proposal as security for the faithful performance of the Work of the Work Order, and (2) the Contractor shall also provide a Payment Bond in the form attached hereto in an amount at least equal to 100% of Contractor's Proposal for the payment of all persons performing labor or providing materials in connection with the Work of the Work Order. The Contractor shall execute the Performance bond form and the Payment Bond form included in the Contract Documents. The Contractor shall provide such bonds to Owner within five (5) work days of the date that the Owner informs the Contractor that its Proposal has been accepted. Owner's receipt from Contractor of such Performance and Payment Bonds acceptable to Owner is a strict condition precedent to the issuance of the Work Order and the Notice to Proceed.
- B. If at any time the Owner, in its sole and exclusive discretion, shall become dissatisfied with any surety or sureties upon the Payment Bond, or if for any other reason said bonds shall cease to be adequate security to the Owner, the Contractor shall, within five (5) calendar days after written notice from the Owner to do so, substitute an acceptable bond or bonds in such form and sum and signed by such other surety or sureties as may be satisfactory to the Owner. The Contractor shall pay the premiums on said bond or bonds. No further payments shall be deemed due nor shall be made until the new surety or sureties shall have furnished an acceptable bond or bonds to the Owner.
- C. The surety company, on all bonds, shall be authorized to do business in the State of New York by the NYS Department of Financial Services and rated at least A- by A.M. Best and Company, or meet such other requirements as are acceptable to the Owner in its sole and exclusive discretion.
- D. Any failure to comply with the requirements of Article 14 will be deemed a material breach of the Agreement.

Section 15.0 - Damages for Failure to Enter into Agreement

The successful bidder, upon failure or refusal to sign and deliver the Agreement required within fourteen (14) days after such bidder has received the Letter of Intent, shall forfeit to the Owner as damages for

such failure or refusal, the bid security or the difference between the bidder's Award Criteria Figure and the next lowest bidder's Award Criteria figure times the Estimated Annual Contract Volume, whichever sum shall be higher.

Section 16.0 - Substantial Completion

- A. Total time of completion for the Work Order Contracting Program is:
 - 1. <u>Base Term:</u> Two (2) years from issuance of a Notice of Contract Award.
 - 2. Option Period: Both the Owner and the Contractor must mutually agree to extend the Contract for an option period. The Contract includes One (1) Option Period, and the term of the Option Period is two (2) years.
- B. Work set forth in individual Work Orders under the Contract shall be commenced and completed as stated in the Work Orders.
- C. Liquidated Damages may be assessed on a Work Order by Work Order basis at a rate established in the Work Order.

Section 17.0 - Forms and Documents

Each bidder shall complete and submit to the Owner, pursuant to provisions stated in the Information for Bidders, the following forms and documents, which are hereby made a part of the Contract Documents:

Bidding Requirements: each bidder shall submit the following at time of bid:

- 1. Form of Bid;
- 2. Omnibus Procurement Certification
 - a. 2005 Procurement Lobbying Law Certification
 - b. Code of Business Ethics Certification
 - c. Compliance with Laws Certification
- 3. W-9 Form
- 4. Bid Security

<u>Contract Forms for Construction</u>: the successful bidder shall submit the following for execution of the Contract:

- 1. Minimum Qualifications Form
- 2. Required Insurance Form within three (3) days after low bidder notification
- 3. New York State Vendor Responsibility Questionnaire For-Profit Construction (CCA-2)
- 4. Agreement within fourteen (14) days after Letter of Intent
- 5. Surety letter attesting to Bidder's overall and per project bonding limits

As Work Orders are issued the successful bidder must submit the following:

- 1. Utilization Plan with written justification if a Request for Waiver is applicable Utilization Plan Cover Sheet
- 2. Scope Verification Form
- 3. Monthly Workforce Utilization Report

Section 18.0 – Project Labor Agreement (Not Required)

Section 19.0 – Electronic Data Transfer

Notwithstanding Section 2.02 (B) – Electronic Data Transfer, payment to the Contractor shall only be rendered electronically, unless payment by paper check is authorized in writing by the Owner. The Contractor further acknowledges and agrees that the Owner may withhold payments, if the Contractor has not complied with the Owner's requirements relating to the electronic payment program in effect at such time, unless payment by paper check is authorized in writing by the Owner.



FORM OF BID All Regions (Contract for Total of All Materials and Labor)

TO THE DORMITORY AUTHORITY - STATE OF NEW YORK (Owner)

For General Construction - Community Minor Maintenance (GC-CMM) Program, pursuant to and in compliance with the Owner's advertisement for bids dated and the Contract Documents relating hereto, the undersigned hereby offers to Provide all Work as required by, and in
Documents relating hereto, the undersigned hereby offers to Provide all Work as required by, and in
strict accordance with, the applicable provisions of General Construction - Community Minor Maintenance Contract Documents for Region No (Write In Region # 1-10), including written
changes thereto, and addenda issued by the Owner and sent to the undersigned or delivered to the
bidder prior to the opening of bids, whether received by the undersigned or not, using the following:
1. Contractor shall procure the identified scope of work for a lump sum price multiplied by the following multiplier of:
(Specify to three decimal places)
A contract will be awarded to the responsive and responsible bidder with the lowest multiplier.
The bid may be withdrawn at any time prior to the scheduled time for the opening of bids or any authorized postponement thereof.
If the Letter of Intent is sent or delivered to the undersigned within sixty (60) days after the date of opening of the bids, or any time thereafter before the bid is withdrawn, the undersigned shall, within fourteen (14) days after the date of such Letter of Intent, execute and deliver an Agreement in the form included in the Contract Documents.
The undersigned hereby designates as the undersigned's office to which the Letter of Intent may be sent or delivered:
Date of Bid Submission:
Officer Name (Print):
Officer Title:
Signature of Officer:
Firm's Legal Name:
Street Address:
PO Box #:

January 1, 2025 Page 1





City, State, Zip Code:
Phone Number:
Email Address:
New York State Department of Labor Registration Number:(*Bid shall be rejected as non-responsive for failure to provide the NYS DOL registration number)
Taxpayer ID or Social Security Number:

Submit Bid to:

DASNY
Attn: CONTRACTS UNIT – BID ENCLOSED
515 Broadway
Albany, New York 12207

NOTE ON OUTSIDE OF ENVELOPE:

GC-CMM PROGRAM, FOR REGION: _____

(Fill In Appropriate Region)

No more than ONE Bid per envelope

End of Document

(This Page Intentionally Left Blank)

Table of Contents

ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS	4
Section 1.01 - Definitions	4
ARTICLE 2 CONTRACT DOCUMENTS	8
SECTION 2.01 - CAPTIONS	8
SECTION 2.02 – ELECTRONIC DATA TRANSFER	
SECTION 2.03 - OWNER	
SECTION 2.04 - NOTICE AND SERVICE THEREOF	10
SECTION 2.05 - NOMENCLATURE	
Section 2.06 - Invalid Provisions	
SECTION 2.07 – INTERPRETATION OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS	
SECTION 2.08 - COPIES OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS	
ARTICLE 3 SITE CONDITIONS	11
SECTION 3.01 - SUBSURFACE OR SITE CONDITIONS FOUND DIFFERENT	
SECTION 3.02 - VERIFYING DIMENSIONS AND CONDITIONS	
Section 3.03 - Surveys	12
ARTICLE 4 CONTRACTOR	12
SECTION 4.01 - REPRESENTATIONS OF CONTRACTOR	12
SECTION 4.02 - ERRORS OR DISCREPANCIES	
SECTION 4.03 - COORDINATED COMPOSITE DRAWINGS.	14
SECTION 4.04 - MEETINGS	14
SECTION 4.05 - SUPERVISION BY CONTRACTOR	
SECTION 4.06 – PROJECT SCHEDULING.	
SECTION 4.07 - WORKER IDENTIFICATION AND SITE ACCESS CONTROL	
SECTION 4.08 - RELATED WORK	
SECTION 4.09 – COORDINATION WITH SEPARATE CONTRACTS	
SECTION 4.10 - COOPERATION WITH OTHER CONTRACTORS	
ARTICLE 5 MATERIALS AND LABOR	
SECTION 5.01 - CONTRACTOR'S OBLIGATIONS	
SECTION 5.02 - MEANS AND METHODS OF CONSTRUCTION	
SECTION 5.03 - CONTRACTOR'S TITLE TO MATERIALS	
SECTION 5.04 - COMPARABLE PRODUCTS ("OR EQUAL" CLAUSE)	
SECTION 5.05 - QUALITY, QUANTITY AND LABELING	
SECTION 5.06 - TAX EXEMPTION	
ARTICLE 6 SUBCONTRACTS	
SECTION 6.01 - SUBCONTRACTING	
ARTICLE 7 CHANGES IN THE WORK	24
Section 7.01 - Changes	
SECTION 7.02 - OVERHEAD AND PROFIT	
SECTION 7.03 - DEDUCT CHANGE ORDER	30
ARTICLE 8 PAYMENT	30
SECTION 8.01 - PROVISION FOR PAYMENT	
SECTION 8.02 - SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION AND REDUCTION OF RETAINAGE	32
SECTION 8.03 - RELEASE AND CONSENT OF SURETY	
SECTION 8.04 - LIENS	
SECTION 8.05 - WITHHOLDING OF PAYMENTS	
SECTION 8.06 - LATE PAYMENT	34

SECTION 8.07 – FALSE REPRESENTATIONS/INFORMATION	34
ARTICLE 9 TIME OF COMPLETION	35
SECTION 9.01 - SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION	
SECTION 9.02 – PHYSICAL COMPLETION AND COMPLETION AND ACCEPTANCE	36
ARTICLE 10 CLAIMS AND DISPUTES	37
SECTION 10.01 - CLAIM FOR EXTRA WORK	37
SECTION 10.02 - CLAIM FOR ADDITIONAL COST	38
SECTION 10.03 - NOTICE OF CLAIM AND SUBSTANTIATION	38
SECTION 10.04 - NO DAMAGES FOR DELAY	
SECTION 10.05 - CONTINUANCE OF THE WORK	
SECTION 10.06 - RESOLUTION OF CLAIM	
ARTICLE 11 – TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION	41
SECTION 11.01 – TERMINATION FOR CAUSE	
SECTION 11.02 - TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE OF OWNER	
SECTION 11.03 - OWNER'S RIGHT TO DO WORK	
SECTION 11.04 - SUSPENSION OF WORK	
SECTION 11.05 - STOP WORK	
ARTICLE 12 BENEFICIAL OCCUPANCY	
SECTION 12.01 - OCCUPANCY PRIOR TO SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION	43
ARTICLE 13 INSPECTION AND ACCEPTANCE	43
SECTION 13.01 - ACCESS TO THE WORK	
SECTION 13.02 - NOTICE FOR TESTING AND INSPECTION	
SECTION 13.03 - REEXAMINATION OF WORK	
SECTION 13.04 - INSPECTION OF WORK	
SECTION 13.05 - DEFECTIVE OR DAMAGED WORK	
SECTION 13.06 – TESTING OF WORK	
SECTION 13.07 - FINAL COMPLETION	
ARTICLE 14 PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY	
SECTION 14.01 – SITE SAFETY AND PROTECTION	
SECTION 14.02 - PROTECTION OF WORK	
SECTION 14.03 - PROTECTION OF LIVES AND HEALTH	
	_
ARTICLE 15INSURANCE AND BONDS	
SECTION 15.01 - GENERAL PROVISIONS	
SECTION 15.02 - SUBMISSION OF INSURANCE	
SECTION 15.03 - INSURANCE PROVIDED BY CONTRACTOR	
SECTION 15.04 - OTHER INSURANCE PROVIDED BY CONTRACTOR	
SECTION 15.05 - STOP WORK ORDER - INSURANCE	
SECTION 13.00 – BUILDER'S RISK	
ARTICLE 16 GENERAL PROVISIONS OF THE CONTRACT	
Section 16.01 - General Law Provisions	
SECTION 16.01 - GENERAL LAW PROVISIONS SECTION 16.02 - DIESEL EMISSIONS REDUCTION.	
SECTION 16.03 – STATE AND FEDERAL LABOR LAW PROVISIONS	
SECTION 16.04 - NONDISCRIMINATION	
SECTION 16.05 - DOMESTIC STEEL	
SECTION 16.06 - FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH ARTICLE 16	

ARTICLE 17—RECORDS/AUDITS/INVESTIGATIONS/ETHICS	65
SECTION 17.01 – PREPARATION OF RECORDS/OWNER'S RIGHT TO INSPECT RECORDS AND TO AUDIT	
SECTION 17.02- FALSE STATEMENTS/INFORMATION/DISCLOSURE	
SECTION 17.03 - OWNER'S RIGHT TO CONDUCT INVESTIGATIONS	
SECTION 17.04 - DISCLOSURE OF CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION	
SECTION 17.05 - ANTI-RIOT PROVISIONS	
SECTION 17.06 - ETHICAL CONDUCT	
SECTION 17.07 – CONTINUING INTEGRITY	
SECTION 17.08 – IRAN DIVESTMENT	70
ARTICLE 18 2005 PROCUREMENT LOBBYING LAW	70
SECTION 18.01 - PROCUREMENT LOBBYING LAW	70
SECTION 18.02 - CONTRACTOR'S CERTIFICATIONS	70
Section 18.03 - Termination Provisions	71
ARTICLE 19 EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 125	71
SECTION 19.01 - DETERMINATION OF CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBILITY	71
SECTION 19.02 – NYS VENDOR RESPONSIBILITY QUESTIONNAIRE	71
ARTICLE 20 OPPORTUNITY PROGRAMS	71
Section 20.01 - General Provisions	71
SECTION 20.02 – EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY (EEO)	72
SECTION 20.03 – OPPORTUNITIES FOR MINORITY AND WOMEN-OWNED BUSINESS ENTERPRISES (MWBE)	
SECTION 20.04 - GOOD FAITH EFFORTS	
Section 20.05 - Waivers	
SECTION 20.06 – DAMAGES - MWBE PARTICIPATION	
SECTION 20.07 – REPORTING TO OWNER	75
ARTICLE 21- SERVICE-DISABLED VETERAN OWNED BUSINESSES	75
SECTION 21.01 – GENERAL PROVISIONS	75
SECTION 21.02 – CONTRACT WITH GOALS	76
SECTION 21.03 _ CONTRACT WITH NO GOALS	77

ARTICLE 1 -- DEFINITIONS

Section 1.01 – Definitions

The following terms as used in the Contract Documents shall be defined as follows:

Addendum or Addenda – Additional provisions of the Contract Documents issued in writing prior to the receipt of bids.

Approved Mark Up – The dollar amount added to the cost of the Work to reimburse the Contractor for all supervisory costs, home office costs, including officers as well as home office and local office support staff, together with all Contractor overhead costs, bonds and insurances, and profit. This Approved Mark up shall also include all required services of a home office Project Executive, by whatever name called. The Contractor's Approved Mark Up will be based on the total actual cost of all construction work performed by the subcontractors.

Authority - Dormitory Authority of the State of New York, a public benefit corporation with its principal office located at 515 Broadway, Albany, New York, 12207-2964.

Application for Payment – A Contractor's written billing request, on a form:

- A. prepared by the Owner from the Schedule of Values approved by the Owner;
- B. completed by the Contractor;
- C. adjusted by the Owner; and
- D. signed by the Contractor,

requesting partial or full payment for partial or full performance of the Contract.

Beneficial Occupancy – The stage in the performance of the Work prior to Substantial Completion when a designated portion of the Work is sufficiently complete in accordance with the Contract Documents so the Owner or Client can occupy or utilize such portion of the Work for its intended use, evidenced by the Notice of Beneficial Occupancy executed by the Owner.

Change Order – Written notice, in a standard Owner's form, to the Contractor, signed by the Contractor and executed by the Owner, changing the Contract Documents in accordance with General Conditions Article 7 - Changes in the Work, or a Forced Change Order.

Claim - A demand by the Contractor seeking, as a matter of right, adjustment or interpretation of Contract terms, payment of money, an extension of time, or other relief with respect to the terms of the Contract. The term Claim also includes other disputes and matters in question between the Owner and Contractor arising out of or relating to the Contract.

Client - The entity for whom the Dormitory Authority is performing services, including subsidiaries, agents, related corporations, or fiduciaries of the entity.

Completion and Acceptance - The stage in the performance of the Work when all Work required to be performed by the Contract, except any Work that may be required in the future by:

A. any warranty or guarantee in the Contract Documents;

- B. General Conditions Article 6 Subcontracts, Sections 6.01 E through I;
- C. General Conditions Article 14 Protection of Persons and Property; or
- D. General Conditions Article 15 Insurance and Bonds,

is complete in accordance with the Contract Documents, evidenced by the Notice of Completion and Acceptance executed by the Owner.

Construction Completion - Acceptance by the Owner of the Work as evidenced by a Notification of Construction Completion executed by the Owner.

Construction Manager - A natural person, partnership, limited liability company, corporation, or other legal entity regularly engaged in management of construction projects, and so designated by the Owner.

Consultant - A natural person, partnership, limited liability company, corporation, or other legal entity providing architectural, engineering, construction management, testing, inspection, commissioning, or other professional services, and so designated by the Owner.

Contract - The agreement between the Owner and the Contractor consisting of the Contract Documents.

Contract Amendment – A written instrument, signed by an authorized officer of the Dormitory Authority and an authorized officer of Contractor, amending, modifying, changing, or supplementing the Contract.

Contract Documents - The Notice to Bidders, Information for Bidders, Form of Bid, Agreement, Payment Bond, Performance Bond, General Conditions, General Requirements, Drawings, Specifications, Addenda, Change Orders, Contract Amendments, and all provisions of law deemed to be included in the Contract.

Contract Manager – A software program used by the Owner to manage project information.

Contractor - A natural person, partnership, limited liability company, corporation, or other legal entity with whom the Owner enters into the Contract to perform the Work.

Design Professional - A natural person, partnership, limited liability company, corporation, or other legal entity providing architectural or engineering professional services, and so designated by the Owner.

Detailed Scope of Work - The document and related drawings, specifications, and writings referenced therein which together set forth the specific requirements and items of work and effort to be accomplished by the Contractor in connection with each individual Work order.

Disputed Work Directive - Written directive, in a standard Owner's form, from and executed by the Owner to the Contractor directing the Contractor to proceed with the Work described in the Disputed Work Directive in accordance with General Conditions Article 10 – Claims and Disputes.

Dormitory Authority - Dormitory Authority of the State of New York, a public benefit corporation established by the laws of the State of New York with its principal office located at 515 Broadway, Albany, New York, 12207-2964.

Extra Work - Any work in addition to the Work initially required to be performed by the Contractor pursuant to the Contract Documents.

Facility – the operating unit of the Client where the Site is located.

False Claim – Any Claim which is, either in whole or part, false or fraudulent.

False Representation – This action takes place when a person has knowledge of the value of the work and materials supplied, performed, or proposed (the "Information") constituting the Claim, Change Order, or Application for Payment and either:

- A. acts in deliberate ignorance of the truth or falsity of the Information, or
- B. acts in reckless disregard of the truth or falsity of the Information.

Forced Change Order –Written notice, in a standard Owner's form, to the Contractor, without the Contractor's signature and executed by the Owner, changing the Contract Documents in accordance with General Conditions Article 7 – Changes in the Work.

Furnish - To deliver to the Site ready for installation.

Hazardous Material – any substance (gas, liquid, or solid) or agent (biological, chemical, radiological, physical, or having two or more of the preceding characteristics) which has the potential to cause harm to humans, animals, or the environment, either by itself or through interaction with other factors, including but not limited to heavy metals, volatile organic compounds (VOCs), semi-volatile organic compounds (SVOCs), pesticides, herbicides, dioxins, biological wastes, carcinogens, asbestos or any substance containing asbestos, polychlorinated biphenyls, lead, urea formaldehyde, explosives, radionuclides, radioactive materials, chemicals known or suspected to cause cancer or reproductive toxicity, pollutants, effluents, contaminants, emissions, infectious wastes, any petroleum or petroleum-derived waste or product or related materials, and any item defined as a hazardous, special, or toxic material, substance, or waste under any Hazardous Material Law, including, but not limited to, the NYS Environmental Conservation Law and Title 6 of the New York Code of Rules and Regulations.

Hazardous Material Laws – collectively, any present federal, state or local law, including all valid amendments, relating to public health, safety, or the environment, including without limitation, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act ("RCRA"), 42 U.S.C. §6901 et seq.; the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act ("CERCLA"), 42 U.S.C. §9601 et seq., as amended by the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986 ("SARA"); the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. §7401 et seq.; the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, 49 U.S.C. §5101 et seq.; the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §1215 et seq.; the Toxic Substances Control Act, 15 U.S.C. §2601 et seq.; the Safe Drinking Water Act, 42 U.S.C. §300f et seq.; the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act, 7 U.S.C. §136 et seq.; the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act, 42 U.S.C. §11001 et seq.; the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, 29 U.S.C. §651 et seq.; the Atomic Energy Act, 42 U.S.C. §2201 et seq.; the NYS Environmental Conservation Law; the NYS Labor Law; the NYS Public Health Law; and the amendments, regulations, orders, decrees, permits, licenses or deed restrictions now or hereafter enacted or promulgated under any such statute.

Install - To unload at the delivery point at the Site and perform every operation necessary to establish secure mounting and correct operation at the proper location.

Means and Methods of Construction - Labor, materials, temporary structures, tools, plant, and construction equipment, and the manner and time of their use, necessary to accomplish the result intended by the Contract Documents.

Minimum Contract Value - the minimum dollar value of the sum of the Work Order Amounts of the Work Orders that can be ordered under this Contract during the base term of the Contract.

Normal Working Hours - The hours of 7:00 am to 5:00 pm Monday to Friday except holidays.

Notice of Beneficial Occupancy – Written notice, in a standard Owner's form, to the Contractor, executed by the Owner and delivered to the Contractor prior to Substantial Completion, that certain Work of the Contract Documents, identified in such Notice of Beneficial Occupancy, satisfies the criteria for Beneficial Occupancy and will be occupied or utilized by the Owner or Client.

Notice of Completion and Acceptance – Written notice, in a standard Owner's form, to the Contractor, executed by the Owner, that the Work required to be performed by the General Requirements, Drawings, Specifications, Addenda, and Change Orders, except any Work required by any warranty or guarantee in the Contract Documents, satisfies the criteria for Completion and Acceptance.

Notice of Physical Completion- Written notice, in a standard Owner's form, to the Contractor, executed by the Owner, that the Work of the Contract Documents satisfies the criteria for Physical Completion.

Notice of Substantial Completion - Written notice, in a standard Owner's form, to the Contractor, executed by the Owner, that the Work of the Contract Documents satisfies the criteria for Substantial Completion and constitutes the start of the guarantee period.

Notice to Proceed – Written notice, signed by the Owner, to the Contractor, directing the Contractor to start performance of the Work of a Work Order, Change Order or Supplemental Work Order. A Notice to Proceed cannot change the Contract amount or the date to achieve Substantial Completion. A Notice to Proceed can change only the General Requirements, the Drawings, or the Specifications. The Owner, in its discretion, may issue the Notice to Proceed to the Contractor through the text of a duly authorized Work Order, Change Order or Supplemental Work Order. Issuance of the Notice to Proceed, whether through the text of a duly authorized Work Order, Change Order or Supplemental Work Order or through a separate written notice, is a condition precedent to starting performance of the Work.

NYS - New York State

Other Contractor(s) — The one or more natural persons, partnerships, limited liability companies, corporations, or other legal entities who have entered into a contract with the Owner to perform work (including services) at or near the Site, identified in the Contract Documents or in writing by the Owner, including, but not limited to, contractors, Construction Managers, Consultants, and Design Professionals. Other Contractors does not include the Contractor.

Other than Normal Working Hours - The hours of 5:00 pm to 7:00 am Monday to Friday and any time Saturday, Sunday, and holidays.

Owner - Dormitory Authority of the State of New York.

Owner's Representative - A natural person, partnership, limited liability company, corporation, or other legal entity so designated by the Owner to act on behalf of the Owner. See General Conditions Section 2.03 for limitations and further provisions on the Owner's Representative.

Physical Completion – The stage in the performance of the Work when all Work to be performed at the Site, except any Work that may be required in the future by any warranty or guarantee in the Contract Documents, is complete in accordance with the Contract Documents, evidenced by the Notice of Physical Completion executed by the Owner. Physical Completion precedes or may be concurrent with Completion and Acceptance. Physical Completion requires that all punch-list work be completed by the Contractor such that the Contractor no longer is required to perform Work at the Site. All insurances must remain in effect until the Contractor achieves Physical Completion and the Contractor is required to submit certified payrolls through the date of Notice of Physical Completion.

Project - The work at or near the Site(s) carried out pursuant to the Contract and one or more other contracts.

Project Management Program – The software program used by the Owner to manage, monitor, and oversee performance of the Contract.

Proposal - The Contractor prepared document quoting a lump sum, fixed price and schedule for the completion of the Detailed Scope of Work. The Proposal shall also contain, when appropriate, drawings, sketches, identification of permits or certificates required, catalog cuts, technical data, samples, and other such documentation as the Owner may require for a specific Work order.

Provide - To Furnish and Install the Work complete in place and ready for its intended use.

Request for Proposal ("RFP") - The document issued by the Owner which formally requests the Contractor to prepare a Proposal for a Detailed Scope of Work.

Schedule of Values – a form provided by the Owner, completed by the Contractor, and submitted to the Owner for review and written approval; the completed, approved form establishes a minimum level of allocation of the Contract amount among the items of Work to formulate the Contractor's billing requests.

Shop Drawings - Diagrams, fabrication drawings, illustration, schedules, test data, performance charts, cuts brochures and other data which are submitted by the Contractor and illustrate any portion of the Work.

Site - The area(s) within the Contract limit, as indicated by the Contract Documents.

Stop Work Order - Written notice, signed by the Owner, to the Contractor, to cease or hold Work of the Contract Documents.

Subcontract - An agreement between the Contractor and Subcontractor for Work on the Site.

Subcontractor - A natural person, partnership, limited liability company, corporation, or other legal entity under contract with the Contractor, or under contract with any Subcontractor, to perform any portion of the Work, or to provide any labor, material, equipment, or service at the Site.

Substantial Completion – The stage in the performance of the Work when all Work is sufficiently complete in accordance with the Contract Documents so the Owner or Client can occupy or utilize the Work for its intended use, evidenced only by the Notice of Substantial Completion executed by the Owner. Issuance of a temporary certificate of occupancy or a temporary approval for occupancy does not establish Substantial Completion.

Supplemental Work Order (Supplemental) - Written notice, in a standard Owner's form, to the Contractor, executed by the Owner, changing the Contract Documents in accordance with Section 1A.07 of this Contract. Supplemental Work Orders shall not materially alter or change the scope or nature of a Work Order.

Work - The providing by Contractor of all labor, materials, equipment and other incidentals necessary or convenient for the completion of the Work orders issued pursuant to this Contract.

Work Order - The document that sets forth, inter alia, the Detailed Scope of Work to be accomplished, the price to be paid therefor, and the Work order Completion Time.

Work Order Amount – The amount the Owner will pay the Contractor for completion of a Work Order, performance of the Detailed Scope of Work, and compliance with the Contract Documents.

Work Order Completion Time - The period of time allotted for the Contractor to achieve Final Completion of a Work order.

ARTICLE 1A – CONTRACT OVERVIEW AND WORK ORDER ISSUANCE

Overview

The Contractor shall provide the Authority such services as necessary and required to complete various minor construction projects at various locations and times, as authorized in writing by the Authority through a Work Order. Minor construction will consist of, but not be limited to; roofing, exterior decks, windows, paving, walkways, landscaping, interior and exterior painting, flooring, interior renovations, bathroom and kitchen renovations. The Contractor's services shall include without limitation, investigation, planning, bidding, pre-construction, construction management, supervision, coordination and close-out of all Work necessary and required for the projects undertaken under this contract. Unless otherwise approved by the Owner, the Contractor shall hire by subcontract and purchase order all work and materials necessary for it to meet its obligations under this Contract; provided that the Contractor may hire employees to perform incidental portions of the Work, such as custodial services as may be needed or utilize its own workforce to complete the Work, or portions thereof, when deemed to be in the best interest of the Owner in its sole discretion and as so directed by the Owner. Self- performance of the work by the Contractor must be preapproved by the Owner. The work of this contract will be related to the State University of New York (SUNY) residence halls and various facilities for the Office of Mental Health (OMH), the Office for People with Developmental Disabilities (OPWDD) and the Office of Alcoholism and Substance Abuse Services (OASAS).

Section 1A.01 - Work to be performed

- A. The Contractor shall perform the Work described in the Detailed Scope of Work referenced in each Work Order. The Contractor will be required to perform Work at various locations within the geographic limits defined in the Contract.
- B. The price of each Work Order shall be the sum of the cost of the work performed by the subcontractors plus the approved mark up as bid by the Contractor and approved by the Owner at the inception of the Contract. The Contract begins with a zero value and each work order is added to the contract by a change order and the value of the Contract increases accordingly. The approved markup shall be applied to the cost of the work as per the value of the lowest subcontractor bid for the work as accepted by the Owner.
- C. The Contractor shall obtain all final approvals for the Work, in the form of such certificates that are required by all governmental agencies having jurisdiction over the Work.

Section 1A.02 - Maximum Contract Values

A. There is no maximum contract value however the Contractor is not guaranteed any specific dollar value of work from this contract. The current cap for individual Work Orders is \$80,000 not including the contractor's approved mark-up.

Section 1A.03 - Contract Term

- A. <u>Base Term</u>: The Base Term of this Contract shall commence on the effective date of the Notice of Contract Award. The Base Term shall be for two (2) years. A Work Order is issued when the Dormitory Authority submits a written Work Order to the Contractor to perform Work. Work Orders may not necessarily be completed during the term of the Contract. Where Work Order(s) remains uncompleted at the expiration of the Base Term of this Contract, all terms of the Contract Documents will nonetheless apply to such Work Order(s) with full force and effect.
- B. Option Terms: There is one (1) two-year (2) option periods. The Dormitory Authority may, at its sole discretion, extend its right to issue and/or implement Work Orders to Contractor for one (1)

additional two-year option period, provided the Dormitory Authority gives Contractor written notice of such option at least forty-five (45) days prior to the expiration of the Base Term or prior option period. The term of each option period is two (2) years. In the event Owner does not exercise an option period, Contractor shall continue to perform all pending Work Order Work to completion as set forth in this Contract.

C. <u>Supplemental Work Orders</u>: Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, Owner may issue Supplemental Work Orders for field conditions, incidental additional work, credits or back charges subsequent to the expiration of the Base Term and any option period.

Section 1A.04 - Initiation of a Work Order

- A. As the need exists for performance by the Contractor under the terms of this Contract, the Owner will notify the Contractor of a Project. The Contractor will be provided the following information by the Owner:
 - 1. the general scope of the work,
 - 2. access to the site and protocol for admission,
 - 3. hours of operation,
 - 4. staging area,
 - 5. requirements for catalog cuts, technical data, samples and shop drawings,
 - 6. when applicable, sketches, drawings, and specifications,
 - 7. the construction duration,
 - 8. specific quality requirements for equipment and material,
 - 9. the presence of hazardous materials, and
 - 10. the date on which Proposal is due.
- B. The Owner will provide the Contractor with a detailed scope of work together with any sketches, drawings and specifications required to adequately document the work to be accomplished. This material may be prepared by the Owner, Consultant, or by the Contractor, if requested by the Owner. When an acceptable Detailed Scope of Work has been prepared, the Owner will request the Contractor to solicit bids for the Work.

Section 1A.05 – Solicitation of Sub-Contractor Proposals by the Contractor

- A. The Contractor shall provide all required construction work and materials for the Projects only through its Subcontractors and suppliers, except for construction management activities. Such construction work shall include the removal and/or remediation of hazardous materials in the area of any required construction and/or demolition, if necessary. Hazardous materials shall include, without limitation, asbestos and PCBs. (Polychlorinated Biphenyl)
- B. Should the Contractor be unable to obtain subcontractor proposals for the work, the Contractor may with the Owner's approval, perform the work with its own work force. In such cases, the Contractor shall submit a price proposal for the Owner's review and approval. The Contractor shall not receive any additional mark up on work performed by its own work force other than the approved mark-up in the contract.
- C. Competitive Proposal Procedure for Construction Work: Before entering into any subcontract for construction work, the Contractor shall conduct the competitive proposal procedure specified herein. Prior to soliciting proposals, the contractor shall provide a list of proposed sub-contractors to the Owner. Prior to submitting said list to the Owner, the Contractor shall confirm that each proposed sub-contractor does not appear on the debarment lists indicated in Section 6.01F. The contractor shall submit a Sub-Contractor Pre-

- Qualification Checklist to the Owner prior to soliciting proposals from a proposed subcontractor. See Appendix A for detailed instructions and forms.
- D. The Contractor shall solicit at least three proposals for all work performed. In the event that the Contractor is unable to obtain three proposals the Owner reserves the right to issue a work order based upon less than three proposals or request a separate proposal from the contractor to self-perform the work if it is deemed to be in the best interest of the Owner to do so.
- E. The Contractor shall review all proposals, select the lowest responsible and responsive proposer, submit to the Owner a tabulation of the proposals received and identify the recommended subcontractor and the basis for approval. Should the lowest proposal be above the Owner's estimate, the Contractor may negotiate with all the proposers to obtain a revised proposal within the cost estimate. The amount of the accepted proposal by the Owner shall constitute the value of the approved subcontractor cost plus the approved mark-up from the Contractor.
- F. To enhance compliance with the M/WBE requirements of this contract pursuant to Article 20, the Contractor may for a particular Work Order, solicit bids solely from certified minority or women owned businesses. In such cases the Contractor shall obtain a list of NYS certified M/WBE firms from the Owner from which to solicit bids. If the Owner cannot supply such a list, the Contractor may bid from their list of certified minority or women owned businesses.
- G. The Contractor shall require in its contract and verify with the subcontractors, all insurances required under the Owner's contract with the Contractor unless otherwise waived by the Owner.
- H. The Contractor shall include the Non-Collusive Bidding Certification Form from this contract as part of its proposal solicitation process and submit such forms executed by each proposer to the Owner along with the other items from this Section 1A.05E.

Section 1A.06 - Issuance of Work Order

- A. Upon acceptance of a proposal by the Owner, the Owner shall issue a Work Order to the Contractor to complete the Work. The issuance of a Work Order by the Owner shall constitute a notice to proceed to the Contractor.
- B. Each Work Order provided to the Contractor shall reference the Detailed Scope of Work and set forth the price to be paid and the Work Order Completion Time. All clauses of this Contract shall be applicable to each Work order. A signed copy will be provided to the Contractor.

Section 1A.07 - Supplemental Work Orders - Changes in the Work

- A. In addition to use of the Change Order process as set forth in Article 7 Change in the Work, Owner may, in writing, without invalidating the Contract, order changes in the Work by altering, adding or deducting from the Work of the Work Order through a new or changed Detailed Scope of Work followed by issuing a Supplemental Work Order. Supplemental Work Orders shall not materially alter or change the scope or nature of the Project for which a Work Order is issued. No alteration to the Supplemental Work Order form shall be accepted and no payment shall be due the Contractor until said Supplemental Work Order is duly executed by the Owner. If the Work Order Completion date is affected by a Supplemental Work Order, an increase or decrease to the duration, in days, shall be included in the Supplemental Work Order.
- B. The Owner may process a Forced Change to the Work if the Contractor disagrees with the

- changes in the Work and/or the resultant proposed change in Work Order Amount and/or Work Order Completion Time. The Contractor must comply with the Forced Change Order and continue with the Work subject to Article 10 Claims and Disputes.
- C. No claims for extra work will be allowed unless the Contractor strictly complies with Article 10 Claims and Disputes.
- D. Extra work or credit work that is identified on a Project after a Work Order has been issued will be carried out by issuing a Supplemental Work Order or Change Order. The issuance of a Supplemental Work Order or Change Order shall be in the Owner's sole discretion.

ARTICLE 2 -- CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

Section 2.01 - Captions

The table of contents, titles, captions, headings, running headlines, and marginal notes contained herein and in the Contract Documents are solely to facilitate reference to various provisions of the Contract Documents and in no way affect the interpretation of the provisions to which they refer.

Section 2.02 - Electronic Data Transfer

- A. Electronic data includes, but is not limited to, all digital versions of any Contract Document, all digital files produced by mechanical, facsimile, electronic, magnetic, digital or other programs, programming notes or instructions, activity listings of electronic mail receipts or transmittals, output resulting from the use of any software program, including but not limited to, word processing documents, spreadsheets, database files, charts, graphs, drawings, specifications, outlines, electronic mail, personal digital assistant messages, instant messages messages, PDF files, PRF files, batch files, ASCII files, DWG files and any other type of files now or hereafter allowed by Owner.
- B. The Owner reserves the right to implement an electronic payment program for payments due the Contractor. Prior to implementation, the Owner, in writing, shall notify the Contractor one hundred twenty (120) calendar days prior to the effective date of the electronic payment program. Commencing on or after the electronic payment effective date, all payments, due the Contractor, shall only be rendered electronically, unless payment by paper check is authorized in writing by the Owner. Commencing on or after the electronic payment effective date, the Contractor, further acknowledges and agrees that the Owner may withhold payments, if the Contractor has not complied with the Owner's policies and procedures relating to the electronic payment program in effect at such time, unless payment by paper check is authorized in writing by the Owner.
- C. Electronic data produced in connection with the Contract is proprietary information of the Owner and to be treated as confidential and not to be disclosed to, or shared with others outside the limits of the Contract without the express written consent of the Owner. The Owner makes no warranty, express or implied, as to the accuracy of the information transferred.
- D. The Contractor shall pay, on behalf of the Owner, any loss which the Owner becomes legally liable to pay as a result of a claim by any person or entity against the Contractor or Owner, which results directly from an act, error, or omission of the Contractor in the provision of electronic data in respect to the Contract.

Section 2.03 - Owner

- A. The Contract constitutes the entire agreement and understanding between the Contractor and the Owner with respect to the Project and supersedes all prior agreements, arrangements and understandings, and all trade custom and trade usage, and the construction of any provision of the Contract shall not be affected by the wording of any other agreement, whether between the Contractor and the Owner or involving other parties. The Contract may not be amended, modified, supplemented, or changed in any way except in accordance with General Conditions Article 7 Changes in the Work or a Contract Amendment. The legal relationship between the Owner and the Contractor shall be governed solely by the Contract and no rights shall arise on any other basis, including but not limited to, oral agreement, partial performance, estoppel, conduct of the parties, course of conduct or any other course of dealing involving the Project or any other project. The meaning and intent of the Contract Documents shall be interpreted solely by the Owner.
- B. The Owner shall give all orders and directions contemplated under the Contract relative to the execution of the Work. The Owner shall determine the amount, quality, and acceptability of the Work and shall decide all questions which may arise in relation to said Work. The Owner's estimates and decisions shall be final except as otherwise expressly provided herein.
- C. The Owner may, at its sole and exclusive discretion, waive certain provisions of the Contract Documents. Such waiver shall only be done by written instrument signed by a duly authorized officer of the Owner, and any such waiver shall apply solely in accordance with its terms and shall not act as a waiver of any provision of the Contract Documents, or estoppel against the enforcement thereof, in connection with any subsequent or separate event involving the Project or other projects.
- D. Any differences or conflicts concerning performance which may arise between the Contractor and Other Contractors performing work for the Owner shall be analyzed and resolved by the Owner as warranted by the circumstances. The Owner's exercise of discretion in this regard shall be sole and exclusive and its decision concerning such differences and conflicts shall be final and binding.
- E. The Owner may act through an Owner's Representative designated as such in writing by the Owner. Unless otherwise designated by the Owner, the Owner's Representative is the Owner's employee assigned to the Project as the project manager. Unless otherwise stated in writing by the Owner, the Owner's Representative is not an authorized officer of the Owner, does not have authority to approve a Labor Rate Worksheet on behalf of the Owner, does not have authority to waive the requirement for a narrative and fragnet schedule of General Conditions Section 7.01 C. 4, does not have authority to waive any provision of the Contract Documents and does not act for the Owner for General Conditions Article 15 – Insurance and Bonds. Unless otherwise stated in writing by the Owner and notwithstanding the other provisions of this paragraph, the Owner's Representative does have authority to issue a direction to attend a meeting in accordance with General Conditions Section 4.04, a Notice to Proceed in accordance with General Conditions Section 7.01 and a Disputed Work Directive in accordance with General Conditions Section 10.01. The Owner may change the Owner's Representative and the scope of her, his or its duties by written notice to the Contractor in accordance with General Conditions Section 2.04. The Owner's Representative's signature by itself on a Change Order is not execution of a Change Order by the Owner. See General Conditions Section 7.01 A. 5 for the requirements for execution of a Change Order by Owner.

Section 2.04 - Notice and Service Thereof

- A. Any notice to the Contractor from the Owner relative to any part of the Contract shall be in writing and service considered complete when said notice is sent or delivered in person to the Contractor or its authorized representative, at the street address, postal address or email address given by the Contractor in the Form of Bid. The Contractor may change any of these addresses by written notice to the Owner's Procurement Unit, 515 Broadway, Albany, New York 12207 2964; such change shall not be effective until Contractor receives from the Owner's Procurement Unit a written acknowledgement that the change has been received.
- B. Any notice from the Contractor to the Owner required by any part of the Contract shall be in writing and shall be sent or delivered to the Owner's Representative at the street address, postal address or email address for the Owner's Representative given in the Notice to Bidders. The Owner may change the Owner's Representative or any of these addresses by written notice to the Contractor. If any part of the Contract shall require the Contractor to provide notice to any other employee or unit of the Owner, the notice to such employee or unit is in addition to, and does not replace, the notice to the Owner's Representative. Notice to the Owner may be delivered by certified mail, overnight delivery by a nationally recognized courier or, if an email address is provided, email. The Owner's Representative will endeavor to provide a written acknowledgment of receipt of the notice but any failure to provide such written acknowledgment shall not be a breach of the Contract, shall not in any way alter the Contractor's obligation to provide timely notice and shall not in any way alter any of the other obligations of the Contractor under the Contract.
- C. For all notices from the Contractor to the Owner required by any part of the Contract, the Contractor shall have the burden of proving the Owner's receipt of the notice.

Section 2.05 - Nomenclature

Materials, equipment, or other Work not defined or specified in the Contract but described in words that have a generally accepted technical or trade meaning shall be interpreted as having said meaning in connection with the Contract.

Section 2.06 - Invalid Provisions

If any term or provision of the Contract Documents or the application thereof to any natural person, partnership, limited liability company, corporation or other legal entity or circumstance shall, to any extent, be determined to be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of the Contract Documents, or the application of such terms or provisions to natural persons, partnerships, limited liability companies, corporations or other legal entities or circumstances other than those to which it is held invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby and each term or provision of the Contract Documents shall be valid and be enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law. It is the intent of the Owner and the Contractor that all provisions of the Contract shall be construed to be valid under applicable law and shall be enforced to the maximum extent possible.

Section 2.07 – Interpretation of Contract Documents

A. Should any provision in the Contract Documents be in conflict or inconsistent with the General Conditions or supplements thereto, the General Conditions or supplements thereto shall govern.

- B. Figured dimensions shall take precedence over scaled dimensions. Larger scale Drawings shall take precedence over smaller scale Drawings. Latest Addenda shall take precedence over previous Addenda and earlier dated Drawings and Specifications.
- C. Should a conflict occur in or between or among any parts of the Contract Documents that are entitled to equal preference, the better quality or greater quantity of material or more onerous provision in the Owner's judgment shall govern, regardless of cost, unless the Owner directs otherwise in writing. In each conflict, the Owner, in its sole and exclusive discretion, shall determine whether the quality, quantity or onerous provision method will be used to resolve the conflict.
- D. Drawings and Specifications are complementary. Anything shown on the Drawings and not mentioned in the Specifications, or mentioned in the Specifications and not shown on the Drawings, shall have the same effect as if shown or mentioned in both.
- E. The term "materials" includes "supplies".
- F. Words of the masculine gender shall be deemed and construed to include correlative words of the feminine and neuter genders. Unless the context shall otherwise indicate, words importing the singular number shall include the plural number and vice versa.

Section 2.08 - Copies of Contract Documents

The Owner may furnish to the Contractor up to three (3) paper copies and one electronic (PDF) copy of the Contract Documents without charge. Additional sets may be furnished at the costs of reproduction and mailing.

ARTICLE 3 -- SITE CONDITIONS

Section 3.01 - Subsurface or Site Conditions Found Different

- A. The Contractor acknowledges that the Contract amount set forth in its bid includes such provisions which the Contractor deems sufficient for all subsurface or site conditions the Contractor could reasonably anticipate encountering as indicated in the Contract Documents, or borings, reports, rock cores, foundation investigation reports, topographical maps, or other information available to the Contractor or from the Contractor's inspection and examination of the Site prior to submission of bids.
- B. The Owner assumes no responsibility for the correctness of any boring or other subsurface information and makes no representation whatsoever regarding subsurface conditions and test borings, reports, rock cores, foundation investigation and topographical maps which may be made available to the Contractor.
- C. Should the Contractor encounter subsurface or site conditions at the Site materially differing from those shown on or described in or indicated in the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall immediately give written notice to the Owner of such conditions and shall not disturb said conditions until authorized to do so by the Owner in writing.
- D. Subsurface or site conditions found materially differing from those that could have been reasonably anticipated may be cause for change to the Contract amount and time of completion. This determination will be made at the sole and exclusive discretion of the Owner.

Section 3.02 - Verifying Dimensions and Conditions

- A. The Contractor shall take all measurements at the Site and shall verify all dimensions and conditions at the Site before proceeding with the Work. If said dimensions or conditions are found to conflict with the Contract Documents, the Contractor immediately shall refer said conflict to the Owner in writing. The Contractor shall comply with any revised Contract Documents.
- B. During the performance of the Work, the Contractor shall verify all field measurements prior to fabrication of building components or equipment, and proceed with the fabrication to meet field conditions.
- C. The Contractor shall review all Contract Documents to determine exact location of all Work and verify spatial relationships of all the Work. Any question concerning said location or spatial relationships shall be submitted in a manner approved by the Owner.
- D. Special locations for equipment, pipelines, ductwork, and other such items of the Work, where not dimensioned on plans, shall be coordinated with affected Other Contractors.
- E. The Contractor shall be responsible for the proper fitting of the Work in place.

Section 3.03 - Surveys

Unless otherwise expressly provided in the Contract Documents, the Owner shall furnish the Contractor all surveys of the property necessary for the Work, but the Contractor shall lay out the Work.

ARTICLE 4 -- CONTRACTOR

Section 4.01 - Representations of Contractor

The Contractor represents and warrants:

- A. That it is financially solvent and is experienced in and competent to perform the Work, and has the staff, workers, equipment, subcontractors, and suppliers to complete the Work within the time specified for the Contract amount.
- B. That it is familiar with all federal, state, and local laws, codes, ordinances, orders, rules, and regulations which may affect the Work, the Contractor, or the Project.
- C. That all temporary and permanent Work required by the Contract Documents can be satisfactorily constructed, and that said construction will not injure any person or damage any property.
- D. That it has carefully examined the Contract Documents and the Site, and from the Contractor's own investigations is satisfied as to the nature and materials likely to be encountered, the character of equipment and other facilities needed for the performance of the Work, the general and local conditions, and all other materials or items which may affect the Work.
- E. That it is satisfied that the Work can be performed and completed as required in the Contract Documents, and warrants that it has not been influenced by any oral statement or promise of the Owner or the Design Professional.

- F. That to the best of Contractor's knowledge, there are no pending or threatened suits, proceedings, judgments, rulings, or orders by or before any court or any governmental agency or arbitrator that could reasonably be expected to affect materially and adversely:
 - 1. the financial condition or operations of the Contractor;
 - 2. the ability of the Contractor to perform its obligations hereunder; or
 - 3. the legality, validity, or enforceability of this Contract.
- G. That Contractor is a duly organized and validly existing entity of the type described in the recital clauses of the Agreement and is in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its formation; it has the legal right, power, and authority and is qualified to conduct its business and to execute and deliver this Contract and perform its obligations under this Contract; and all regulatory authorizations have been obtained and will be maintained, as necessary, for it to perform legally its obligations under this Contract.
- H. That executing and performing this Contract are within Contractor's powers; that executing and performing this Contract has been duly authorized by all necessary action on the Contractor's part; and that such actions do not and will not violate any provision of law or any rule, regulation, order, writ, judgment, decree, or other determination presently in effect applicable to Contractor or its governing documents.
- I. That this Contract constitutes the Contractor's legal, valid, and binding obligation, enforceable against it in accordance with this Contract's terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, and other laws affecting creditors' rights generally, and general equitable principles, to the discretion of the court before which proceedings to obtain the same may be pending.
- J. That Contractor is in good standing with any union with craft labor on the Site for part or all the Work of this Contract or the work of the Project.
- K. That Contractor is experienced in the methods of design, engineering, installation, management, and construction contemplated for the Work of this Contract and for contracts of this nature, scope magnitude and quality and that the Contractor understands the complexity involved in this type of Contract and the necessity to coordinate its Work with appropriate governmental agencies, the Owner, and the Other Contractors.
- L. That Contractor is fully informed as to all existing conditions and limitations, including local workforce/labor working arrangements and the continuous, regular, and uninterrupted operations of the Facility.
- M. That Contractor has had the opportunity to consult with or has consulted with legal counsel of its choice before entering in to this Contract.
- N. That any breach of any of the representations and warranties of this General Conditions Section 4.01, any failure of the Contractor to familiarize itself with the Contract Documents, the Facility, the Site or the Project or any lack of knowledge on the part of the Contractor of any existing or foreseeable condition or conditions at the Site reasonably inferred from the Contract Documents which create difficulties or hindrances in the execution of the Work shall constitute a conclusive and binding determination by the Contractor that resolving any adverse impact of such breach, failure or lack of knowledge does not constitute Extra Work and a waiver by the Contractor of all Claims for additional

compensation or damages or time to achieve Substantial Completion as a result of the breach, failure or lack of knowledge.

Section 4.02 - Errors or Discrepancies

The Contractor shall examine the Contract Documents thoroughly before commencing the Work and report any errors or discrepancies to the Owner, in writing, within fifteen (15) calendar days of discovery. The Owner shall not be responsible for costs, damages or delays due to the Contractor's failure to comply with the requirements of this General Conditions Section 4.02.

Section 4.03 - Coordinated Composite Drawings

- A. The Contractor shall prepare coordinated composite drawings clearly showing how the Work of the Contractor is to be performed in relation to the work of Other Contractors, prepare scaled drawings and sections in the same digital software program, version, and operating system as the original Contract Drawings or in an operating system approved by the Owner.
- B. If, and only if, required by the Information for Bidders for the Contract, the Contractor shall run a conflicts and coordination check utilizing the Project Drawings within a three-dimensional software program of the Contractor's choice to limit the number of physical conflicts that may occur during construction. Failure to run such a conflicts and coordination check or to resolve conflicts and coordination issues identified as a result of such a check prior to the initiation of the Work on Site shall constitute a:
 - 1. conclusive and binding determination by the Contractor that resolution of the conflicts does not involve Extra Work; and
 - 2. waiver by the Contractor of all Claims for additional compensation, damages, or time to achieve Substantial Completion as a result of the existence of physical conflicts.

Section 4.04 - Meetings

The Contractor shall attend all meetings required by the Contract Documents and all meetings when directed to attend by the Owner. The Contractor shall be represented at all meetings by the on-Site superintendent described in General Conditions Section 4.05 A who shall attend the meetings in person unless the Owner in writing prior to the meeting directs otherwise. If the Owner directs, the Contractor shall be represented either by the project management personnel of General Conditions 4.05 B or by an authorized officer of Contractor; in each case, the project management personnel or the authorized officer shall attend the meetings in person. The Owner, in its sole and exclusive discretion, shall determine the time, date, location, and purpose of the meeting. The purpose of a meeting includes, but is not limited to, Project progress, submittal status, Change Orders, site logistics, coordination, inspections, testing, safety reviews, or anything which the Owner determines is useful for administration or performance of the Contract or the Project.

Section 4.05 - Supervision by Contractor

A. The Contractor shall provide full-time competent supervision for the duration of the Contract. During the course of on-Site Work, the Contractor shall provide a full-time on-Site superintendent who shall have full authority to act for the Contractor at all times. The superintendent shall read, write, and speak English fluently, as well as communicate with the Contractor's workers and the workers of all Subcontractors.

- B. The Contractor shall also provide competent project management personnel in addition and superior to the full-time on-Site superintendent who shall also have full authority to act for the Contractor at all times except such project management personnel cannot modify or rescind any action of the full-time on-Site superintendent directed to the Owner without the Owner's written consent.
- C. If at any time the supervisory staff is not satisfactory to the Owner, the Contractor shall, if directed in writing by the Owner, immediately replace such supervisory staff with other staff satisfactory to the Owner at no additional cost to the Owner.
- D. The Contractor shall remove from the Work any employee of the Contractor or of any Subcontractor when so directed in writing by the Owner.

Section 4.06 – Project Scheduling

- A. The Contractor shall provide a project scheduler, experienced in critical path method (CPM) scheduling. The scheduler's experience and credentials shall be submitted in writing to the Owner for review and acceptance prior to proceeding with scheduling of the Work. The Owner may withdraw its acceptance of the project scheduler at any time thereafter for failure to perform in accordance with the Contract. The Contractor shall provide a replacement scheduler and submit the replacement's experience and credentials in writing to the Owner for review and acceptance as soon as possible. The replacement scheduler shall be at no additional cost to the Owner.
- B. Using the software required by the Owner, the Contractor shall prepare, maintain, and revise the Project CPM schedule to plan and monitor the progress of all Project operations, in accordance with the Contract Documents. See the General Requirements for further details.
- C. Construction activities shall be interrelated on a single Project CPM schedule that represents the entire Project, including the entire Contract duration from Notice to Proceed to Substantial Completion and through Completion and Acceptance. The Contractor shall utilize the critical path method of network calculation to generate the Project CPM schedule and shall utilize the time-scaled precedence diagram method to show the Project CPM Schedule. The Project CPM Schedule shall utilize calendar days for the time scale. The Contractor shall ensure all logic constraints are identified between the Work of the Contract, the work of Other Contractors and Owner's work prior to approval of the Project CPM schedule. See the General Requirements for further details.
- D. The Owner may reject any proposed Project CPM schedule, any proposed updated Project CPM schedule or any proposed recovery Project CPM schedule if the Owner, in its sole and exclusive discretion, finds the proposed Project CPM schedule, proposed updated Project CPM schedule or proposed recovery Project CPM schedule defective for any reason, including but not limited to:
 - 1. Defective logic;
 - 2. Excessive use of constraints;
 - 3. Activity durations that are inconsistent with actual or available workforce; or
 - 4. The appearance of an effort to manipulate the schedule so that responsibility for an adverse impact is associated with a natural person or entity other than the natural person or entity responsible for the adverse impact.

- E. If a proposed Project CPM schedule, proposed updated Project CPM schedule or proposed recovery Project CPM schedule is rejected by the Owner, the Owner will notify the Contractor in writing of the rejection and the reason or reasons for the rejection. Contractor shall submit a new proposed Project CPM schedule, proposed updated Project CPM schedule or proposed recovery Project CPM schedule with the defect or defects corrected at no cost to the Owner within two weeks of the Owner's written rejection.
- F. Review comments made by the Owner on the proposed Project CPM schedule, any proposed updated Project CPM schedule or any proposed recovery Project CPM schedule shall not relieve the Contractor from compliance with requirements of the Contract Documents. The Contractor shall be responsible for scheduling, sequencing, and performing the Work to comply with the requirements of the Contract Documents.
- G. The Contractor expressly understands and agrees that no additional compensation shall be paid for any alterations to Contractor's planned construction sequence to accommodate the Project CPM schedule requirements, any updated Project CPM schedule or any recovery Project CPM schedule pursuant to the Contract. Failure to include any element of work required for the performance of the Work shall not excuse the Contractor from completing all the Work required within the applicable completion date of each phase in the Contract Documents regardless of the Owner's approval of the Project CPM schedule, any updated Project CPM schedule or any recovery Project CPM schedule.
- H. The Owner may withhold payments if the Contractor fails to provide an acceptable project scheduler, replacement project scheduler, Project CPM schedule, updated Project CPM schedule, recovery Project CPM schedule or other schedule information or reports in accordance with requirements of the Contract.

Section 4.07 - Worker Identification and Site Access Control

- A. All employees of the Contractor and every Subcontractor shall comply with all site access control and security procedures prescribed by the Owner which may include, but are not limited to, the wearing of Owner issued identification badges, ingress and egress through controlled entry and exit points, and use of card readers or other electronic identity verification devices. Contractor cannot authorize any one to enter the Site, except Contractor's and Subcontractor's employees and persons delivering materials or equipment to Contractor or a Subcontractor, without the prior written consent of the Owner.
- B. All employees of the Contractor and every Subcontractor, prior to entering the Site for the first time, shall obtain an identification badge if issued by the Owner and produce to the Owner a valid form of government-issued photo identification and furnish other background information, including but not limited to the following:

Full Name
Last four (4) digits of Social Security Number
Home Address (#/Street/Apt./City/Zip)
Contractor/Subcontractor Name
Job Classification
Union Local Affiliation, if any

The Owner recognizes that certain information requested above constitutes personal information and will take all reasonable steps to ensure the security and confidentiality of this information as required by law.

C. All employees of the Contractor and every Subcontractor shall visibly display on their person, while entering and on the Site, an identification badge if issued by the Owner. In the event said identification badge has not been issued by the Owner, all employees of the Contractor and every Subcontractor shall produce a valid form of government-issued photo identification promptly upon request of the Owner. Failure to display such identification or to produce such identification in the manner as prescribed by the Owner may result in the employee's non-admittance to or immediate removal from the Site. The Owner will send written confirmation to the Contractor confirming the action taken, if requested by the Contractor.

Section 4.08 - Related Work

- A. The Contractor should examine the Contract Documents for Work of its Contract and any related work of other contracts, to ascertain the relationship of its Work to any related work of other contracts.
- B. The Owner may contract with a Design Professional, Construction Manager, or other Consultants to provide services to the Owner. The services enumerated in consultant contracts are for the benefit of the Owner who may choose to utilize any or all of said services. The Contractor has no privity of contract with the Design Professional, Construction Manager, or any other Consultant which contracts with the Owner and should not assume that all of the services enumerated in said contracts will be provided.
- C. The Contractor shall adhere to all of the requirements specified or communicated by the Design Professional in performing delegated design work required by the Contract Documents.

Section 4.09 – Coordination with Separate Contracts

- A. The Owner may award other contracts for work which may proceed simultaneously with the execution of the Work. The Contractor shall coordinate the Contractor's operations with those of Other Contractors as directed by the Owner. Cooperation shall be required in the arrangements for access, the storage of material, and in the detailed execution of the Work.
- B. The Contractor shall take those steps reasonably necessary to keep itself informed of the progress and workmanship of Other Contractors and any subcontractors of Other Contractors and shall notify the Owner in writing immediately of lack of progress or defective workmanship on the part of Other Contractors or any subcontractors of Other Contractors, where said delay or defective workmanship may interfere with the Contractor's operations.
- C. Failure of a Contractor to keep so informed and failure to give written notice of lack of progress or defective workmanship by Other Contractors or any subcontractors of Other Contractors shall be construed as acceptance by the Contractor of said progress and workmanship as being satisfactory for proper coordination with the Work.
- D. Where the Contractor shall perform Work in close proximity to work of Other Contractors or any subcontractors of Other Contractors, or where there is evidence that Work of the Contractor may interfere with work of Other Contractors or any subcontractors of Other Contractors, the Contractor shall assist in arranging space conditions to make satisfactory adjustment for the performance of the Work. If the Contractor performs Work in a manner that causes interference with the work of Other

Contractors or any subcontractors of Other Contractors, the Contractor shall make changes necessary to correct the condition at no additional cost to the Owner.

E. The Contractor shall render any assistance which the Owner may require with respect to any claim or action in any way relating to the Work including, without limitation, review of claims, preparation of technical reports and participation in negotiations, without any additional compensation therefor.

Section 4.10 - Cooperation with Other Contractors

- A. During the performance of the Work, Other Contractors may be engaged in performing work. The Contractor shall coordinate the Contractor's Work with the work of said Other Contractors in such a manner as the Owner may direct.
- B. If the Owner determines that the Contractor is failing to coordinate the Work with the work of Other Contractors as the Owner has directed:
 - 1. The Owner shall have the right to withhold any payments due under the Contract until the Contractor complies with the Owner's direction; and
 - 2. The Contractor shall assume the defense and pay on behalf of the Owner any and all claims or judgments or damages and any costs to which the Owner may be subjected or which the Owner may suffer or incur by reason of the Contractor's failure to promptly comply with the Owner's directions, including, but not limited to attorney's fees, expert fees, and costs. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Owner retains the right to select its own counsel for such defense, the cost of which is to be paid by the Contractor.
- C. If the Contractor notifies the Owner, in writing, that an Other Contractor on the Site is failing to coordinate its work with the Work, the Owner shall investigate the charge. If the Owner finds it to be true, the Owner shall promptly issue such directions to the Other Contractor with respect thereto as the situation may require. The Owner shall not be liable for any damages suffered by the Contractor by reason of the Other Contractor's failure to promptly comply with the directions so issued by the Owner, or by reason of an Other Contractor's default in performance.
- D. Should the Contractor sustain any damage through any act or omission of any Other Contractor having a contract with the Owner or through any act or omission of any subcontractor of said Other Contractor, the Contractor shall have no Claim against the Owner for said damage.
- E. Should any Other Contractor having or which shall have a contract with the Owner sustain damage through any act or omission of the Contractor or through any act or omission of a Subcontractor, the Contractor shall reimburse said Other Contractor for all said damages and shall indemnify and hold the Owner harmless from all such claims by said Other Contractor, including, but not limited to attorney's fees, expert fees, and costs. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Owner retains the right to select its own counsel for such defense, the cost of which is to be paid by the Contractor. The Owner's right to indemnification hereunder shall in no way be diminished, waived, or discharged, by its recourse to assessment of liquidated damages as provided in the Contract Documents, or by the exercise of any other remedy provided by the Contract or law.
- F. The Owner cannot guarantee the responsibility, efficiency, unimpeded operations, or performance of any contractor. The Contractor acknowledges these conditions and shall bear the risk of all delays including, but not limited to, delays caused by the presence or operations of Other Contractors and

subcontractors of Other Contractors and delays attendant upon any Project CPM schedule approved by the Owner and the Owner shall not incur any liability by reason of any delay.

ARTICLE 5 -- MATERIALS AND LABOR

Section 5.01 - Contractor's Obligations

- A. The Contractor shall, comply with all the terms of the Contract Documents and complete all the Work in a good worker like manner, within the time specified in the Contract and to the satisfaction of the Owner.
- B. The Contractor shall provide and pay for all labor, materials, equipment, tools, construction equipment and machinery, water, heat, utilities, transportation, permits, insurance, temporary structures and other facilities and services necessary for the proper execution and completion of the Work, whether temporary or permanent, and whether incorporated or to be incorporated in the Work or not incorporated in the Work.
- C. The Contractor shall enforce strict discipline and good order among the Contractor's employees and other persons carrying out the Work. The Contractor shall not permit employment of unfit persons or persons not skilled in tasks assigned to them.
- D. Any labor, materials or means whose employment, or utilization during the course of the Contract may tend to or in any way cause or result in strike, work stoppages, delays, suspension of Work or similar troubles by workers employed by the Contractor, its Subcontractors or material suppliers, or by any of the trades working in or about the Site, or by Other Contractors, their subcontractors or material suppliers pursuant to other contracts shall not be allowed. Any violation by the Contractor of this requirement may in the sole judgment of the Owner be considered a default by the Contractor under the Contract and a basis for the Owner to take action against the Contractor as set forth in General Conditions Article 11 Termination or Suspension or such other action as the Owner may deem proper.
- E. The Contractor and each Subcontractor shall comply with all applicable local, state, and federal laws, rules and regulations and all applicable construction standards issued by the Joint Commission and other accrediting agencies and organizations.
- F. The Contractor and each Subcontractor shall comply with all applicable Hazardous Material Laws. The Contractor shall provide the Owner the Safety Data Sheets for any Hazardous Materials or hazardous substances brought on the Site by the Contractor or a Subcontractor at least fifteen (15) calendar days prior to the delivery of such materials to the Site. Contractor shall identify to Owner at least fifteen (15) calendar days in advance the quantities of all "Chemicals of Interest" listed under the Chemical Facility Anti-Terrorism Standards of the Homeland Security Appropriations Act of 2007 that will be brought onto the Site.
- G. Contractor shall provide the necessary information and training to its employees on each Hazardous Material and hazardous substance to which they may be exposed on the Site and shall cause each of its Subcontractors to provide the necessary information and training to the Subcontractor's employees on each Hazardous Material and hazardous substance to which they may be exposed on the Site. Upon request of the Owner, Contractor shall provide the Owner with proof, satisfactory to the Owner, that Contractor's employees and all Subcontractors' employees have received the necessary information and training.

- H. Contractor shall not transport, store or use, and shall prohibit Subcontractors from transporting, storing or using, any construction materials or equipment (whether or not totally enclosed) containing Hazardous Materials including, but not limited to, asbestos, polychlorinated biphenyls, benzene, lead or urea formaldehyde in connection with this Contract; provided, however, Contractor and Subcontractors may transport, store and use the following substances: lead, natural gas, gasoline, diesel fuel, fuel oil(s), gravel(s), lube oil(s), grease(s), sealant(s), combustible gases, form oil(s), solvent(s), adhesives, paints, coatings, and all other materials that are used or consumed in or during construction or testing of the Work and its constituent systems and components in quantities reasonably necessary to perform the Work, if transported, stored and used in accordance with applicable laws including, but not limited to, those laws related to the implementation and utilization of spill containment, transport systems and storage vessels and facilities.
- I. Any Hazardous Materials and hazardous substances brought to or stored on or at the Site shall require specific, prior written authorization from Owner and, as a condition to such authorization, Contractor shall provide Owner with the Material Safety Data Sheet covering any Hazardous Material or hazardous substance furnished under or otherwise associated with the Work (including the construction equipment). Contractor shall maintain on the Site, at all times, complete records, and inventories, including Safety Data Sheets, of Hazardous Materials and hazardous substances described in this General Conditions Section 5.01 that are being used by it or its Subcontractors, or any persons for whose actions on the Site Contractor is responsible.

Section 5.02 - Means and Methods of Construction

- A. Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall choose the Means and Methods of Construction subject to the Owner's right to reject, at any time, the Means and Methods of Construction proposed by the Contractor, which in the opinion of the Owner:
 - 1. Will constitute or create a hazard to the Work or to persons or property;
 - 2. Will not produce finished Work in accordance with the terms of the Contract;
 - 3. Will be detrimental to the overall progress of the Project; or
 - 4. Will have an adverse impact on the operations of the Client.
- B. The Owner's failure to exercise its right to reject the Contractor's Means and Methods of Construction shall not relieve the Contractor of its obligation to complete the Work; the Owner's exercise of its right to reject the Contractor's Means and Methods of Construction shall not create a Contractor's or Subcontractor's cause of action for damages against the Owner.

Section 5.03 - Contractor's Title to Materials

- A. No materials for the Work shall be purchased by the Contractor or by any Subcontractor subject to any chattel mortgage or under a conditional sale or other agreement by which an interest is retained by any other party. The Contractor warrants that the Contractor has full, good, and clear title to all materials used by the Contractor in the Work, or resold to the Owner pursuant to the Contract Documents free from all liens, claims or encumbrances.
- B. For all materials and equipment to be stored at a location other than the Site prior to execution of an agreement with the Owner for materials stored off-site pursuant to General Conditions Section 8.01 G,

the Contractor shall provide the Owner with written notice of the location, security, environmental protections and the materials or equipment to be stored at that location at least fifteen (15) calendar days before such storage begins. Such notice does not obligate the Owner to pay for such stored material or equipment. Payment for stored material or equipment can be made only when the requirements for such payment in General Conditions Article 8 - Payment and elsewhere in the Contract have been met.

C. All materials, equipment and articles which become the property of the Owner shall be new unless specifically stated otherwise.

Section 5.04 - Comparable Products ("Or Equal" Clause)

- A. Whenever a material, article or piece of equipment is identified on the Drawings or in the Specifications by reference to manufacturers' or vendors' names, trade names, catalogue number, or make, said identification is intended to establish a standard. Any material, article or equipment of other manufacturers and vendors which performs satisfactorily the duties imposed by the design intent may be considered equally acceptable provided that, in the opinion of the Design Professional, the material, article, or equipment so proposed is of equal quality, substance and function and the Contractor shall not Provide, Furnish or Install any said proposed material, article, or equipment without the prior written approval of the Design Professional. The burden of proof and all costs related thereto concerning the "or equal" nature of the substitute item, whether approved or disapproved, shall be borne by the Contractor.
- B. Any costs savings to an approved comparable product realized by the Contractor shall be shared equally between the Owner (50%) and Contractor (50%).
- C. Where the Design Professional, pursuant to the provisions of this General Conditions Section 5.04, approves in writing a product proposed by the Contractor and said proposed product requires a revision of the Work covered by this Contract, or the work covered by other contracts, all changes in the work of all contracts, revision or redesign, and all new Drawings and details required therefore shall be provided by the Contractor at its cost and shall be subject to the approval of the Design Professional.
- D. No substitution which may result in a delay to the Project will be permitted without the prior written approval of the Owner.

Section 5.05 - Quality, Quantity and Labeling

- A. The Contractor shall Furnish materials and equipment of the quality and quantity specified in the Contract.
- B. When materials are specified to conform to any standard, the materials delivered to the Site shall bear manufacturer's labels stating that the materials meet said standards. Contractor's quality control plan required by paragraph D of this General Conditions Section 5.05 shall include measures undertaken by the Contractor to prevent the use of materials with counterfeit labels or other counterfeit indications of meeting a standard.
- C. The above requirements shall not restrict or affect the Owner's right to test materials as provided in the Contract.
- D. The Contractor shall develop and implement quality control plans to assure itself and the Owner that all Work performed by the Contractor and its Subcontractors complies fully with all Contract

requirements, and shall submit the plans to the Owner as required by the Contract. See the Submittals Section of the General Requirements for further details. The Contractor's quality control plans shall be independent of any testing or inspection performed by or on behalf of the Owner.

Section 5.06 - Tax Exemption

- A. The Owner is exempt from payment of federal, state, and local taxes; sales and compensating use taxes of the State of New York and of cities and counties on all materials and supplies incorporated into the completed Work. These taxes are not to be included in bids. This exception does not apply to tools, machinery, equipment or other property leased by or to the Contractor or a Subcontractor, or to supplies and materials which, even though they are consumed, are not incorporated in to the completed Work, and the Contractor and Subcontractors shall be responsible for and pay any and all applicable taxes, including sales and compensating use taxes, on said leased tools, machinery, equipment or other property and upon all said unincorporated supplies and materials.
- B. The Contractor and Subcontractors shall obtain any and all necessary certificates or other documentation from the appropriate governmental agency or agencies, and use said certificates or other documentation as required by law, rule, or regulation.

ARTICLE 6 -- SUBCONTRACTS

Section 6.01 - Subcontracting

- A. The Contractor may utilize the services of Subcontractors, subject to the limits prescribed in the Information for Bidders Section 7.0 Approval of Subcontractors/Subcontract Limits. Exceeding stated limits, without prior written approval by the Owner, may be cause for Contract termination.
- B. The Contractor shall submit to the Owner the name of each proposed Subcontractor as required by the Contract. The Owner reserves the right to disapprove any proposed Subcontractor and such disapproval shall not result in any additional cost to the Owner. If requested by the Owner, the Contractor shall provide copies of any and all Subcontracts and purchase order agreements related to the Work. The Contractor shall require each Subcontractor to provide the Owner, upon the Owner's request, with a copy of each of the Subcontractor's subcontracts and purchase order agreements related to the Work.
- C. The Contractor's use of Subcontractors shall not diminish the Contractor's obligation to complete the Work. The Contractor shall control and coordinate the Work of Subcontractors and be fully responsible for the acts and omissions of Subcontractors, and of persons either directly or indirectly employed by Subcontractors. The Contractor shall be responsible for all guarantees and warranties provided by Subcontractors.
- D. The Contractor shall be responsible for requiring each Subcontractor, to extent of the Work to be performed by such Subcontractor, to be bound to the Contractor by all the terms, conditions, and requirements of the Contract Documents, and to assume towards the Contractor all the obligations and responsibilities which the Contractor, by the Contract Documents, assumes toward the Owner. The Contractor shall cause each Subcontractor to receive and review the provisions of the Contract Documents applicable to the Subcontractor, including but not limited to a copy of the Payment Bond for this Contract. Upon request of the Owner, the Contractor shall provide written proof satisfactory to the Owner that each Subcontractor has received and reviewed the provisions of the Contract Documents applicable to such Subcontractor, including but not limited to, a copy of the Payment Bond for this Contract.

- E. The Contractor shall ensure that each Subcontractor's duties to procure insurance for, and to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Owner and Client, are, to the fullest extent permitted by law, at least the same as the Contractor's duties to procure insurance for, and to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Owner and Client.
- F. To the fullest extent permitted by law and independent of any duty to indemnify and hold harmless, the Contractor shall require each Subcontractor, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to defend the Owner and Client against claims by third persons for wrongful death, bodily injuries and property damage, direct or consequential, loss or damage of any kind whatsoever arising out of or alleged to arise out of or as a result of or in connection with the performance of the Work, whether actually caused by or resulting from the performance of the Work, or out of or in connection with the Subcontractor's operations or presence at, or in the vicinity of, the Site.
- G. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor shall require each Subcontractor, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to indemnify and hold harmless the Owner and Client against claims by third persons for wrongful death, bodily injuries and property damage, direct or consequential, loss or damage of any kind whatsoever arising out of or alleged to arise out of or as a result of or in connection with the performance of the Work, whether actually caused by or resulting from the performance of the Work, or out of or in connection with the Subcontractor's operations or presence at, or in the vicinity of, the Site.
- H. The Contractor shall require each Subcontractor, in addition to the Subcontractor's other obligations, to pay the costs of the Owner and Client, including but not limited to, attorneys' and consultants' fees, expenses and court costs, to commence and prosecute a court action against the Subcontractor to enforce one or more of the Subcontractor's obligations under General Conditions Section 6.01 E, F or G or against an insurance company to obtain coverage under an insurance policy which the Subcontractor represented would provide coverage to the Owner or Client.
- I. Nothing contained in the Contract or any subcontract shall create any contractual relationship between any Subcontractor and the Owner except the requirements in General Conditions Sections 15.03 and 15.04 for each Subcontractor to procure insurance policies on which the Owner or the Owner and Client are insureds, the obligations of each Subcontractor pursuant to General Conditions Section 6.01 E, F and G to defend, indemnify and hold harmless, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the Owner and Client against claims by third persons for wrongful death, bodily injuries and property damage, direct or consequential, loss or damage of any kind whatsoever and the obligation of each Subcontractor pursuant to General Conditions Section 6.01 H.
- J. In selecting a Subcontractor, the Contractor shall consider whether the proposed Subcontractor appears on any list of entities debarred or suspended from doing business with a government entity, including the current list of companies or individuals that have been declared ineligible to receive Federal contracts published by the System for Award Management. The Contractor shall not Subcontract with any entity on the List of Employers Ineligible To Bid On Or Be Awarded Any Public Contract, published by the NYS Department of Labor Bureau of Public Work. The Contractor shall not Subcontract with any entity on the debarment list published by the NYS Workers' Compensation Board pursuant to Section 141-b of the NYS Workers' Compensation Law. The Contractor shall not Subcontract with any entity on the list of Non-Responsible Entities maintained by the NYS Office of General Services pursuant to Executive Order No. 192.
- K. In selecting a Subcontractor, the Contractor shall also consider whether the proposed Subcontractor has legal authority to do business in New York State and possesses the integrity, experience, qualifications, and organizational and financial capacity to perform Work on the Project.

- L. Prior to or after award of the Contract, if requested by the Owner, the Contractor shall require a Subcontractor to submit a NYS Vendor Responsibility Questionnaire For Profit Construction (CCA-2) and a Dormitory Authority DASNY Vendor Questionnaire. If requested by the Owner, the Contractor shall require a Subcontractor to update a NYS Vendor Responsibility Questionnaire For Profit Construction (CCA-2) and a Dormitory Authority DASNY Vendor Questionnaire previously submitted to the Owner.
- M. The Contractor shall submit a NYS Vendor Responsibility Questionnaire For Profit Construction (CCA-2) and a Dormitory Authority DASNY Vendor Questionnaire to the Owner for each Subcontractor proposed for the Work with a subcontract value of two million dollars (\$2,000,000) or greater. Refer to General Conditions Article 19 Executive Order No. 125.
- N. After execution of the Contract, the Owner will provide to the Contractor copies of the Owner's Code of Business Ethics Certification form. The Contractor is required to have each Subcontractor, at all tiers, complete the form prior to the Subcontractor beginning work. The completed forms are to be filed by the Contractor with the Owner. A failure to comply with this requirement may result in the Subcontractor(s) being removed from the Project Site.

ARTICLE 7 -- CHANGES IN THE WORK

Section 7.01 - Changes

- A. Without invalidating the Contract, the Owner, in writing, may order changes in the Work by altering, adding to, or deducting from the Work of the Contract.
 - 1. No change in the Work is effective unless the Owner executes and delivers a Change Order to the Contractor. No payment for a change in the Work is due the Contractor unless and until a Change Order is executed and delivered by the Owner to the Contractor and the Contractor has performed the change in the Work. No alteration to the standard language of the Owner's Change Order form shall be accepted. If the Contractor requests an adjustment to the Substantial Completion date for a change in the Work and the Owner agrees, an increase or decrease to the duration, in calendar days, shall be included in the Change Order.
 - 2. Notwithstanding subparagraph 1, the Owner, at its discretion, may execute and deliver to the Contractor a Notice to Proceed directing the Contractor to proceed immediately and diligently with the change in the Work described in the Notice to Proceed. The Owner, upon execution and delivery of the Notice to Proceed to the Contractor, is obligated to adjust the Contract for the change in the Work described in the Notice to Proceed; the extent of the adjustment(s) will be determined using the method of General Conditions Section 7.01 B specified in the Notice to Proceed, this General Conditions Article and negotiations with the Contractor; the adjustment(s) will be stated in the Change Order to be executed and delivered by the Owner to the Contractor. The Contractor, upon receipt of the Notice to Proceed, is obligated to proceed immediately and diligently with the change in the Work described in the Notice to Proceed while the adjustment(s) are determined. The Notice to Proceed shall be processed through the Project Management Program prior to execution and delivery by the Owner to the Contractor. No alteration to the standard language of the Owner's Notice to Proceed form shall be accepted. No payment for the change in the Work is due the Contractor until the Change Order is executed and delivered by the Owner to the Contractor and the Contractor has performed the change in the Work. The Owner determines the duration between execution and delivery of the Notice to Proceed and execution and delivery of the Change Order.
 - 3. Contractor's failure to proceed immediately and diligently with any Notice to Proceed or Change Order executed and delivered by the Owner to the Contractor, unless the Owner in writing directs

otherwise, shall be a material breach of the Contract.

- 4. If, after the Owner has executed and delivered a Notice to Proceed to the Contractor for a change in the Work, the Owner and the Contractor cannot agree on the adjustment(s) to the Contract for the change in the Work described in such Notice to Proceed, the Owner shall execute and deliver a Forced Change Order to the Contractor in an amount and with such other provisions that the Owner considers to be fair and reasonable for the change in the Work described in such Notice to Proceed and Forced Change Order. If the Contractor does not accept the Forced Change Order, the Contractor shall strictly comply with the requirements of General Conditions Section 7.01 D.
- 5. No Change Order is executed by the Owner unless and until the Change Order is processed through the Project Management Program and:
 - a. For a Change Order for an amount less than \$5,000, the regional project manager, the chief project manager, or the director construction, for the Project signs the Change Order;
 - b. For a Change Order for an amount of \$5,000 to \$150,000, the director construction administration, the chief project controls, or the senior managing director construction signs the Change Order; and
 - c. For a Change Order for more than \$150,000, the managing director construction or other authorized officer of Owner signs the Change Order;
 - d. Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this subparagraph, a Change Order which modifies the date for Substantial Completion and has a monetary amount less than \$5,000 shall be executed as a Change Order of \$5,000 to \$150,000.
 - e. No Change Order delivered to the Contractor is valid unless the Change Order has been executed in accordance with this subparagraph. The Owner, by written notice to the Contractor, may add or delete employees from the list of employees authorized to sign for the Owner a category of Change Orders and may limit an employee's authorization to sign a Change Order to part of a category. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Contract, the written notice adding an employee to the list of employees authorized to sign for the Owner a category of Change Orders and the written notice limiting an employee's authorization to part of a category may be put on one or more Change Orders for the Contract.
- B. The Contract amount may be increased or decreased only by a Change Order and the amount of the adjustment is determined by one or more of the following methods, as determined by the Owner:
 - 1. By applying the applicable unit price or prices contained in the Contract Documents, or negotiated pursuant to the provisions of this General Conditions Article. Unit prices are limited to the quantities specified in the Contract Documents or prior Change Order. Unit prices for quantities greater than specified in the Contract Documents or prior Change Order may, in the Owner's sole and exclusive discretion, be subject to negotiations between the Owner and Contractor.
 - 2. By estimating the fair and reasonable cost of the change in the Work or deleted Work.
 - 3. By determining the actual cost of the change in the Work and considering the following:
 - a. Labor, including all wages and required wage supplements, paid to employees below the rank of superintendent directly employed at the Site for the change in the Work. Minimum wages are the prevailing rate of wages defined by the NYS Department of Labor. Actual wages in excess, paid by the Contractor, may be considered by the Owner.

- b. Premiums or taxes paid by the Contractor for worker's compensation insurance, unemployment insurance, FICA tax and other payroll taxes as required by law, net of actual and anticipated refunds and rebates.
- c. Materials associated with the change in the Work.
- d. Equipment, excluding hand tools, which in the judgment of the Owner, would have been or will be employed in the Work. The Owner may employ the use of rental rates it deems most appropriate from the information in the "Equipment Watch Retail Rental and Equipment Watch Cost Recovery" databases. In no case will the equipment rental cost exceed the purchase price of the equipment. Self-owned equipment is defined to include equipment rented from Contractor-controlled or affiliated companies. It is the duty of the Contractor to utilize either rented or self-owned equipment that is of a nature and size appropriate for the Work to be performed. The Owner reserves the right to determine reasonable and appropriate equipment sizing, and at the Owner's discretion, it may adjust the costs allowed to reflect a smaller or less elaborate piece of equipment more suitable for performance of the change in the Work. The Owner, in its sole and exclusive discretion, will determine if equipment is rented from a company controlled by or affiliated with the Contractor.
- e. To determine the daily and hourly rate of self-owned equipment, the monthly rate shall be divided by twenty-two (22) to establish a daily rate; or by one hundred and seventy-six (176) to establish the hourly rate. The operating cost listed in the "Equipment Watch Retail Rental and Equipment Watch Cost Recovery" databases would be added to this rate to establish the billable rate.
- C. For each change in the Work, the Contractor shall submit to the Owner, within the time period provided by the Owner, the following information:
 - 1. A detailed proposal of labor, material, and equipment costs for the change in the Work. The Contractor and Subcontractors shall use the Owner's Contractor and Subcontractor Change Order Proposal Forms, which are available directly from the Owner or from the Dormitory Authority's website http://www.dasny.org.
 - 2. The Contractor's and Subcontractor's proposals shall provide a notarized statement as follows:
 - "I hereby certify that the value for the labor, material and equipment that comprise the proposal, represents the value of said work, material and equipment for the work performed or to be performed, pursuant to the Contract between the undersigned and the Dormitory Authority and that no overhead or profit is included in the proposal for a change to the Work performed by any Subcontractor or for any major equipment or material supplier that is a subsidiary or an affiliate of this firm."
 - 3. Signed and notarized Labor Rate Worksheet to determine hourly rates for each classification of worker associated with the change in the Work. The Contractor shall use the Owner's Labor Rate Worksheets, which are available directly from the Owner or from the Dormitory Authority's website http://www.dasny.org. Only hourly rates for each classification of worker approved by the Owner can be used to determine the adjustment of the Contract amount for a Change Order. Only an authorized officer of Owner or authorized employee of Owner's Project Controls Unit can approve Labor Rate Worksheets.

- 4. Narrative and fragnet schedule, which describes the impact on the Project CPM schedule in calendar days associated with the change in the Work if the Contractor requests a change in the date to achieve Substantial Completion. Owner, in its sole and exclusive discretion, may waive, in writing, this requirement for requests to change the date to achieve Substantial Completion made prior to the Owner's approval of the initial Project CPM schedule. Owner's waiver of this requirement can be made only by an authorized officer of Owner or authorized employee of Owner's Project Controls Unit. If the Contractor does not submit a narrative and fragnet schedule, the Contractor acknowledges that the Change Order does not require a change in the date to achieve Substantial Completion.
- 5. The Contractor agrees to provide, at the Owner's request, any additional documentation to further verify labor, material, equipment, and any other cost sought for a change in the Work.
- 6. The Contractor agrees to provide, at the Owner's request, written justification for a change in the Work.
- D. Each Contractor's written change proposal shall be reviewed by the Owner consistent with the requirements of the Contract.
 - 1. Owner and Contractor shall negotiate in good faith to agree on the adjustment(s) to the Contract for each change in the Work. The Owner is not required to respond to any change proposal submitted by the Contractor until the Contractor submits a change proposal that complies with the Contract Documents. Negotiations under this General Conditions Article shall not impact the Project schedule. The Contractor's proposal for a change in the Work is approved and accepted by the Owner only by the Owner's execution and delivery of a Change Order to the Contractor. See General Conditions Section 7.01 A. 5 for the requirements of execution and delivery.
 - 2. If the Owner has executed and delivered a Notice to Proceed to the Contractor for a change in the Work and the Owner and the Contractor cannot agree on the adjustment(s) to the Contract for the change in the Work described in such Notice to Proceed, the Owner shall execute and deliver a Forced Change Order to the Contractor in an amount and with such other provisions that the Owner considers to be fair and reasonable for the change in the Work described in such Notice to Proceed and Forced Change Order. If the Contractor does not accept the Forced Change Order, the Contractor shall file a notice of Claim in strict accordance with General Conditions Section 10.03 and comply strictly with all requirements of General Conditions Sections 10.03, 10.05 and 10.06. The Contractor's failure to comply with any or all of General Conditions Sections 10.03, 10.05 and 10.06 shall be deemed to be:
 - a. a conclusive and binding determination on the part of the Contractor to accept the Forced Change Order as final, binding and conclusive on the Contractor; and
 - b. a waiver by the Contractor of all Claims for additional compensation or damages as a result of the Forced Change Order.
- E. Any information representing the value of the Work performed, materials supplied and equipment utilized contained in the Contractor's and Subcontractor's proposals that constitutes False Representation may subject the Contractor or Subcontractor to criminal charges, including NYS Penal Law Sections 175.35 (Offering a False Instrument for Filing) and 210.40 (False Statement) and/or Title 18 U.S.C. Sections 1001 (Fraudulent and False Statements) and/or termination of the Contract for cause and civil prosecution under Article XIII of the NYS State Finance Law the New York False Claims Act.

- F. The compensation specified in the Change Order executed by the Owner and delivered to the Contractor includes full compensation for the changes in the Work covered thereby, and the Contractor waives all rights to any other compensation, damages, or expenses for the changes in the Work described therein.
- G. The Contractor shall furnish satisfactory bills, certified payrolls, vouchers, and other cost documentation covering all items of cost and when requested by the Owner shall give the Owner access to all accounts and records relating thereto, including records of Subcontractors and material suppliers.
- H. At Substantial Completion, the Owner may address increased Project-specific bonding, liability insurance and builder's risk insurance costs which may have resulted from changes in the Work. The Contractor shall provide satisfactory proof of and paid invoices, including cancelled checks or bank statements showing payment, for such increased costs. The Owner will not pay overhead and profit on any increased costs for bonding, liability insurance or builder's risk insurance.
- I. General Conditions Section 10.01 applies when the Owner determines that a decision, response, direction, action, omission, or condition does not require performance of Extra Work.

Section 7.02 - Overhead and Profit

A. See Example A for changes in the Work performed directly by the Contractor, whether a base cost is arrived at by estimated cost or actual cost method; add to base cost a sum equal to twenty percent. See Exceptions - Paragraphs "D" and "E".

Example A:

Contractor base cost	\$1,000
20% overhead and profit	<u>200</u>
Total	\$1,200

B. See Example B for changes in the Work performed by a Subcontractor under contract with the Contractor, where estimated or actual cost is Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000.00) or less; add to the base cost a sum equal to twenty percent of cost, for the benefit of the Subcontractor. For the benefit of the Contractor; add an additional sum equal to ten percent of the Subcontractor's base cost.

Example B:

Subcontractor base cost	\$1,000
20% Subcontractor overhead and profit	<u>200</u>
Subcontractor Total	\$1,200
10% Contractor overhead and profit on base cost	<u>100</u>
Total	\$1,300

C. See Example C for changes in the Work performed by a Subcontractor, under contract with the Contractor, which exceeds a base cost of Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000) in estimated or actual cost; add to the base cost a sum equal to twenty percent of cost for the benefit of the Subcontractor. For the benefit of the Contractor; add an additional sum equal to ten percent of the first Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000) of the Subcontractor's base cost, plus five percent of the next Ninety Thousand Dollars (\$90,000) of the Subcontractor's base cost, plus three percent of any sum in excess of One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000) of the Subcontractor's base cost.

Example C:

Subcontractor base cost	\$200,000
20% Subcontractor overhead and profit	40,000
Subcontractor Total	\$240,000
10% Contractor overhead and profit on first \$10,000 base cost	1,000
5% on next \$90,000 base cost	4,500
3% on base cost over \$100,000	3,000
Total	\$248,500

D. See Example D for overhead and profit on major equipment such as: switchgear, transformers, air handling units, boilers, etc. For extra equipment purchases by the Contractor or Subcontractors which exceeds a base cost of Ten Thousand dollars (\$10,000) in estimated or actual cost; add to the base cost for the benefit of the Contractor a sum equal to ten percent of the first Ten Thousand dollars (\$10,000) of the vendor's base cost plus five percent of the next Ninety Thousand dollars (\$90,000) of the vendor's base cost, plus three percent of any sum in excess of One Hundred Thousand dollars (\$100,000) of the vendor's base cost. If the equipment is supplied by the Subcontractor, the Contractor is entitled to a maximum of ten (10) percent of the first Ten Thousand dollars (\$10,000) of the base cost.

Example D:

Vendor base cost	\$200,000
10% Contractor or Subcontractor overhead and profit on first \$10,000 base cost	1,000
5% on next \$90,000 base cost	4,500
3% on base cost over \$100,000	<u>3,000</u>
Contractor or Subcontractor Total	\$208,500
10% Contractor overhead and profit on first \$10,000 base cost when equipment	
is supplied by the Subcontractor, no other mark-up allowed	<u>1,000</u>
Total	\$209,500

E. See Example E for overhead and profit on a material only Change Order. For increased material purchases by the Contractor or Subcontractors which exceed a base cost of Ten Thousand dollars (\$10,000) in estimated or actual costs; add to the base cost for the benefit of the Contractor a sum equal to ten percent of the first Ten Thousand dollars (\$10,000) of the supplier's cost plus five percent of the next Ninety Thousand dollars (\$90,000) of the supplier's cost, plus three percent of any sum in excess of One Hundred Thousand dollars (\$100,000) of the supplier's cost. If the material is supplied by the Subcontractor, the Contractor is entitled to a maximum of ten (10) percent of the first Ten Thousand dollars (\$10,000) of the base cost.

Example E:

Example Et	
Material cost (net difference between original contract and revised)	\$200,000
10% Contractor or Subcontractor overhead and profit on first \$10,000 base cost	1,000
5% on next \$90,000 base cost	4,500
3% on base cost over \$100,000	3,000
Contractor or Subcontractor Total	\$208,500
10% Contractor overhead and profit on first \$10,000 base cost when material	
is supplied by the Subcontractor, no other mark-up allowed	<u>1,000</u>
Total	\$209,500

- F. Other than the overhead and profit described in General Conditions Section 7.02A, no further overhead and profit will be allowed for changes to the Work performed by a Subcontractor under Subcontract with the Contactor or for major equipment or material supplier determined to be an affiliate of or controlled by the Contractor. An affiliate is considered any firm or entity in which the Contractor or any individual listed on the Contractor's NYS Vendor Responsibility Questionnaire either owns 5% or more of the shares of, or is one of the five largest shareholders, a director, officer, member, partner or proprietor of said Subcontractor, major equipment or material supplier; a controlled firm is any firm or entity which, in the opinion of the Owner, is controlled by the Contractor or any individual listed on the Contractor's NYS Vendor Responsibility Questionnaire.
 - 1. The Owner, in its sole and exclusive discretion, will determine if a firm or entity is an affiliate of or controlled by the Contractor.
- G. No overhead and profit shall be paid for changes in the Work performed by a Subcontractor not under Subcontract with the Contractor. No overhead and profit shall be paid on the premium portion of overtime pay. Where the changes in the Work involve both an increase and a reduction in similar or related Work, the overhead and profit allowance shall be applied only to the cost of the increase that exceeds the cost of the reduction.
- H. The Owner, in its sole and exclusive discretion, shall require any Contractor or Subcontractor that is issued a Contract pursuant to pricing from a New York State Office (NYS) of General Services (OGS) Centralized Contract held by said Contractor or Subcontractor to provide an itemized change proposal as per the rates for non-trade service labor, equipment, and materials established within aforementioned NYS OGS Centralized Contract. Rates are considered inclusive of overhead and profit and no additional markup will be approved. All other provisions of Article 7 Changes to the Work shall apply.

Section 7.03 - Deduct Change Order

The amount of credit to be allowed by the Contractor to the Owner for a deletion or change which results in a decrease in the Contract amount shall be as determined by the Owner. The credit shall include the overhead and profit allocable to the deleted or changed Work unless the Owner, in its sole and exclusive discretion, determines otherwise.

ARTICLE 8 -- PAYMENT

Section 8.01 - Provision for Payment

A. The Contractor shall complete and submit to the Owner for review and written approval, the detailed Schedule of Values prior to the Contractor's first billing request. It is understood, and the Contractor acknowledges, that the Schedule of Values is an administrative tool to illustrate a format and minimum level of detail required for billing requests, and shall not be considered as delineating the Contractor's scope of Work. The Owner may require the Contractor to revise its Schedule of Values at no cost to the Owner and to provide a greater level of detail. Further, the Owner reserves the right to accept only those cost distributions which, in the Owner's opinion, are reasonable, equitably balanced and correspond to the estimated quantities in or for the Contract Documents. Owner's approval of the Schedule of Values can be provided only by an authorized officer of Owner or authorized employee of Owner's Project Controls Unit.

The Contractor, at its own expense, shall take all actions necessary to fully comply with the requirements of the Statewide Utilization Management Plan ("SUMP") of the NYS Contract System. Contractor shall require all Subcontractors to comply with the requirements of SUMP and the NYS Contract System. These requirements include, but are not limited to, the Contractor's timely payment

to all Subcontractors and timely input into the NYS Contract System of information, including but not limited to, information regarding Subcontractor payments and compliance with Contract requirements, including but not limited to Contract requirements for participation of Minority and Women Owned Business Enterprises in the performance of the Contract.

- B. The Owner shall not approve any billing request until:
 - 1. the Contractor is in full compliance with SUMP and the NYS Contract System; and
 - 2. the Owner approves the Schedule of Values in writing.
- C. To request a partial or full payment for partial or full performance of the Contract, Contractor shall obtain from the Owner a Contractor's billing request. The Contractor shall complete the billing request by entering in each line item thereof the percentage of completion of that item as of the end of the preceding business month and deliver the completed billing request to the Owner. The Owner shall review the billing request and make any changes which the Owner, in its sole and exclusive discretion, determines to be necessary so that the percentage of completion for each line item in the billing request accurately reflects the Contractor's performance of the Contract as of the end of the preceding business month. The Owner then delivers the Owner's adjusted version of the billing request to the Contractor for execution by the Contractor of the certifications of the Contractor required for partial or full payment for partial or full performance of the Contract. The Contractor delivers the executed billing request to the Owner. Any partial payment request under the Contract, unless the Owner in writing signed by an authorized officer permits more frequent requests.
- D. The Owner may make a partial payment to the Contractor for partial performance of the Contract on the basis of an Application for Payment for the Work performed during the preceding business month. The Owner shall retain five percent (5%) of the amount of each said Application for Payment. The Owner may make full payment to the Contractor for full performance of the Contract on the basis of an Application for Payment. Each Application for Payment shall be accompanied by all documentation required by law, including but not limited to, certified payrolls and all documentation required by the Owner, including but not limited to documentation to establish compliance with NYS Labor Law and NYS Lien Law. The Owner may require any documentation the Owner determines is necessary or useful to establish that the Contractor's performance of the Work complies with the requirements of the Contract and applicable law.
- E. Any partial payment made shall not be construed as a waiver of the right of the Owner to require the fulfillment of all the terms of the Contract. No payment, either partial or full, by the Owner to the Contractor shall waive or excuse any failure by the Contractor to comply fully with the Contract Documents. No payment will be made for Work not performed.
- F. In preparing the Contractor's billing request, material delivered to the Site and properly stored and secured at the Site and material approved to be stored off-site under such conditions as the Owner shall prescribe in accordance with paragraph G of this General Conditions Section 8.01, may be taken in to consideration. All costs related to the storage of materials are the sole responsibility of the Contractor.
- G. The Owner will provide an agreement for materials stored off-site and specific forms that the Contractor shall complete, execute, and submit with any billing request for such material. Required information includes, but is not limited to: a general description of the material; a detailed list of the materials; a pre-approved storage area; segregation and identification of the material; insurance covering full value against all risks of loss or damage, with non-cancellation provision; immediate replacement agreement in event of loss or damage; agreement to pay the expense of all inspections of the material; ownership provisions; delivery guarantee; project completion statement; bill of sale, releases of liens, and

inventory. The Owner, in its sole and exclusive discretion, may require the Contractor to certify in the agreement for materials stored off-site that the materials comply with one or more requirements of the Contract or to provide documentary proof acceptable to the Owner that the materials comply with one or more requirements of the Contract.

- H. All monthly billing requests submitted by the Contractor shall only be in the form and manner approved by the Owner. The Contractor shall furnish such affidavits, vouchers, receipts, and other documentation as to delivery and payment for materials, payment of Subcontractors, and payment of prevailing rate of wage and supplements required by NYS Labor Law as the Owner requires to substantiate each and every billing request. Contractor shall furnish any other documentation required by Owner to establish compliance with one or more requirements of the Contract or any statute or regulation, including but not limited to the certification required by General Conditions Section 16.02 and proof of compliance with NYS Labor Law Section 220-h (See General Conditions Section 16.03 H).
- I. All payments received by the Contractor under or in connection with the Contract are trust funds under Article 3-A of the NYS Lien Law and shall be applied by the Contractor in accordance with such law.

Section 8.02 - Substantial Completion and Reduction of Retainage

- A. After the Owner has determined Substantial Completion of the Work, as evidenced by the executed Notice of Substantial Completion, the Owner shall pay to the Contractor the balance due the Contractor pursuant to the Contract less:
 - 1. Two (2) times the value of any remaining items of Work to be completed or corrected as determined in accordance with paragraph B. of this General Conditions Section 8.02.
 - 2. An amount necessary to satisfy any and all claims, liens, or judgments by the Owner or third parties against the Contractor.
- B. After the Owner has determined Substantial Completion of the Work, as evidenced by the executed Notice of Substantial Completion, the Contractor shall submit to the Owner, for Owner's written approval, a detailed estimate of the value of the known remaining items of Work as set forth by the Owner and a schedule for achieving Physical Completion and Completion and Acceptance of the Work. The Owner shall review that estimate and schedule and:
 - 1. Direct the Contractor to revise and resubmit the estimate, the schedule or both; or
 - 2. Approve the estimate and schedule.

The Owner, at its discretion, may value the items of Work to be completed or corrected assuming such items will be completed or corrected by an entity other than the Contractor and may include the cost of obtaining regulatory or other third-party approval of one or more items of Work.

- C. As the remaining items of Work are completed and accepted by the Owner, the Owner shall pay the appropriate amount pursuant to a duly completed and submitted Application for Payment.
- D. The list of remaining Work items may be expanded to include additional items of corrective or completion Work until Completion and Acceptance by the Owner. Appropriate payments may be withheld to cover the value of these items pursuant to this General Conditions Section 8.02.
- E. The Contractor may request from the Owner a reduction of retainage when a phase of the Work is accepted by the Owner but Owner is not obligated to grant such request.

- F. The Application for Payment for the first payment of reduction of retainage shall be accompanied by:
 - 1. A release by the Contractor to the Owner of all Claims by and all liability to the Contractor for all items in connection with the Work and for every act and neglect of the Owner and others relating to or arising out of the Work; or
 - 2. A release by the Contractor to the Owner of all Claims by and all liability to the Contractor for all items in connection with the Work and for every act and neglect of the Owner and others relating to or arising out of the Work, excepting and reserving to the Contractor those Claims specified by the Contractor in the release. Owner's acceptance of a release containing Claims specified by and reserved to the Contractor does not waive any rights of the Owner arising under the Contract or any other source with respect to such Claims.

The requirement of a release may be waived only in writing and only by the Owner's Office of Counsel. No payment, final or otherwise, shall operate to release the Contractor or the Contractor's sureties from any obligations under this Contract or the Performance or Payment bonds.

Section 8.03 - Release and Consent of Surety

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Contract Documents to the contrary, reduction of retainage and/or the final Application for Payment shall not become due until the Contractor submits to the Owner a General Release from the Contractor and, if the Owner requests, a Consent of Surety to said payment in form and content acceptable to the Owner. No payment, final or otherwise, shall operate to release the Contractor or the Contractor's sureties from any obligations under this Contract or the Performance or Payment bonds.

Section 8.04 - Liens

- A. Upon the Owner's receipt of a notice of public improvement lien, all, or a portion, of the amounts due in the current and subsequent payments due the Contractor shall be withheld until a sum which shall be one and one-half (1 1/2) times the amount stated to be due in the notice of public improvement lien shall have been withheld from payments due the Contractor. This sum shall be withheld until the lien is discharged. The Contractor shall promptly discharge any notice of public improvement lien by filing a bond pursuant to NYS Lien Law Section 21, subdivision 5. If any Subcontractor should file a notice of lien against the property upon which the Project is located, such lien is void and Contractor, at its expense shall obtain and file an order of the Supreme Court of the State of New York cancelling such lien. If Contractor shall fail to obtain such order or if Contractor shall file a notice of lien against the property upon which the Project is located, the Owner may obtain an order of the Supreme Court of the State of New York cancelling such lien and deduct the attorney's fees and other costs incurred in obtaining and filing such order from any amount due the Contractor.
- B. Upon receipt of any other lien, levy, notice to withhold, restraining notice, court or administrative order or any other instrument allowed by law and directing the Owner to withhold payments due Contractor, the Owner will withhold the sum which Owner determines is necessary to withhold to comply with the applicable law. This sum shall be withheld until the instrument is, in the Owner's sole and exclusive discretion, appropriately satisfied or discharged.

Section 8.05 - Withholding of Payments

A. The Owner may withhold from the Contractor any part of any payment as may, in the judgment of the Owner, be necessary:

- 1. To ensure payment of just claims of any natural person or entity supplying labor, materials, or equipment for the Work.
- 2. To protect the Owner from loss due to defective Work not remedied.
- 3. To protect the Owner, Client, or any Consultant from loss due to failure to defend, loss due to injury to persons or damage to the Work or property of Other Contractors, Subcontractors or others caused by the act or neglect of the Contractor or Subcontractors.
- 4. To ensure payment of fines and penalties, that may be imposed on the Contractor pursuant to the provisions of the Contract.
- 5. To ensure payment of fines, penalties, or damages that may be imposed on the Contractor pursuant to General Conditions Article 20 Opportunity Programs.
- 6. To protect and make whole the Owner from a Contractor's non-compliance to the requirements set forth in General Conditions Article 14 Protection of Persons and Property and Article 15 Insurance and Bonds.
- 7. To protect the Owner and Client from damage caused or claimed to have been caused directly or indirectly by the failure of the Contractor to perform the Work of the Contract in strict accordance with the Contract Documents.
- B. The Owner shall have the right to apply any such amounts so withheld in such a manner as the Owner may deem proper to satisfy said claims, fines, and penalties, or to secure said protection. Said application of the money shall be deemed payments for the account of the Contractor.

Section 8.06 - Late Payment

Timeliness of payment and any interest to be paid to the Contractor for late payment is governed by Section 2880 of the NYS Public Authorities Law. Timely payment by the Contractor to the Subcontractor is governed by Section 139-f of the NYS State Finance Law which requires payment by the Contractor to the Subcontractor within seven (7) calendar days of receipt of payment from the Owner.

Section 8.07 – False Representations/Information

- A. False Representations, information, or data submitted on or with Applications for Payment may result in one or more of the following actions:
 - 1. Termination of the Contract for cause;
 - 2. Disapproval of future bids or contracts or subcontracts;
 - 3. Withholding of final payment on the Contract; and
 - 4. Civil and/or criminal prosecution (See General Conditions Sections 7.01 E and 10.03 F).
- B. The provisions of this General Conditions Section 8.07 are solely for the benefit of the Owner, and any action or non-action hereunder by the Owner shall not give rise to any liability on the part of the Owner.

ARTICLE 9 -- TIME OF COMPLETION

Section 9.01 - Substantial Completion

- A. The Contractor shall commence performance of the Work at the time stated in the Notice to Proceed and the Contractor shall achieve Substantial Completion no later than the date for Substantial Completion specified in the Contract. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, a schedule submitted by the Contractor showing Substantial Completion earlier than that specified in the Contract shall not entitle the Contractor to any additional cost in the event the earlier date is not realized.
- B. It is hereby understood and mutually agreed, by and between the Contractor and the Owner, that Substantial Completion of the Work on or before the date for Substantial Completion specified in the Contract, is an essential condition of the Contract.
- C. The Contractor agrees that the Work shall be prosecuted regularly, diligently, and cooperatively with Other Contractors at such rate of progress as shall ensure Substantial Completion thereof within the time specified. It is expressly understood and agreed, by and between the Contractor and the Owner, that the time to achieve Substantial Completion allowed herein is reasonable.
- D. It is further agreed that time is of the essence for each and every portion of the Work. In any instance in which additional time is allowed for Substantial Completion of the Work, the new date of Substantial Completion established by said extension shall be of the essence. The Contractor shall not be charged with liquidated damages or any excess cost of the Owner or Client if the Owner determines in its sole and exclusive discretion that the Contractor is without fault and that the delay in Substantial Completion of the Work is due:
 - 1. To any preference, priority or allocation order duly issued by the Government of the United States or the State of New York.
 - 2. To an unforeseeable cause beyond the control and without the fault of, or negligence of the Contractor, and approved by the Owner, including, but not limited to, acts of God or of public enemy, acts of the Owner, fires, epidemics, quarantine, restrictions, strikes, freight embargoes and unusually severe weather.
 - 3. To any delays of Subcontractors or suppliers occasioned by any of the causes specified in Subsections 1 and 2 of this paragraph provided the Contractor shall, within fifteen (15) calendar days from the beginning of any such delay, notify the Owner in writing of the causes of the delay. Notice shall be delivered to the Owner as specified in General Conditions Section 10.03 C.
- E. The date of Substantial Completion may be modified only by a Change Order.
- F. If the Contractor shall neglect, fail, or refuse to achieve Substantial Completion by the date specified, or any proper extension thereof granted by the Owner, the Contractor agrees to pay to the Owner for loss of beneficial use of the Work of the Contract an amount specified in the Contract, not as a penalty, but as liquidated damages, for each and every calendar day thereafter that the Contractor does not achieve Substantial Completion.
- G. If the Contractor shall abandon performance of the Work before achieving Substantial Completion, the Contractor agrees to pay to the Owner for loss of beneficial use of the Work of the Contract an amount specified in the Contract, not as a penalty, but as liquidated damages, for each and every calendar day

after both the date of abandonment and the date specified for Substantial Completion that the Work has not achieved Substantial Completion. The obligation of the Contractor to pay liquidated damages as provided in this paragraph shall survive the termination of the Contract pursuant to General Conditions Section 11.01.

- H. If the Owner terminates the Contract before the Contractor achieves Substantial Completion, the Contractor agrees to pay to the Owner for loss of beneficial use of the Work of the Contract an amount specified in the Contract, not as a penalty, but as liquidated damages, for each and every calendar day after both the date of termination of the Contract and the date specified for Substantial Completion that the Work has not achieved Substantial Completion. The obligation of the Contractor to pay liquidated damages as provided in this paragraph shall survive the termination of the Contract pursuant to General Conditions Section 11.01.
- I. Said amount of liquidated damages is agreed upon by and between the Contractor and the Owner because of the impracticability and extreme difficulty of fixing and ascertaining the actual damages which the Owner would sustain for loss of beneficial use of the Work of the Contract in the event of delay in Substantial Completion, abandonment of the Work by the Contractor or termination of the Contract pursuant to General Conditions Section 11.01, and said amount is agreed to be the amount of damages sustained by the Owner and said amount may be retained from time to time by the Owner.
- J. The foregoing liquidated damages are intended to compensate the Owner only for the loss of beneficial use of the Work of the Contract. In addition, the Contractor shall be liable to the Owner and the Client, to the fullest extent permitted by law, for whatever actual damages (other than actual loss of beneficial use) the Owner or Client may incur as a result of any actions or inactions of the Contractor or its Subcontractors including, without limitation, interest expense and carrying costs, liabilities to Other Contractors working on the Project or other third parties, job extension costs, and other losses incurred by the Owner or Client. The provisions of this paragraph are for the exclusive use of the Owner and Client, and shall not accrue to Other Contractors or other third parties.
- K. The Owner will issue the Notice of Substantial Completion after the Owner, in its sole and exclusive discretion, has determined that Substantial Completion of the Work has occurred.

Section 9.02 – Physical Completion and Completion and Acceptance

- A. After the Owner has issued the Notice of Substantial Completion, the Contractor shall comply with General Conditions Section 8.02 B. Compliance with General Conditions Section 8.02 B is a condition precedent to the payment described in General Conditions Section 8.02 A. Once the Owner approves the detailed estimate of the value of the known remaining items of Work and the schedule for achieving Physical Completion and Completion and Acceptance, the Contractor shall achieve Physical Completion and Completion and Acceptance no later than the dates for each in the approved schedule. The Owner and Contractor agree that achieving Physical Completion and Completion and Acceptance no later than the dates for each in the approved schedule is an essential condition of the Contract and that time is of the essence.
- B. The Contractor agrees that after achieving Substantial Completion, Contractor shall continue to prosecute the remaining items of Work regularly, diligently, and cooperatively with Other Contractors. Contractor further agrees that once the schedule for achieving Physical Completion and Completion and Acceptance is approved, the Contractor shall prosecute the remaining items of Work regularly, diligently, and cooperatively with Other Contractors at such a rate of progress as shall ensure the achieving of Physical Completion and Completion and Acceptance by the dates for each in the approved schedule.

- C. The list of remaining Work items may be expanded to include additional items of corrective or completion Work until Completion and Acceptance by the Owner. Appropriate payments may be withheld to cover the value of these items pursuant to General Conditions Section 8.02.
- D. The Owner will issue the Notice of Physical Completion after the Owner, in its sole and exclusive discretion, has determined that Physical Completion of the Work has occurred.
- E. The Owner will issue the Notice of Completion and Acceptance after the Owner, in its sole and exclusive discretion, has determined that Completion and Acceptance of the Work has occurred. Completion and Acceptance follows or may be concurrent with Physical Completion.

ARTICLE 10 -- CLAIMS AND DISPUTES

Section 10.01 - Claim for Extra Work

- A. If the Contractor claims that:
 - 1. a decision of, or direction or response to the Contractor by, the Owner, Consultant, or Owner Representative;
 - 2. a condition; or
 - 3. any action or omission of the Owner

is contrary to the terms and provisions of the Contract and will require the Contractor to perform Extra Work, Contractor shall file a written notice of Claim in strict accordance with General Conditions Section 10.03. No Claim for Extra Work shall be allowed unless the Contractor files a written notice of Claim that complies strictly with the requirements of General Conditions Sections 10.01 and 10.03. The notice of Claim shall identify the decision, direction, response, action, omission, or condition from which the Claim arises. The Contractor shall also strictly comply with all other requirements of General Conditions Sections 10.01 and 10.03.

- B. If the Owner determines the decision, response, direction, action, omission, or condition does not require the performance of Extra Work, the Owner shall issue a Disputed Work Directive. The Contractor, upon receipt of the Disputed Work Directive shall immediately and diligently proceed with the Work described in the Disputed Work Directive in accordance with all instructions of the Owner. Contractor's failure to proceed immediately and diligently with any Disputed Work Directive issued by the Owner, unless the Owner in writing directs otherwise, shall be a material breach of the Contract. Contractor's performance of the Work described in and pursuant to the Disputed Work Directive shall not be a waiver of the Contractor's Claim for Extra Work provided the Contractor strictly complies with all requirements of General Conditions Sections 10.01 and 10.03. The Owner may issue a Disputed Work Directive for a decision, response, direction, action, omission, or condition before the Contractor files a notice of Claim arising from such decision, response, direction, action, omission, or condition; if the Owner does so, the Contractor shall still file a notice of Claim in strict compliance with General Conditions Section 10.03 and shall strictly comply with all requirements of General Conditions Sections 10.01 and 10.03.
- C. The Contractor's failure to comply strictly with any or all parts of General Conditions Sections 10.01 and 10.03 shall be deemed to be:

- 1. a conclusive and binding determination on the part of the Contractor that the decision, response, direction, action, omission, or condition does not involve Extra Work; and
- 2. a waiver by the Contractor of all Claims for additional compensation or damages as a result of the decision, response, direction, action, omission, or condition.

Section 10.02 - Claim for Additional Cost

- A. If the Contractor wishes to make a Claim for an increase in the cost to perform the Work, including but not limited to a Claim alleging breach of the Contract by Owner, the Contractor shall file a written notice of Claim strictly in accordance with General Conditions Section 10.03. The notice of Claim shall identify the condition or event from which the Claim arises. No Claim for an increase in the cost to perform the Work of the Contract shall be allowed unless the Contractor files a notice of Claim that complies strictly with the requirements of General Conditions Section 10.02 and 10.03. Contractor shall also strictly comply with all other requirements of General Conditions Sections 10.02 and 10.03. The Owner shall determine the validity of the Contractor's contention. Pending the decision of the Owner, the Contractor shall proceed with the diligent and prompt performance of the Work. Denial of additional costs shall not entitle the Contractor to additional time to achieve Substantial Completion. Nothing in this paragraph waives any of Owner's rights under the Contract.
- B. The Contractor's failure to comply strictly with any or all parts of General Conditions Sections 10.02 and 10.03 shall be deemed to be:
 - 1. a conclusive and binding determination on the part of the Contractor that the event or condition does not increase the cost to perform the Work of the Contract; and
 - 2. a waiver by the Contractor of all Claims for additional compensation or damages as a result of the event or condition.

Section 10.03 - Notice of Claim and Substantiation

- A. A written notice of Claim shall be delivered concurrently to the Owner's Representative and Project Controls Unit by the Contractor within fifteen (15) calendar days after occurrence of the event, decision, direction, response, action, or omission giving rise to such Claim or within fifteen (15) calendar days after the Contractor first recognizes the condition giving rise to the Claim, whichever is earlier. The burden of proving the Owner's receipt of the notice of Claim shall be the Contractor's responsibility.
- B. Within ninety (90) calendar days of the initial notice of Claim, the Contractor shall substantiate the Claim in writing and document the nature of the Claim and provide supporting cost data and documentation, Contractor's original cost estimate, Project CPM schedule demonstrating alleged impact of and correlation to the Claim subject matter and a Contractor affidavit stating the following:
 - "I hereby certify that the value assigned the work, labor, material and equipment that comprise the Claim, represents the actual value of said work, labor, material and equipment pursuant to the Contract between the undersigned and the Dormitory Authority."
 - 1. The Contractor shall provide, every thirty (30) calendar days thereafter for as long as such damages are incurred, written, verified statements of the details and the amounts of such damages, together with documentary evidence of such damages.

- 2. Contractor shall identify the final written, verified statement for each Claim submitted pursuant to this paragraph.
- 3. Each written, verified statement shall be delivered as set forth in paragraph C of this General Conditions Section 10.03.
- C. The Contractor shall provide the Owner's Representative one (1) paper copy of the documented Claim and mail two (2) paper copies of the documented Claim to:

Dormitory Authority Project Controls Unit 515 Broadway Albany, NY 12207-2964

- D. The Owner, at any time after the Contractor files a notice of Claim, may request additional documentation to determine the validity of the Contractor's contention and the Contractor shall submit such additional documentation within the time period specified by the Owner in the Owner's request for additional documentation. The Owner, at any time after the Contractor files a notice of Claim, may request an electronic copy of the documented Claim and the Contractor shall submit such a copy within ten calendar days.
- E. The value of any Claim, if allowed, shall be determined by the methods described in General Conditions Article 7 Changes in the Work. No Claim shall be allowed unless and until a Change Order allowing the Claim is executed and delivered by the Owner to the Contractor; payment of an allowed Claim may be made only through an Application for Payment.
- F. Any information representing the actual value of the labor performed, equipment utilized and material Furnished contained in the Claim that constitutes False Representation may subject the Contractor or Subcontractor to criminal charges, including NYS Penal Law Sections 175.35 (Offering a False Instrument for Filing) and 210.40 (False Statement) and/or Title 18 U.S.C. Sections 1001 (Fraudulent and False Statements) and/or termination of the Contract for cause and civil prosecution under Article XIII of the NYS State Finance Law the New York False Claims Act.

Section 10.04 - No Damages for Delay

- A. No Claims for increased costs, charges, expenses, or damages of any kind shall be made by the Contractor against the Owner for any delays or hindrances from any cause whatsoever; provided that the Owner, in the Owner's sole and exclusive discretion, may compensate the Contractor for any said delays or hindrances by extending the date for achieving Substantial Completion specified in the Contract. No payment for increased cost, charge, expense, or damage of any kind shall act as a waiver of the Owner's right, in its sole and exclusive discretion, to compensate the Contractor for any delays or hindrances from any cause whatsoever solely by extending the date for achieving Substantial Completion specified in the Contract.
- B. If the Contractor claims that a delay or hindrance entitles the Contractor to additional time to achieve Substantial Completion, the Contractor shall submit a written request to the Owner for such additional time within fifteen (15) calendar days of the event or condition giving rise to the request. The written request shall identify the event or condition causing the alleged delay or hindrance giving rise to the request and show that the Contractor is not responsible for the delay or hindrance or for any concurrent delay. The Contractor shall submit with the request an updated Project CPM schedule that shows the impact of the event or condition on the Project CPM schedule. The request and updated Project CPM

schedule shall be submitted to the Owner in accordance with General Conditions Section 10.03 C. The Owner may request additional documentation to decide the Contractor's request and the Contractor shall submit such additional documentation within the time period specified by Owner in the Owner's request for additional documentation. Failure of the Owner to respond in writing to a written request for additional time within thirty (30) calendar days shall be deemed a denial of the request unless the Owner extends the period to respond to the written request for additional time by written notice to the Contractor. While the Owner is considering the Contractor's request, the Contractor shall proceed with the diligent and prompt performance of the Work. Denial of additional time shall not entitle the Contractor to additional costs.

- C. The Contractor's failure to comply strictly with any or all parts of General Conditions Sections 10.03 and 10.04 shall be deemed to be:
 - 1. a conclusive and binding determination on the part of the Contractor that the event or condition causing the alleged delay or hindrance does not require additional time to achieve Substantial Completion; and
 - 2. a waiver by the Contractor of all Claims for additional time to achieve Substantial Completion as a result of the event or condition causing alleged delay or hindrance.

Section 10.05 - Continuance of the Work

Unless the Owner, in writing, permits otherwise, the Contractor shall proceed diligently and promptly with the performance of the Work while the Owner considers a notice of Claim filed pursuant to:

- A. General Conditions Sections 7.01D and 10.03;
- B. General Conditions Sections 10.01 and 10.03; or
- C. General Conditions Sections 10.02 and 10.03;

or while the Owner considers a request for additional time to achieve Substantial Completion filed pursuant to General Conditions Sections 10.03 and 10.04 or while the Owner considers any other Claim.

Section 10.06 - Resolution of Claim

- A. Any resolution or determination by the Owner of a Claim or a request for additional time to achieve Substantial Completion shall be final, binding and conclusive on the Contractor unless within fifteen (15) calendar days after receiving notice of the Owner's resolution, the Contractor files a written notice with the Owner that the Contractor reserves the Contractor's rights under the Contract in connection with the matters covered by said resolution or determination. The written notice shall be filed in strict accordance with General Conditions Sections 10.03 C and 10.06. The Contractor's failure to comply strictly with these requirements shall be deemed to be a waiver by the Contractor of all Claims for additional compensation or damages included in the Claim and the request for additional time to achieve Substantial Completion.
- B. After any resolution or determination by the Owner of a Claim or a request for additional time to achieve Substantial Completion, the Contractor shall proceed diligently and promptly with the performance of the Work whether the Contractor files a written notice with the Owner that the Contractor reserves the Contractor's rights under the Contract in connection with the matters covered

- by said resolution or determination or the Contractor does not file such a written notice. Nothing in this paragraph waives any of the Owner's rights under the Contract.
- C. Contractor shall file no action or proceeding in a court challenging any resolution or determination by the Owner of a Claim or a request for additional time to achieve Substantial Completion unless the Contractor shall have strictly complied with all the requirements relating to the giving of notice and of information with respect to such Claim or request for additional time to achieve Substantial Completion in this General Conditions Article 10. Nothing in this paragraph waives any of Owner's rights under the Contract.
- D. Contractor shall file no action or proceeding in court challenging any resolution or determination by the Owner of a Claim or a request for additional time to achieve Substantial Completion until Contractor has achieved Physical Completion of the Work. Contractor agrees that any court action or proceeding challenging any resolution or determination by the Owner of a Claim or a request for additional time to achieve Substantial Completion filed before Contractor has achieved Physical Completion of the Work is premature. Nothing in this paragraph waives any of Owner's rights under the Contract. The Owner, in its sole and exclusive discretion, may modify this paragraph by a Contract Amendment.
- E. At its sole and exclusive discretion, the Owner may resolve any Claim or a request for additional time to achieve Substantial Completion without waiving its rights under the Contract.

ARTICLE 11 – TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION

Section 11.01 – Termination for Cause

- A. In the event that any provision of the Contract is violated by the Contractor or by any Subcontractor, the Owner may serve written notice upon the Contractor and upon the Contractor's surety, if any, of the Owner's intention to declare a Contractor Default (defined in the Performance Bond) and terminate the Contract. Such notice shall contain the reasons for the intention to declare a Contractor Default and terminate the Contract. The Contractor will be allowed an opportunity to show why the Owner should not declare a Contractor Default and why the Contractor's Contract should not be terminated for cause. If the violation shall not cease or arrangements satisfactory to the Owner are not made, the Owner, in writing, may declare a Contractor Default and the Contract shall terminate upon the date specified by the Owner in the declaration of Contractor Default. The Owner shall send the Contractor and the Contractor's surety, if any, written notice of and a copy of the declaration of Contractor Default and termination of the Contract. In the event of a declaration of Contractor Default and termination of the Contract, the Owner has the remedies set forth in the Performance Bond, the Contract, and all remedies at law or in equity.
- B. In the event of any such termination, the Owner may take over the Work and prosecute the Contract to completion and take possession of and may utilize such materials, appliances, and equipment on the Site and necessary or useful in completing the Work. The Contractor and Contractor's surety shall be liable to the Owner for all costs incurred by the Owner.
- C. In the event the termination for cause is determined to be improper, the termination shall be deemed a termination pursuant to General Conditions Section 11.02 Termination for Convenience of Owner.

Section 11.02 - Termination for Convenience of Owner

A. The Owner, at any time, may terminate the Contract in whole or in part. Any such termination shall be effected by delivering to the Contractor a written notice of termination specifying the extent to which

performance of Work under the Contract is terminated and the date upon which the termination becomes effective. Upon receipt of the notice of termination, the Contractor shall act promptly to minimize the expenses resulting from the termination.

- B. The Owner shall pay the Contractor for Work of the Contract performed by the Contractor and accepted by the Owner for the period extending from the end of the period covered by the last approved Application for Payment up to the effective date of the termination, an amount determined in accordance with General Conditions Article 7 Changes in the Work. In no event shall the Contractor be entitled to compensation in excess of the total consideration of the Contract. In no event shall Contractor be entitled to overhead or profit on the Work not performed.
- C. In the event of such termination the Owner may take over the Work and prosecute the Contract to completion and may take possession of and may utilize such materials, appliances, and equipment on the Site and necessary or useful in completing the Work.

Section 11.03 - Owner's Right to do Work

The Owner at any time may notify the Contractor that the Owner will have the Work of the Contract or any part thereof, performed by others, without terminating the Contract and without prejudice to any other right the Owner may have. The Owner may recover any and all costs related to such Work and deduct the value of such Work from the Contract amount.

Section 11.04 - Suspension of Work

- A. The Owner may order the Contractor in writing to suspend, delay or interrupt performance of all or any part of the Work for a reasonable period of time as the Owner may determine. The order shall contain the reason or reasons for issuance which may include, but is not limited to, latent field conditions, substantial program revisions, acquisition of rights of way or real property, financial crisis, labor disputes, civil unrest, expired insurance, court order or acts of God.
- B. Upon receipt of a suspension order, the Contractor shall, as soon as practicable, cease performance of the Work as ordered and take immediate affirmative measures to protect such Work from loss or damage.
- C. The Contractor specifically agrees that such suspension, interruption, or delay of the performance of the Work shall not increase the cost of performance of the Work. However, to the extent that the suspension of the Work is through no fault of the Contractor, the Owner may consider requests for compensation provided that the justification is submitted in accordance with General Conditions Article 10 Claims and Disputes.
- D. The date of Substantial Completion of the Work may be extended by Change Order to compensate the Contractor for the time lost by the suspension, interruption, or delay.
- E. The Owner may terminate the suspension, interruption, or delay of the performance of the Work by a written direction to the Contractor or may invoke any other provision of General Conditions Article 11 Termination or Suspension.

Section 11.05 - Stop Work

A. Should the Contractor fail to comply with the terms of the Contract, including but not limited to the insurance requirements of the Contract, the Owner, at any time, by written order to the Contractor, can

require the Contractor to stop all, or any part, of the Work called for by the Contract. The order shall be specifically identified as a Stop Work Order. Upon receipt of the order, the Contractor shall immediately comply with its terms and take reasonable steps to protect the Work covered by the order during the period of work stoppage. The Owner, at its option shall either:

- 1. Cancel the Stop Work Order after the Contractor has successfully remedied the cause of the Stop Work Order.
- 2. Invoke any other provision of General Conditions Article 11 Termination or Suspension.
- B. The Contractor shall not be entitled to an increase in time or costs as a result of the Stop Work Order. Owner may, in its sole discretion, consider requests for an increase in time or costs provided that the Contractor complies with General Conditions Article 10 Claims and Disputes.

ARTICLE 12 -- BENEFICIAL OCCUPANCY

Section 12.01 - Occupancy Prior to Substantial Completion

- A. If, before Substantial Completion, the Owner desires Beneficial Occupancy of any part of the Work, the Owner shall have the right to do so, and the Contractor shall in no way interfere with or object to Beneficial Occupancy. Payment for operational costs of Project systems for the part of the Work subject to Beneficial Occupancy from the time of Beneficial Occupancy to Substantial Completion shall be borne by the Owner, unless otherwise specified by the Contract.
- B. Said Beneficial Occupancy (1) shall not constitute acceptance of space, systems, materials, or elements of the Work and (2) shall not affect the obligations of the Contractor for Work which is not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract or other obligations of the Contractor under the Contract.

The Contractor shall continue the performance of the Work in a manner that shall not unreasonably interfere with said use, occupancy, and operation by the Owner.

ARTICLE 13 -- INSPECTION AND ACCEPTANCE

Section 13.01 - Access to the Work

The Owner shall at all times have access to the Work and the Contractor shall provide proper facilities for access. If the Contractor schedules or performs any Work on a day or at a time which results in a Dormitory Authority employee assigned to the Project receiving overtime compensation or an additional charge to the Dormitory Authority from an Other Contractor for such Work, the Dormitory Authority, in its sole and exclusive discretion, may deduct such overtime compensation and such additional charge from moneys due the Contractor. If the Contractor intends to schedule any Work, including but not limited to any testing or inspection, outside the regular operating hours for the Project, the Contractor must provide the Owner and any Other Contractor involved in such Work at least fifteen (15) calendar days written notice of the scheduled date for such Work. The Owner, in its sole and exclusive discretion, may reduce the required number of days of notice for one or more occasions by written notice to the Contractor and to any involved Other Contractors.

Section 13.02 - Notice for Testing and Inspection

If the Contract Documents, the Owner's instructions, laws, rules, ordinances, or regulations require that any Work be inspected or tested, the Contractor shall give the Owner a minimum of five (5) calendar days,

unless otherwise specified, written notice of readiness of the Work for inspection or testing and the date fixed for said inspection or testing.

Section 13.03 - Reexamination of Work

Reexamination of any part of the Work may be ordered by the Owner, and if so ordered the Work shall be uncovered by the Contractor. If said Work is found to be in accordance with the Contract, the Owner shall pay the cost of reexamination. If said Work is not found to be in accordance with the Contract, the Contractor shall pay the cost of reexamination and replacement.

Section 13.04 - Inspection of Work

All Work, all materials whether incorporated in the Work or not incorporated in the Work, all processes of manufacture, and all methods of construction shall be, at all times and places, subject to the inspection of the Owner, and the Owner shall be the final judge of the quality and suitability of the Work, materials, processes of manufacture, and methods of construction for the purposes for which said Work, materials, processes of manufacture, and methods of construction are used. Any Work not approved by the Owner shall be reconstructed, made good, replaced, or corrected immediately by the Contractor including all work of Other Contractors destroyed or damaged by said removal or replacement. Rejected material shall be removed immediately from the Site. Acceptance of material and workmanship by the Owner shall not relieve the Contractor from the Contractor's obligation to replace all Work that is not in full compliance with the Contract.

Section 13.05 - Defective or Damaged Work

If, in the opinion of the Owner, it is undesirable to replace any defective or damaged materials or to reconstruct or correct any portion of the Work damaged or not performed in accordance with the Contract Documents, the Contract amount shall be reduced by an amount, which in the judgment of the Owner, shall be deemed equitable.

Section 13.06 – Testing of Work

All materials and equipment used in the Work shall be subject to testing in accordance with accepted standards to establish conformance with the Contract Documents and suitability for intended use or as directed by the Owner. Any Work covered or concealed without the approval or consent of the Owner, shall be uncovered for examination. No testing by the Owner or by a testing laboratory on behalf of the Owner relieves the Contractor of the responsibility to maintain quality control of materials, equipment, and installation to conform to the requirements of the Contract Documents. The Owner may order additional testing for any test results below specified minimums, above specified maximums or otherwise unacceptable. Additional cost for testing, professional services and any other expenses related to the additional testing shall be at the Contractor's expense. The Owner may deduct such costs from moneys due the Contractor.

Section 13.07 - Final Completion

No previous inspection shall relieve the Contractor of the obligation to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract. No payment, either partial or full, by the Owner to the Contractor shall excuse any failure by the Contractor to comply fully with the Contract Documents. The Contractor shall remedy all defects and deficiencies at the Contractor's expense, paying the cost of any damage to other Work, the work of Other Contractors and the property of the Owner or Client. No Work is completed and accepted until

the Owner issues the Notice of Completion and Acceptance. Completion and Acceptance is limited to the Work described in the Notice of Completion and Acceptance.

Section 13.08 - Guarantee

The Contractor shall, in all respects, guarantee the Work to the Owner and be responsible for all material, equipment, and workmanship of the Work. The Contractor shall forthwith repair, replace or remedy in a manner approved by the Owner, at the Contractor's expense, any material, equipment, workmanship, or other part of the Work found by the Owner to be defective or otherwise faulty and not in compliance with the Contract Documents, which defect or fault appears during the minimum period of one (1) year, or such longer period as may be prescribed by the Contract, from the date of Substantial Completion determined by the Owner. For items of Work performed after the date of Substantial Completion, the minimum period of one (1) year in the preceding sentence shall begin with the date of Physical Completion. The Contractor shall also pay for any damage to the Work, any damage to the work of Other Contractors and any damage to the property of the Owner or Client resulting from said defect or fault.

ARTICLE 14 -- PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY

Section 14.01 – Site Safety and Protection

- A. The Contractor and each Subcontractor shall comply with all applicable rules, regulations, codes, and bulletins of the New York State Department of Labor and to the standards imposed under the Federal Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, as amended. The Contractor and each Subcontractor shall comply with all Client safety requirements. The Contractor and each Subcontractor shall comply with all City of New York safety requirements for Projects within the City of New York constructed in accordance with the Building Code of the City of New York.
- B. The Contractor and each Subcontractor, and only the Contractor and each Subcontractor, shall be responsible for the initiation, maintenance and supervision of safety precautions and programs in connection with the Work and the Contractor shall require each Subcontractor to initiate, maintain and supervise its own safety precautions and programs for any portion of the Work for which the Subcontractor is responsible and to generate safety reports for days when safety inspections occur. The Contractor shall prepare and submit to the Owner a written safety plan for the Site showing how all safety requirements of applicable law and the Contract will be implemented for the duration of the Contract. The Contractor shall designate a responsible person at the Site whose duties shall include maintaining site safety pursuant to OSHA and any other applicable requirement, conducting weekly tool box meetings with its workers, implementing the Site safety plan and providing the Owner with a copy of such meeting minutes.
- C. The Owner shall provide the Contractor with copies of the Owner's safety orientation booklet. The Contractor shall provide a copy to each of its workers and to each worker of its Subcontractors prior to each worker starting Work. The Contractor shall maintain documentation that each worker received a copy of the Owner's safety orientation booklet prior to the worker starting Work.
- D. The Contractor and each Subcontractor shall, at all times: (1) guard the Owner's property from damage or loss in connection with the Work; (2) guard and protect the Contractor's Work and adjacent property; (3) replace or make good any said loss or damage unless said loss or damage is caused directly by the Owner; and (4) guard the lives and health of all persons on and in the vicinity of the Site.
- E. The Contractor and each Subcontractor shall protect all adjoining property and shall repair or replace any said property damaged or destroyed during the progress of the Work.

F. The Contractor is responsible for ensuring that each Subcontractor executes the Subcontractor's obligations in this General Conditions Section 14.01.

Section 14.02 - Protection of Work

- A. The Contractor shall be responsible for the safety, efficiency and adequacy of the Contractor's Work, plant, appliances, and methods, and for any damage which may result from the failure or the improper construction, maintenance, or operation of such Work, plant, appliances, and methods.
- B. The Contractor shall have full responsibility to protect and maintain all materials on and off site in proper condition and forthwith repair, replace and make good any damage thereto until Physical Completion. The Contractor shall maintain an inventory of all materials for the Project that are delivered to the Site or approved for off-site storage facilities pursuant to General Conditions Section 8.01 G. All tools, spare parts, extra materials, attic stock and similar items delivered by the Contractor after Physical Completion shall be in proper condition and Contractor shall forthwith repair, replace, and make good any damage thereto until the later of Completion and Acceptance or the expiration of one year from delivery.
- C. The Contractor shall immediately report any loss, theft, burglary, vandalism, or damage of materials or installed work to the Owner by phone and email as soon as it is discovered. If vandalism, theft, or burglary is suspected as the cause of the loss, the Contractor shall notify Site security personnel and the municipal police, protect the place of the loss until released from protection by the Owner, and insure that no potential evidence relating to the loss is removed from the place of the loss.
- D. Any insurance claim alleging damage to the Work shall be submitted to the Owner pursuant to General Conditions Section 10.03.
- E. A claim for damage to the Work shall include the following in addition to the requirements of General Conditions Section 10.03:
 - 1. A copy of a police report (if applicable).
 - 2. A complete inventory of damages or lost items including:
 - a. Description of each item.
 - b. Purchase date and proof of delivery of each item.
 - c. Supplier from whom purchased.
 - d. Serial number (if applicable).
 - e. Price of each item.
 - 3. The name, address and telephone number of the person who controlled the lost or damaged items immediately before the loss or damage.
 - 4. The name, address and telephone number of the person who discovered the loss or damage.
 - 5. A written description of how the loss or damage occurred.

F. The Owner may deny any claim from the Contractor under this General Conditions Section 14.02 if all items required by this General Conditions Section 14.02 are not provided or are not satisfactory to the Owner.

Section 14.03 - Protection of Lives and Health

- A. The Contractor and each Subcontractor shall be responsible for the safe performance of the Work and their Means and Methods of Construction and for any injury or loss that shall occur from a failure to meet such responsibility.
- B. The Contractor shall, within twenty-four (24) hours, notify the Owner and each Subcontractor shall, within twenty-four (24) hours, notify the Contractor of any incident, accident, illness, or injury that occurred on the Project Site. The Contractor shall follow-up and provide the Owner with a copy of Form C-2, Employers Report of Injury/Illness within twenty-four (24) hours of any incident, accident, illness, or injury, a copy of the recorded OSHA Log and any and all reports and statements pertaining to such incident, accident, illness, or injury.
- C. The Contractor and each Subcontractor shall maintain a record of all cases of death, illness or injury requiring medical attention, hospitalization, or causing loss of time from work, arising out of and in the course of performance of Work of the Contract.
- D. The Contractor and each Subcontractor shall preserve and safeguard the area of any incident, accident, illness, or injury where the person required emergency medical treatment. The Contractor shall secure the area and not allow any material object or property to be altered, changed, moved, or removed from the area and post a person at the area to protect it. Safeguarding and protecting the area shall only be abandoned by the Contractor upon release by the Owner. The Contractor shall provide the Owner, within twenty-four (24) hours, a list of witnesses which includes the full name, home address, occupation and telephone number of each person and all maintenance records, tool box meeting records and daily reports reflecting the work performed on the day of the incident. The Contractor shall provide, within twenty-four (24) hours of learning of the actual or potential existence of any other witnesses, the Owner with updated information which includes the full name, home address, occupation, and telephone number of each additional witness.
- E. If, in the performance of the Work, a harmful hazard is created for which appliances or methods of elimination have been approved by regulatory authorities, the Contractor shall install, maintain, and operate said appliances or methods.
- F. The Contractor and each Subcontractor shall provide, within five (5) calendar days, written notice to each of its liability insurers (primary, excess and umbrella) of any such incident, accident, illness, injury, or death on the Project Site on behalf of itself, the Owner, the Client, and the Construction Manager. The Contractor and each Subcontractor shall provide to the Owner, the Client and the Construction Manager, a copy of such notice at the time such notice is given to each insurer as well as confirmation of receipt of such notice by each insurer.

G. Drug Testing Policy:

- 1. The Contractor shall undertake or continue, and ensure each Subcontractor shall undertake or continue, a drug testing policy designed to maintain a safe working environment.
- 2. The Contractor shall submit to the Owner, within seventy-two (72) hours after the date of the execution of this Contract, its drug testing policy in connection with the Project. Owner reserves the right in its sole discretion to direct that the Contractor's drug testing policy, at a minimum,

contains a requirement to drug test any employee involved in an incident on the Project involving any reported bodily injury or any property damage over \$1000 in value. Owner may also require random drug testing when appropriate in accordance with law along, with certifications to Owner regarding the status of the testing.

3. The Contractor shall not allow any worker or employee on a work site who is under, appears to be under, or is suspected of being under the influence of drugs or alcohol. Such employee shall not be allowed on site until drug testing has occurred and Owner has approved.

H. Professional Conduct:

- 1. The Contractor acknowledges and agrees that professionally appropriate conduct is a material obligation of this Contract. All employees, officers and representative of Contractor shall conduct themselves professionally in all communications in connection with the Project, including but not limited to communications with Subcontractors and other contractors.
- 2. Use of abusive, threatening, vulgar or other offensive language, whether written or oral, is a breach of the obligation set forth in paragraph (1) of this section 14.03 (H).
- 3. Contractor will receive a warning in writing from Owner upon breach of the obligation set forth paragraph (1) of this section 14.03 (H). Contractor agrees that any subsequent breach of paragraph (1) of this section 14.03 (H) committed after receipt of the written warning is grounds for the Owner to terminate this Contract for cause, or for the Owner to avail itself of any other remedy at law.
- 4. The Contractor shall include the provisions set forth in paragraphs (1) and (2) of this section 14.03 (H) in every subcontract in such a manner that the requirements of these provisions will be binding upon each Subcontractor as to Work in connection with the Contract.

I. Sexual Harassment:

- 1. As a condition to the award of this Contract, Contractor affirms that it has implemented (i) a written policy addressing sexual harassment prevention in the workplace and that (ii) it provides or will provide annual sexual harassment training to all of its employees, both of which meet the requirements of New York law including Section 201-g of the New York State Labor Law. The policy shall equal or exceed the standards set forth by the New York Department of Labor pursuant to the model sexual harassment prevention policy in connection with New York Labor Law Section 201-g (1). The Contractor shall ensure that all its employees receive a copy of the sexual harassment prevention policy pursuant to New York law and shall provide a copy to owner upon request.
- 2. The Contractor shall submit to the Owner, within seventy-two (72) hours after the date of the execution of this Contract, its sexual harassment prevention policy. The Owner may direct Contractor to revise its sexual harassment prevention policy to the extent that the Owner determines that the policy fails to meet the standards set forth in paragraph (1) of this section 14.03 (I). Owner's failure to direct Contractor to revise its policy does not constitute a determination or representation that the policy satisfies New York law nor that the policy meets the standards set forth in paragraph (1) of this section 14.03 (I).
- 3. The Contractor shall include the provisions set forth in paragraph (1) of this section 14.03 (I) in every subcontract in such a manner that the requirements of these provisions will be binding upon each Subcontractor as to Work in connection with the Contract.
- J. The Contractor is responsible for ensuring that each Subcontractor executes the Subcontractor's obligations in this General Conditions Section 14.03.

K. Failure of the Contractor to comply with provisions of this General Conditions Section 14.03 shall be deemed a material breach of Contract and the Owner may impose a payment penalty on the Contractor for any act of non-compliance. The payment penalty shall not exceed one twentieth (1/20) of the contract price or a maximum of One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000) for each time the Contractor fails to perform or to provide the information, reports, forms, etc. required in this General Conditions Section 14.03. This payment penalty is not exclusive; the Owner may avail itself of any other contractual remedy available.

Section 14.04 - Risks Assumed by the Contractor

The Contractor agrees that each duty set forth in this General Conditions Section 14.04 is separate, distinct, and independent from the other duties in this General Conditions Section 14.04.

- A. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor solely assumes the following distinct and several risks whether said risks arise from acts or omissions, whether supervisory or otherwise, of the Owner, of the Client, of any Subcontractor, of third persons or from any other cause, including unforeseen obstacles and difficulties which may be encountered in the performance of the Work, whether said risks are within or beyond the control of the Contractor and whether said risks involve any legal duty, primary or otherwise, imposed upon the Owner or Client, regardless of the presence or absence of culpable conduct on the part of the Contractor, excepting only risks which arise from faulty designs as shown by the Drawings and Specifications or from the percentage of negligence attributed to the Owner, the Client or the Construction Manager or the Owner's, Client's or Construction Manager's members, officers, representatives or employees that caused the loss, damage or injuries hereinafter set forth:
 - 1. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the risk of loss or damage, including direct or indirect damage or loss, of whatever nature to the Work or to any plant, equipment, tools, materials or property furnished, used, installed or received by the Owner, the Construction Manager, the Contractor or any Subcontractor, materialman or worker performing services or furnishing materials for the Work regardless of the presence or absence of any culpable conduct on the part of the Contractor, excepting only risks which arise from the percentage of negligence attributed to the Owner, Client or Construction Manager or the Owner's, Client's or Construction Manager's members, officers, representatives or employees that caused the loss or damage. The Contractor shall bear said risk of loss or damage until Physical Completion or until completion or removal of said plant, equipment, tools, materials or property from the Site and the vicinity thereof, whichever event occurs last. In the event of said loss or damage, the Contractor immediately shall repair, replace, or make good any said loss or damage.
 - 2. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the risk of claims, just or unjust, by third persons against the Contractor, the Owner, the Client, or the Construction Manager on account of wrongful death, bodily injuries and property damage, direct or consequential, loss or damage of any kind whatsoever arising out of or alleged to arise out of or as a result of or in connection with the performance of the Work by the Contractor or any Subcontractor, whether actually caused by or resulting from the performance of the Work, or out of or in connection with the operations of the Contractor or any Subcontractor or presence at or in the vicinity of the Site of the Contractor or any Subcontractor, regardless of the presence or absence of any culpable conduct on the part of the Contractor. The Contractor shall bear the risk for all deaths, injuries, damages or losses sustained or alleged to have been sustained prior to Physical Completion of the Work excepting only the percentage of negligence attributed to the Owner, Client or Construction Manager or the Owner's, Client's or Construction Manager's members, officers, representatives or employees that caused the deaths, losses, damages or injuries, regardless of the presence or absence of any culpable conduct on the part of the Contractor. The Contractor shall bear the risk for all deaths, injuries, damages, or losses sustained or alleged to have been sustained after Physical Completion resulting

from the Contractor's negligence or alleged negligence.

- 3. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor assumes entire responsibility and liability for any and all damage or injury of any kind or nature whatsoever, including death resulting therefrom, to all persons, whether employees of the Contractor or otherwise, and to all property, arising out of or alleged to arise out of or as a result of or in connection with the performance of the Work by the Contractor or any Subcontractor, whether actually caused by or resulting from the performance of the Work, or out of or in connection with the Contractor's or any Subcontractor's operations or presence at or in the vicinity of the Site, regardless of the presence or absence of any culpable conduct on the part of the Contractor. If any person shall make said claim for any damage or injury, including death resulting therefrom, or any alleged breach of any statutory duty or obligation on the part of the Owner, the Client, Construction Manager, or any of the servants and employees of the Owner, Client or Construction Manager, the Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the Owner, the Client, the Construction Manager, and any of such servants and employees, for any and all loss, damage or injury that the Owner, the Client Construction Manager, or any such servants and employees, may sustain as the result of any claim, provided however, the Contractor shall not be obligated to indemnify and hold harmless the Owner, the Client Construction Manager, and any such servants and employees for their own negligence, if any. In the event that any negligence is attributed to the Owner, Client, Construction Manager or any such servants or employees, then that particular entity or person shall be indemnified and held harmless for all of its liability minus the percentage of negligence attributed to that particular entity or person.
- 4. Notwithstanding any contrary provision of the Contract, and to the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor shall, within ten (10) calendar days of notice from the Owner, Client or Construction Manager, assume the obligation to defend and represent the Owner, the Client, the Construction Manager, and any of the servants and employees of the Owner, Client or Construction Manager, with counsel selected by the Owner, in all claims by third parties arising out of or alleged to arise out of or as a result of or in any way associated with the duties, obligations or requirements of the Contractor or any Subcontractor pursuant to the Contract, or the presence of the Contractor or any Subcontractor on the Site. This obligation to defend applies immediately and is separate and independent of and distinct from the enforceability of any obligation of Contractor or any Subcontractor to indemnify or hold harmless the Owner, the Client, the Construction Manager and the servants or employees of the Owner, Client, and Construction Manager. The Contractor's obligation to defend includes, but is not limited to, payment of any legal fees associated with defending the Owner, the Client, the Construction Manager and any such servants and employees, all costs of investigation, expert evaluation, and any other costs. If the Contractor fails to so defend and represent the Owner, the Client, the Construction Manager, or any such servants and employees with counsel selected by the Owner, the Owner may proceed to defend and represent itself, the Client, the Construction Manager and any such servant and employee with counsel selected by Owner. Contractor shall make payment of the selected counsel's fees and expenses and all other defense costs incurred by Owner immediately upon receipt of Owner's demand.
- B. The Contractor's obligations under this General Conditions Article shall not be deemed waived, limited or discharged by the enumeration or procurement of any insurance for liability for damages. The Contractor shall notify its insurance carrier within twenty-four (24) hours after receiving a written notice of loss or damage or claim from the Owner, the Client, or the Construction Manager. The Contractor shall make a claim to its insurer specifically under the provisions of the contractual liability coverage and any other coverage afforded the Owner, the Client or Construction Manager including those of being a named insured or an additional insured where applicable.
- C. Neither Completion and Acceptance of the Work nor making any payment shall release the Contractor from the Contractor's obligations under this General Conditions Article. The enumeration elsewhere in the Contract of particular risks assumed by the Contractor or of particular claims for which the

Contractor is responsible shall not be deemed to limit the effect of the provisions of this General Conditions Article or to imply that the Contractor assumes or is responsible for only risks or claims of the type enumerated; and neither the enumeration in this General Conditions Article nor the enumeration elsewhere in the Contract of particular risks assumed by the Contractor or particular claims for which the Contractor is responsible shall be deemed to limit the risks which the Contractor would assume or the claims for which the Contractor would be responsible in the absence of said enumerations.

D. Notwithstanding any provision of the Contract to the contrary, and to the fullest extent permitted by law, if the Contractor does not fulfill one or more of Contractor's obligations under General Conditions Articles 14 and 15 to defend, indemnify, hold harmless, and procure insurance for the Owner, Client and Construction Manager, and the Owner, Client or Construction Manager commences a court action to enforce one or more of the Contractor's obligations to defend, indemnify, hold harmless and procure insurance for the Owner, Client and Construction Manager, the Contractor, in addition to its other obligations, shall pay the costs of the Owner, Client and Construction Manager to bring and prosecute the court action, including but not limited to attorney and consultant fees, expenses and court fees. If the Owner, Client, or Construction Manager commences a court action against an insurance company to obtain coverage under an insurance policy which the Contractor represented would provide coverage to the Owner, Client or Construction Manager, the Contractor, in addition to its other obligations, shall pay the costs of the Owner, Client, and Construction Manager to bring and prosecute the court action, including but not limited to attorney and consultant fees, expenses, and court fees.

ARTICLE 15--INSURANCE AND BONDS

Section 15.01 - General Provisions

- A. The Contractor and Subcontractors shall not violate, or permit to be violated, any term or condition of their insurance policies, and shall at all times satisfy the safety requirements of the Owner and of the insurance companies issuing such policies.
- B. The Contractor and Subcontractors shall maintain in force all insurance required to be procured by them under this Contract until issuance of the Notice of Physical Completion by the Owner except where this Contract requires an insurance policy to be maintained for a period beyond issuance of the Notice of Physical Completion in which case the Contractor and Subcontractors shall maintain such insurance policy in force for the specified period beyond issuance of the Notice of Physical Completion.
- C. All insurance required to be procured and maintained by the Contractor and Subcontractors under this Contract shall be procured from insurance companies licensed to do business in the State of New York by the NYS Department of Financial Services and rated at least A- by A.M. Best and Company, or meet such other requirements as are acceptable to the Owner in its sole and exclusive discretion.
- D. All insurance policies required to be procured and maintained by the Contractor and Subcontractors under this Contract shall include a provision or endorsement that the policy shall not be canceled, materially changed, or not renewed without at least thirty (30) calendar days written notice to the Owner except for non-payment in which case notice to the Owner shall be provided as required by law.
- E. All insurance policies required to be procured and maintained by the Contractor and Subcontractors under this Contract shall include a provision or endorsement that at least thirty (30) calendar days prior to the expiration of the policy, evidence from the carrier of renewal or replacement of the policy by the

- carrier, with terms and limits no less favorable than the expiring policy, or written notice from the carrier that the policy will not be renewed or replaced by the carrier, shall be delivered to the Owner.
- F. All insurance policies required to be procured and maintained by the Contractor and Subcontractors under this Contract shall be written on an occurrence basis except where this Contract explicitly allows otherwise.
- G. All insurance policies required to be procured and maintained by the Contractor and Subcontractors under this Contract shall include a provision or endorsement that the Owner and the Client shall not be responsible for any claim expenses and loss payments within the deductible or the self-insured retention and that the Contractor or Subcontractor shall be solely responsible for all claim expenses and loss payments within the deductible or self-insured retention. At any time this Contract requires the Contractor or any Subcontractor to maintain an insurance policy, the Owner may require the Contractor or subcontractor to provide proof, acceptable to the Owner in its sole discretion, that the Contractor or Subcontractor has assets or security sufficient to satisfy all deductible or self-insured obligations under such insurance policy for which the Contractor or Subcontractor may be liable under the claims pending or reasonably possible against the Contractor or Subcontractor at the time the Owner requires the proof. A failure of the Contractor or Subcontractor to provide such proof is a failure of the Contractor or Subcontractor to provide the Owner with evidence of valid and in-force insurance coverage required by the Contract for purposes of General Conditions Section 15.05.
- H. All insurance policies required to be procured and maintained by the Contractor and Subcontractors under this Contract shall include a provision or endorsement that there shall be no right of subrogation against the Owner, Client, or Construction Manager. If any of the Contractor's policies or any of the policies of any Subcontractor prohibit such a waiver of subrogation, the Contractor or Subcontractor shall secure the necessary permission to grant this waiver of subrogation. Any and all such permission shall be confirmed by a manuscript endorsement to the relevant insurance policy or policies and a certified copy of the endorsement shall be provided to the Owner and Construction Manager.
- I. Each liability and protective liability insurance policy required to be procured and maintained by the Contractor and Subcontractors under this Contract shall include a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded the Owner, Client and Construction Manager under such policy shall be primary and non-contributory and that such policy shall be primary to any other insurance policy maintained by the Owner, by the Client or by the Construction Manager. Any other insurance policy maintained by the Owner, by the Client or by the Construction Manager shall be in excess of and shall not contribute with the Contractor's or Subcontractor's insurance policy, regardless of the "other insurance" clause contained in the Owner's, Client's or Construction Manager's own policy of insurance or the Contractor's or Subcontractor's insurance policies.
- J. Any other Contract Document, including but not limited to the Information for Bidders, but excluding Change Orders, may require any of the Contractor and Subcontractors to provide at its or their expense any other form or limit of insurance necessary to secure the interests of the Owner or Client.
- K. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Contract, the Owner, in a Change Order or Contract Amendment, may require the Contractor and any or all Subcontractors to provide, at the expense of the Owner, any other form or limit of insurance in addition to the insurance requirements of the original Contract necessary to secure the interests of the Owner, Client, or Construction Manager.
- L. Neither the procurement nor the maintenance of any type of insurance by the Owner, the Client, the Contractor or the Construction Manager shall in any way be construed or deemed to limit, discharge,

waive or release the Contractor or any Subcontractor from any of the obligations or risks accepted by the Contractor and Subcontractors or to be a limitation on the nature or extent of said obligations and risks or to be a limitation of any obligation to defend, indemnify, hold harmless and procure insurance for the Owner, Client and Construction Manager.

- M. All provisions of General Conditions Article 14 Protection of Persons and Property and General Conditions Article 15 Insurance and Bonds are to the fullest extent permitted by law. One purpose of this Contract is to allocate, to the fullest extent permitted by law, all risk of loss to the Contractor, each Subcontractor, and the insurers of each. Each insurance company from which Owner or Client has directly purchased an insurance policy is a third-party beneficiary of the Contractor's and each Subcontractor's obligations to procure insurance.
- N. Contractor is responsible for ensuring that each Subcontractor obtains and maintains in the required amount each type of insurance policy required by this Contract and that such insurance policy provides the Owner, Client and Construction Manager with the coverage required by this Contract.
- O. Contractor agrees and acknowledges that, because the Contractor (and not the Owner or Client) is responsible for performance of the duties and obligations set forth in this Contract for completion of the Project, the Contractor, through the use of insurance, intends to allocate all losses to such insurance to protect itself and the Owner and Client.

Section 15.02 - Submission of Insurance

- A. Owner will not execute the Contract unless the Contractor shall submit to the Owner or the Owner's designee proof of insurance in such forms as requested and deemed acceptable by the Owner, indicating the Project, and showing evidence of all insurance required under the Contract. Upon the Owner's request, the Contractor shall provide a copy of each insurance policy required by the Contract certified by the insurance carrier as a true and complete copy. The Owner may request such a certified copy of a policy at any time and may make such requests as often as the Owner, in its sole and exclusive discretion, deems necessary. Each request may be for a certified copy of one or more policies. In addition, the Contractor shall provide copies of certificates of insurance to the Construction Manager, if applicable. Certificates of insurance, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained on the Certificate of Insurance, when submitted to the Owner, constitute a warranty by the Contractor and its insurance agent or broker, that the insurance coverage described is in effect for the policy term shown.
- B. The Contractor shall submit insurance certificates (Accord 25 and 855, or equivalent as determined by the Owner), copies of declaration pages, schedules of forms and endorsements, copies of all named insured endorsements, all endorsements of the policy granting coverage to the Owner, Client, and Construction Manager, and such other documents requested by the Owner as proof of insurance for the Contractor. All insurance submittals must be approved by the Owner prior to the Contractor's commencement of Work.
- C. Upon the Owner's request, the Contractor shall submit to the Owner or Owner's designee proof of insurance for one or more Subcontractors, in such forms as requested and deemed acceptable by the Owner, indicating the Project, and showing evidence of all insurance required under the Contract. Upon the Owner's request, the Contractor shall provide a copy of each insurance policy of the Subcontractor or Subcontractors required by the Contract and certified by the insurance carrier as a true and complete copy. The Owner may request such a certified copy of a policy at any time and may make such requests as often as the Owner, in its sole and exclusive discretion, deems necessary. Each request may be for a certified copy of one or more policies for one or more Subcontractors. In addition, the Contractor shall provide copies of certificates of insurance to the Construction Manager, if applicable. Certificates

- of insurance of the Subcontractors, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained on the Certificate of Insurance, when submitted to the Owner by the Contractor, constitute a warranty by the Contractor, the Subcontractor and the Subcontractor's insurance agent or broker, that the insurance coverage described is in effect for the policy term shown.
- D. Upon request of the Owner made any time after bids are opened, the Contractor shall submit insurance certificates (Accord 25 and 855, or equivalent as determined by the Owner), copies of declaration pages, schedules of forms and endorsements, copies of all named insured endorsements, all endorsements of the policy granting coverage to the Owner, Client, and Construction Manager, and such other documents requested by the Owner as proof of insurance for a Subcontractor. Owner may request proof of insurance for one or more Subcontractors at the same or at different times and may request proof of insurance for a particular Subcontractor as often as Owner, in its sole and exclusive discretion, determines is necessary.

Section 15.03 - Insurance Provided by Contractor

- A. Prior to award of the Contract, the Contractor shall procure, at its sole cost and expense, and shall maintain in force at all times required by this Contract all of the insurance required under this Contract. Each Subcontractor shall procure, at its sole cost and expense, prior to the Contractor submitting to the Owner the name of such Subcontractor and prior to such Subcontractor commencing performance of any of the Work, and each Subcontractor shall maintain in force at all times required by this Contract all of the insurance required under this Contract. The insurance that the Contractor and each Subcontractor shall procure and maintain under this Contract includes, but is not limited to, the following:
 - 1. Workers' Compensation (including occupational disease) and Employer's Liability insurance. Full New York State Workers' Compensation and Employer's Liability coverage shall be provided and evidenced by one of the following certificates (Acord certificates are not acceptable):
 - a. C-105.2 (September '15, or most current version) Certificate of NYS Workers' Compensation Insurance Coverage. The insurance carrier shall provide a completed form as evidence of inforce coverage.
 - b. U-26.3 (or any replacement) NYS Insurance Fund Certificate of Workers' Compensation Coverage. The NYS Insurance Fund shall provide a completed form as evidence of in-force coverage.
 - c. GSI-105.2(2/02 or most current version) Certificate of Participation in Workers' Compensation Group Board-approved self-insurance. The NYS Workers' Compensation Board's Self Insurance Office or the Contractor's Group Self Insurance Administrator shall provide a completed form.
 - d. SI-12 (5/09 or most current version) Affidavit Certifying That Compensation Has Been Secured. The NYS Workers' Compensation Board's Self Insurance Office or the Contractor's Self Insurance Administrator shall provide a completed form.
 - 2. Disability Benefits insurance. Full New York State Disability Benefits coverage for the benefit of such employees as are required to be covered by the New York State Disability Benefits Law shall be provided and evidenced by one of the following certificates:

- a. DB-120.1 (September 15, or most current version) Certificate Of Insurance Coverage Under the NYS Disability Benefits Law.
- b. DB-155 (9/16) Compliance with Disability Benefits Law. The NYS Workers' Compensation Board's Self Insurance Office shall provide a completed form.
- c. CE 200 Certificate of Attestation of Exemption. (Note: this form will only be accepted as evidence of an exemption from providing Disability Benefits insurance as required by law. The Dormitory Authority will not accept this as an exemption from providing Worker's Compensation Insurance.) The Certificate may be obtained from the NYS Workers Compensation Board's website at http://www.wcb.state.ny.us. The CE 200 cannot be used for multiple projects; therefore, a new form shall have to be completed prior to award of any subsequent contract.
- 3. Commercial General Liability (CGL) insurance. The CGL insurance policy shall cover the liability of the Contractor or Subcontractor for bodily injury, property damage, and personal/advertising injury arising from performance of the Work or operations or presence at or in the vicinity of the Site of the Contract. The policy shall utilize ISO form CG 00 01 12 07 or a form providing equivalent coverage. The limits under such policy shall not be less than the following: the limit for each occurrence shall be at least \$2,000,000; the general aggregate limit shall be at least \$2,000,000; the personal and advertising injury limit shall be at least \$1,000,000; and the Products Completed Operations limit shall be at least \$2,000,000. The limits may be provided through a combination of primary and umbrella and/or excess liability policies. Coverage shall provide and encompass at least the following:
 - a. If the Contractor or Subcontractor proposes the use of a policy other than the ISO form CG 00 01 12 07, the Contractor or Subcontractor shall provide the proposed policy to the Owner which, in its sole and exclusive discretion, will determine whether the proposed policy provides equivalent coverage. The Contractor or Subcontractor shall pay Owner any attorney fees and other costs incurred by Owner in determining whether the proposed policy provides equivalent coverage. Owner will select the attorney providing advice on the proposed policy.
 - b. ISO Endorsement Forms CG 20 10 11/85 and CG 20 37 10 01, or their equivalents, specifically naming as additional insureds the Dormitory Authority and Client and if applicable, the Construction Manager and other entities specified on the sample certificate of insurance provided by the Owner in the bidding documents and for form CG 20 37 10 01 or its equivalent, specifically listing the Project location.
 - c. If the Contractor or Subcontractor proposes the use of an endorsement or endorsements other than the ISO Endorsement Forms CG 20 10 11/85 and CG 20 37 10 01, the Contractor or Subcontractor shall provide the proposed endorsement(s) to the Owner which, in its sole and exclusive discretion, will determine whether the proposed endorsements provide equivalent coverage. Contractor and Subcontractor shall pay Owner any attorney fees and other costs incurred by Owner in determining whether the proposed endorsements provide equivalent coverage. Owner will select the attorney providing advice on the proposed endorsements.
 - d. Additional insured status for Owner, Client and Construction Manager shall apply during the Products/Completed Operations phase as well as during the course of performance of the Work.
 - e. The policy provisions required by General Conditions Section 15.01.

- f. Excavation, Collapse and Underground Hazards.
- g. Independent contractors/subcontractors.
- h. Blanket Written Contractual Liability covering all indemnity agreements, including all indemnity obligations contained in the Contract, and covering tort liability of another assumed in a contract.
- i. Products and completed operations coverage for a term no less than three years commencing upon issuance by the Owner of the Notice of Physical Completion.
- Premises liability.
- k. Defense and/or indemnification obligations, including obligations assumed under this Contract.
- 1. Cross liability for additional insureds.
- m. Contractor and Subcontractor means and methods.
- n. Liability resulting from Section 240 or Section 241 of the NYS Labor Law.
- o. ISO Endorsement CG 25 03 11 85 or its equivalent applying the policy's general aggregate limit separately to the Project.
- p. The maximum deductible or self-insured retention shall be \$50,000.
- q. No endorsement or provision in the policy shall exclude coverage for Owner, Client, or Construction Manager for any liability when the injured party is an employee of Contractor or any Subcontractor.
- r. No endorsement or provision in the policy shall require privity of contract between the Owner and Subcontractor or between the Client and the Contractor or Subcontractor or between the Construction Manager and the Contractor or Subcontractor in order for the Owner, the Client, or the Construction Manager to have coverage as an insured on such insurance policy.
- s. If the Contractor or Subcontractor must provide a Railroad Protective Liability insurance policy, the CGL exclusion for work within fifty (50) feet of railroad property must be deleted.
- t. No endorsement or provision in the policy shall have a height limitation or exclusion.
- u. No endorsement or provision in the policy shall have a classification exclusion as respects work performed for the Owner, Client, and Construction Manager.
- v. Owner, Client, and Construction Manager shall be covered for any and all liability arising out of acts or omissions of Contractor and any Subcontractor.
- 4. Commercial Automobile Liability insurance. The Commercial Automobile Liability insurance policy shall cover liability arising out of the use of any motor vehicle in connection with the Contract, including owned, leased, hired and non-owned vehicles bearing or, under the circumstances under which they are being used, required by the laws of NYS to bear, license plates. The policy shall have a combined single limit for bodily injury and property damage of at least

\$1,000,000. The limit may be provided through a combination of primary and umbrella and/or excess liability policies. If the Contract involves the removal of hazardous waste or otherwise transporting Hazardous Materials, pollution liability coverage for covered autos shall be provided by endorsement CA 99 48 03 06 or CA 00 12 03 06 and the Motor Carrier Act Endorsement (MCS90) shall be attached to the policy.

- 5. Umbrella and/or Excess Liability insurance. When the limits of the CGL, Commercial Auto Liability or Employers' Liability policies procured are insufficient to meet the limits specified in the preceding paragraphs, Commercial Umbrella or Excess Liability policies shall be procured and maintained provided, however, that the total amount of insurance coverage is at least equal to the requirements specified in the preceding paragraphs. The Commercial Umbrella or Excess Liability policies shall follow the same form as the CGL, Commercial Automobile Liability and Employers Liability insurance policies required in the preceding paragraphs. The Umbrella and/or Excess Liability policies shall be primary to any other insurance maintained by the Owner or Client or Construction Manager or any other additional insured. Any other insurance maintained by the Owner, the Client, the Construction Manager, or any other additional insured shall be in excess of and shall not contribute with the Contractor's or Subcontractor's Umbrella or Excess Liability insurance policies, regardless of the "other insurance" clause contained in the Owner's or Client's or Construction Manager's or other additional insured's own policy of insurance or the Contractor's or Subcontractor's insurance policies.
- 6. The Contractor shall secure, pay for, and maintain property insurance necessary for protection against the loss of owned, borrowed or rented capital equipment and tools, including any tools owned by employees, and any tools or equipment, staging towers, and forms owned, borrowed, or rented by the Contractor. The requirement to secure and maintain such insurance is solely for the benefit of the Contractor. Failure of the Contractor to secure such insurance or to maintain adequate levels of coverage shall not render the Owner, Client and, if applicable, the Construction Manager and other entities specified as additional insureds on the sample certificate of insurance provided by the Owner in the bidding documents or their agents and employees responsible for any losses; and the Owner, Client and, if applicable, the Construction Manager and other entities specified as additional insureds on the sample certificate of insurance provided by the Owner in the bidding documents and their agents and employees shall have no such liability.
- B. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Contract to the contrary and to the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor shall be liable for all costs and fees, including counsel fees, incurred by or on behalf of the Owner, the Client or the Construction Manager in any action brought by or against the Owner, Client or Construction Manager concerning insurance coverage owed to Owner, Client or Construction Manager by any insurer for which Contractor or any Subcontractor represented that the Owner, Client and Construction Manager would be an insured or would benefit in any way if a claim was brought against Owner, Client and Construction Manager.

Section 15.04 - Other Insurance Provided by Contractor

The Contractor and each Subcontractor shall also procure and maintain as required by General Conditions Sections 15.01 B and 15.03 A the following insurance:

A. United States Longshore and Harbor Workers' Compensation Act and Jones Act: When, to perform the Work, the Contractor or any Subcontractor is engaged in activities on or near a shoreline or on or near the navigable waterways of the United States or when any part of the Work is connected to water related activities, the Workers' Compensation policy referenced above of the Contractor and any such

Subcontractor shall be endorsed to provide Jones Act and United States Longshore and Harbor Workers' Act coverage.

- B. Contractor's Pollution Liability insurance: When the Work includes abatement, removal, repair, replacement, enclosure, encapsulation or disposal of any pollutants, which include but are not limited to, petroleum, petroleum products, mold, asbestos, lead or any other Hazardous Material, the Contractor or any Subcontractor performing Work involving any of the pollutants, shall procure and maintain in full force and effect pollution legal liability insurance with limits of at least \$2,000,000 providing coverage for bodily injury and property damage, including loss of use of damaged property or of property that has not been physically injured and coverage that encompasses at least the following:
 - 1. Endorsement specifically naming as additional insureds: Dormitory Authority, the Client, and if applicable, the Construction Manager and other entities specified on the sample certificate of insurance provided by the Owner in the bidding documents.
 - 2. The policy provisions required by General Conditions Section 15.01.
 - 3. A maximum deductible or self-insured retention of \$50,000.
 - 4. Coverage for actual, alleged or threatened emission, discharge, dispersal, seepage, release or escape of pollutants, including any loss, cost or expense incurred as a result of any cleanup of pollutants or in the investigation, settlement or defense of any claim, suit or proceedings against the Owner, Client or Construction Manager arising from the Work.
 - 5. Coverage shall be provided until three years after the Owner issues the Certificate of Physical Completion.
- C. Railroad Protective Liability insurance: If any Work of the Contract is to be performed on or within fifty (50) feet of a railroad property or railroad right of way or will require entrance upon railroad property or right of way or will require assignment of a railroad employee, the Contractor shall provide and maintain a Railroad Protective Liability policy with the policy limits required by the owner(s) of the railroad. For purposes of this paragraph, a subway is a railroad. The policy form shall be ISO-RIMA or an equivalent form approved by the owner(s) of the railroad. The railroad owner(s) shall be the named insured on the policy and the definition of "physical damage to property" shall mean direct and accidental loss of or damage to all property of any named insured and all property in any named insured's care, custody, or control. If the Contractor shall provide a Railroad Protective Liability insurance policy, the Contractor and any Subcontractor performing on or within fifty (50) feet of railroad property or railroad right of way or entering railroad property or right of way or requiring assignment of a railroad employee shall have their CGL insurance policy endorsed to delete the exclusion of coverage for Work within fifty (50) feet of railroad property.
- D. Professional Liability insurance: Each of the Contractor and any Subcontractor performing any Work which involves delegation of design shall procure and maintain Error and Omissions Liability Insurance for the delegated design Work with a minimum insurance limit of not less than two (2) million dollars issued to and covering damage for liability imposed on the Contractor or Subcontractor by this Contract or law arising out of any negligent act, error, or omission in the rendering of or failure to render professional services required by this Contract. This insurance may be issued on a claims-made policy form and shall be maintained for no less than three (3) years after issuance by the Owner of the Notice of Physical Completion. The policy, at the sole expense of the Contractor or Subcontractor, shall have extended Discovery Clause coverage of at least three (3) years after issuance by the Owner of the Notice

- of Physical Completion if the policy is cancelled or not renewed. The maximum deductible or self-insured retention is \$100,000.
- E. Unmanned Aircraft System (UAS) Insurance: Any Contractor or Subcontractor proposing the use of any Unmanned Aircraft System for any purpose on a Project, including but not limited to investigation, surveying, photography, inspections or observation, shall comply with all of Owner's policies and procedures regarding such use and shall provide coverage, in the form of an Unmanned Aircraft System (UAS) endorsement to the Commercial General Liability Coverage required above or Aircraft Liability Coverage with a minimum limit of \$1,000,000. Such coverage shall name the Owner and any required third parties as additional insureds.
- F. Marine Protection & Indemnity insurance and Hull & Machinery insurance: Each of the Contractor and any Subcontractor performing any Work on navigable water or connected to water-related activities or with marine operations, shall procure and maintain Marine Protection & Indemnity insurance and Hull & Machinery insurance. Hull & Machinery coverage shall be provided for the total value of the watercraft and equipment used in the Work on navigable water or connected to water-related activities or with marine operations. The Contractor shall obtain a Marine Protection & Indemnity Liability insurance policy for all navigable water, water-related or marine activities or operations under the Contract with a minimum limit of \$2,000,000. The Owner, the Client and, if applicable, the Construction Manager and other entities specified on the sample certificate of insurance provided by the Owner in the bidding documents shall be additional insureds on the Marine Protection & Indemnity Liability insurance policy. The Marine Protection & Indemnity Liability insurance policy shall provide coverage that encompasses at least the following:
 - 1. The policy provisions required by General Conditions Section 15.01.
 - 2. A maximum deductible or self-insured retention of \$50,000.
 - 3. Coverage shall be provided until the Owner issues the Certificate of Physical Completion.
 - 4. Endorsement specifically naming as additional insureds: Dormitory Authority, the Client, and if applicable, the Construction Manager and other entities specified on the sample certificate of insurance provided by the Owner in the bidding documents.

Section 15.05 - Stop Work Order - Insurance

- A. All insurance certificates are valid for one (1) year from the date the certificate is signed/stamped, or until policy expiration, whichever is earlier. The Contractor shall be responsible to submit updated insurance certificates thirty (30) calendar days prior to any insurance certificate expiration date.
- B. Failure of the Contractor or any Subcontractor to maintain the insurance required by the Contract or to provide the Owner with evidence of valid and in-force insurance coverage required by the Contract shall result in a Stop Work Order pursuant to General Conditions Article 11 Termination or Suspension and/or withholding of payment to the Contractor.
- C. At any time that the coverage provisions and limits on the policies required herein do not meet the provisions and limits set forth above, the Contractor or Subcontractor shall immediately cease Work on the Project. The Contractor or Subcontractor shall not resume Work on the Project until authorized to do so by the Owner.
- D. Any delay or time lost as a result of the Contractor or Subcontractor not having proper insurance required by this General Conditions Article or not providing the Owner with evidence of valid and in force insurance required by the Contract shall not give rise to a delay Claim or any other Claim against

the Owner. Further, the Contractor may be liable to other contractors for costs incurred by reason of the Contractor's or Subcontractor's failure to provide insurance.

Section 15.06 – Builder's Risk

- A. The Owner will provide Builder's Risk insurance for all projects, except for those projects listed in paragraph B of this General Conditions Section 15.06.
 - 1. The Owner shall, except as otherwise specified, at all times beginning with the Notice to Proceed and until Substantial Completion, procure and maintain, at the Owner's sole cost and expense, "All Risk" Builder's Risk insurance. The Contractor and Subcontractors will be covered for the Work of the Contract, except losses up to and including the deductible shall be borne by the Contractor. The Owner shall, at the Owner's sole discretion, have the power to adjust and to settle with the insurer any loss or claim under the Builder's Risk insurance. Reimbursement for loss, if any, shall be made payable to the Owner. The deductible is stated in the Information for Bidders.
 - 2. Coverage shall include sub limits for property in transit and for property in storage on and off the Site. Specific higher limits for transit or for storage may be available as circumstances may require upon written request by the Contractor or any Subcontractor to the Owner at least 30 calendar days before such higher limit would take effect if the request is granted. Owner in its sole and exclusive discretion may grant or deny the request for a higher limit for transit or storage. If the Owner denies the request, the Contractor or Subcontractor shall have no Claim against the Owner for any cost or damage. If the Owner grants the request, the Owner may condition the grant upon the Contractor or Subcontractor paying the additional cost for the higher limit for transit or storage.
 - 3. No coverage shall be provided to the Contractor or any Subcontractor under any property insurance policy of the Owner or Client which only covers completed, occupied structures.
- B. The Contractor shall procure and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, Builder's Risk insurance for all OMH, OPWDD, OASAS, NYCHA, and HTFC-GOSR projects, or when otherwise specified, as provided below.
 - 1. The Contractor shall maintain until the date of Physical Completion, an All Risk Builder's Risk Completed Value Form insurance policy, with coverage for at least the value of the Work of the Contract except for excavation work, planting and seeding, and Work buried in the ground other than wiring and walking tunnels, but including debris removal costs and architect, engineering and other costs to evaluate damage and provide any design or other services necessary to correct or minimize damage in the event of damage to the Work covered by the policy or such higher amount of coverage as required by the Owner in this Contract. Debris removal costs shall include demolition as may be necessary by the operation of any law, ordinance, or regulation. The policy shall cover property of the Owner or Client when in the Contractor's care, custody, or control. The policy shall name as insureds the Owner, Client and Contractor and shall include such soft costs coverage for the Owner and Client as specified in this Contract. The extended coverage endorsement may include a loss deductible of \$10,000 or less. The Contractor shall bear all losses up to and including the deductible provision.
 - 2. Coverage shall also include sub limits for equipment, material, and other property in transit or in storage on or off the Site. Specific higher limits of coverage for property in transit or storage, at Contractor's expense, may be required by the Owner due to circumstances of the Project.

- 3. Each Builder's Risk insurance policy shall include the following endorsement:
 - "It is made a condition of this insurance that until the Owner issues the Notice of Physical Completion to the Contractor, occupancy of the premises shall not require consent of the insurer, nor shall such occupancy be the basis for a rate adjustment."
- 4. Builder's Risk insurance policy shall name the Dormitory Authority and the Contractor Loss Payees in order of precedence, as their interests may appear and shall run until the date of Physical Completion. Policies expiring on a fixed date before Physical Completion shall be renewed not less than thirty (30) calendar days before such expiration date. Such policy shall not be changed by endorsement without the knowledge and consent of the Owner and in particular, shall provide that no notice of cancellation by the insurer shall be effective until sixty (60) calendar days after such notice is received by the Owner. If the policy is issued by a mutual insurance company, the policy shall provide that the Owner and the Client shall not be liable for any premium or assessment under the policy; the Contractor shall be responsible for all premiums and assessments.
- 5. The Owner may withhold the Contractor's payment for Work which is required to be insured until original binder or policies for the Builder's Risk insurance are provided to the Owner pursuant to General Conditions Section 15.06.

Section 15.07 - Bonds Provided by Contractor

- A. The Contractor shall provide the Performance Bond in an amount at least equal to 100% of the Contract sum as security for the faithful performance of the Contract. The Contractor shall also provide the Payment Bond in an amount at least equal to 100% of the Contract sum for the payment of all persons performing labor or providing materials in connection with the Work of the Contract. The Contractor shall execute the Performance Bond form and the Payment Bond form included in the Contract Documents.
- B. If at any time the Owner, in its sole and exclusive discretion, shall become dissatisfied with any surety or sureties upon the Performance Bond or the Payment Bond, or if for any other reason said bonds shall cease to be adequate security to the Owner, the Contractor shall, within five (5) calendar days after written notice from the Owner to do so, substitute an acceptable bond or bonds in such form and sum and signed by such other surety or sureties as may be satisfactory to the Owner. The Contractor shall pay the premiums on said bond or bonds. No further payments shall be deemed due nor shall be made until the new surety or sureties shall have furnished an acceptable bond or bonds to the Owner.
- C. The surety company, on all bonds, shall be authorized to do business in the State of New York by the NYS Department of Financial Services and rated at least A- by A.M. Best and Company, or meet such other requirements as are acceptable to the Owner in its sole and exclusive discretion.

ARTICLE 16 -- GENERAL PROVISIONS of the CONTRACT

Section 16.01 - General Law Provisions

A. This Contract and its enforcement, and any controversy arising out of or relating to the making or performance of this Contract, shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the law of the State of New York, without regard to the New York principles of conflicts-of law and except where the United States supremacy clause requires otherwise.

- B. Each and every provision of law and clause required by law to be inserted in the Contract shall be deemed to be inserted therein and the Contract shall read and shall be enforced as though so included therein.
- C. The Contractor shall comply fully with all applicable laws, rules, and regulations, and as applicable, Building Code of New York State or Building Code of the City of New York.
- D. The Contractor agrees that the Contract shall be deemed executory to the extent of moneys available from either: (1) the proceeds of bonds issued by the Dormitory Authority for the Contract, (2) moneys made available by the Client to the Owner for the Contract, (3) other moneys made available to the Owner from whatever source specifically for the Contract and no liability shall be incurred by the Owner beyond moneys available therefore.
- E. The relationship created by the Contract between the Owner and the Contractor is one of an independent contractor and it is no way to be construed as creating an agency relationship between the Owner and the Contractor nor is it to be construed as, in any way or under any circumstances, creating or appointing the Contractor as an agent of the Owner for any purpose whatsoever.
- F. The Client is an intended third-party beneficiary of the Contract for the purposes of recovering any damages incurred by the Client and caused by the Contractor.
- G. The Contractor shall not assign the Contract in whole or in part without prior written consent of the Owner. Any attempt to assign the Contract in whole or in part without prior written consent of the Owner is null and void. As a condition to consent to the assignment, the Owner shall require each proposed assignee to establish, to the satisfaction of the Owner in its sole and exclusive discretion, that the assignee is responsible and, if applicable, has the experience to perform the Work. If the Owner consents to an assignment and if the Contractor assigns all or part of any moneys due or to become due under the Contract, the instrument of assignment shall contain a clause substantially to the effect that the Contractor and assignee agree that the assignee's right in and to any moneys due or to become due to the Contractor shall be subject to all prior claims for services rendered or materials supplied in connection with the performance of the Work. The Owner reserves the right to assign this Contract in whole or in part without the consent of the Contractor.
- H. Nothing in the Contract shall create or shall give to third parties any claim or right of action against the Owner, the State of New York, the Client, and the Construction Manager, or any institution at which the Work is being carried out beyond such as may legally exist irrespective of the Contract.
- I. The Owner is exempt from the terms of fair trade agreements for sales to the Contract.
- J. Inasmuch as the Contractor can be compensated adequately by money damages for any breach of the Contract which might be committed by the Owner, the Contractor agrees that no default, act or omission of the Owner shall constitute a material breach of the Contract entitling the Contractor to cancel or rescind the Contract or to suspend or abandon performance of the Contract; and the Contractor hereby waives any and all rights and remedies to which the Contractor might otherwise be or become entitled to because of any wrongful act or omission of the Owner saving only the Contractor's right to money damages.
- K. No action or proceeding shall lie or shall be maintained by the Contractor, nor anyone claiming under or through the Contractor, against the Owner upon any Claim arising out of or based upon the Contract, relating to the giving of notices or information.

- L. No action or proceeding shall lie in favor of or shall be maintained by the Contractor against the Owner unless such action shall be commenced within one year after the earliest following event:
 - 1. The date the Owner executes the Notice of Physical Completion.
 - 2. Receipt, by the Owner, of the Contractor's final Application for Payment, if no Notice of Physical Completion is issued.
 - 3. The date of termination if the Owner terminates the Contract.
- M. The Owner and Contractor agree to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Commercial Division, New York Supreme Court, which shall hear any dispute, Claim or controversy arising in connection with or relating to this Contract, including, but not limited to the validity, breach, enforcement, or termination thereof.
- N. No action or proceeding shall be brought against the Owner in any location other than Albany County unless the Owner specifically consents, in writing, to a change of venue.
- O. If the Contractor obtains a judgment against the Owner in any action or proceeding, the Contractor agrees to accept no more than three percent (3%) interest, per annum, on the amount of the judgment.
- P. Neither Contractor nor its Subcontractors shall place or maintain, or permit to be placed or maintained, any sign, bill or poster on or about the Premises without the prior consent of Owner's Representative.
- Q. Each Party has reviewed and discussed this Contract with counsel and agrees that this Contract shall not be construed by applying any rule of construction providing for interpretation against the drafting Party.

Section 16.02 - Diesel Emissions Reduction

- A. The Contractor shall certify that heavy duty vehicles, as defined in the NYS Environmental Conservation Law (ECL) Section 19-0323 and Title 6 of the New York Codes Rules and Regulations, Part 248 (6 NYCRR 248), will comply with the rules, regulations and provisions pursuant to ECL Section 19-0323, and 6 NYCRR 248, which requires the use of Best Available Retrofit Technology and Ultra Low Sulfur Diesel to the extent required by law unless specifically waived by the NYS Department of Environmental Conservation (DEC). Qualification for a waiver will be the responsibility of the Contractor.
- B. Annually, as required by DEC, but no later than March 1st, the Contractor shall complete and submit directly to the Owner, via electronic mail, the Regulated Entity Vehicle Inventory Form and Regulated Entity and the Contractors Annual Report Form, found on the DEC website http://www.dec.state.ny.gov for vehicles used on the Project for the preceding calendar year.
- C. The Contractor shall certify to the Owner, and submit with each Application for Payment, the Contractor and Subcontractor Certifications form, which states that the Contractor agrees to comply with the provisions of General Conditions Section 16.02.

Section 16.03 – State and Federal Labor Law Provisions

- A. All applicable provisions of NYS Labor Law shall be carried out in the performance of the Work.
- B. The Contractor specifically agrees, as required by NYS Labor Law, Sections 220 and 220-d as amended, that:

- 1. No worker, in the employ of the Contractor, any Subcontractor or any other person doing or contracting to do the whole or any part of the Work contemplated by the Contract shall be permitted or required to work more than eight (8) hours in any one (1) calendar day and more than five (5) days in any one week, except in the extraordinary emergencies set forth in NYS Labor Law.
- 2. The wages paid for a legal day's work shall be not less than the prevailing rate of wages as defined by NYS Labor Law. Each laborer, worker or mechanic employed by the Contractor, any Subcontractor or any other person doing or contracting to do the whole or any part of the Work contemplated by the Contract shall be paid not less than the prevailing rate of wages as defined by NYS Labor Law and shall be provided not less than the supplements as required by NYS Labor Law.
- 3. The minimum hourly rate of wage to be paid and supplements provided shall be not less than that required by the NYS Labor Law and as shall be designated by the Commissioner of Labor of the State of New York.
- 4. The Contractor and all Subcontractors shall post in a prominent and accessible place on the Site, a legible statement of all minimum wage rates and supplements to be paid or provided for the various classes of workers engaged in the performance of the Work and all deductions, if any, required by law to be made from unpaid wages actually earned by any worker so engaged.
- 5. The Contractor and all Subcontractors shall provide each worker a written notice of the prevailing wage rate for each of the worker's particular job classifications on each pay stub and, as required by the NYS Labor Law, written notice that includes the telephone number and address for the Department of Labor and a notice informing all workers of their right to contact the Department of Labor if a worker is not receiving the proper prevailing rate of wages and/or supplements for a worker's particular job classification.
- 6. The Contractor shall be responsible for obtaining prevailing wage rate updates directly from the NYS Department of Labor, either by accessing its website http://www.labor.state.ny.us or a written request to the Bureau of Public Works.
- C. The minimum wage rates, if any, specified for apprentices shall apply only to persons working with the tools of the trade which such persons are learning under the direct supervision of journeyman mechanics as an individual registered in an apprenticeship program which is duly registered with the Commissioner of Labor of the State of New York in conformity with the NYS Labor Law. Except as otherwise required by law, the number of apprentices in each trade or occupation employed by the Contractor or any Subcontractor shall not exceed the number permitted by the applicable standards of the NYS Department of Labor, or, in the absence of such standards, the number permitted under the usual practice prevailing between the unions and the employers' association of the respective trades or occupations.
- D. All workers of the Contractor and all Subcontractors shall be paid in accordance with the provisions of the NYS Labor Law. The Contractor and all Subcontractors shall submit to the Owner original copies of the Contractor and Subcontractor Certifications form and Certified Payroll forms in accordance with payment procedures and otherwise upon request. The Contractor and all Subcontractors shall prepare and keep original payrolls or transcripts thereof in compliance with NYS Labor Law Section 220, subdivision 3-a, and shall file transcripts of such payrolls with the Owner as required by NYS Labor Law Section 220, subdivision 3-a. Filing the transcripts of such payrolls with the Owner as required by NYS Labor Law Section 220, subdivision 3-a is a condition precedent to payment of any sums due and owing Contractor or any Subcontractor for Work performed upon the Project.
- E. The Contractor agrees that, in case of underpayment of wages to any worker engaged in the Work by

the Contractor or any Subcontractor, the Owner shall withhold from the Contractor out of payments due an amount sufficient to pay such worker the difference between the wages required to be paid under the Contract and the wages actually paid such worker for the total number of hours worked, and that the Owner may disburse such amount so withheld by the Owner for and on account of the Contractor to the worker to whom such amount is due. The Contractor further agrees that the amount to be withheld pursuant to this paragraph may be in addition to the amounts and percentages to be retained by the Owner pursuant to other provisions of the Contract.

- F. Pursuant to subdivision 3 of Section 220 and Section 220-d of the NYS Labor Law the Contract shall be forfeited and no sum paid for any Work done thereunder upon a Contractor's or Subcontractor's second conviction for willfully paying or providing less than:
 - 1. The stipulated wage scale or supplement as established by the fiscal officer.
 - 2. The stipulated minimum hourly wage scale and supplements as designated by the Commissioner of Labor of the State of New York.
- G. If the project is Federally funded in part or whole and therefore subject to the requirements of the Davis Bacon Act, the U.S. Department of Labor's government-wide implementation of the Act, or to Federal program legislation, the Contractor shall pay the higher of either NYS Department of Labor prevailing wage rates or wages established for the locality of the project by the U.S. Department of Labor.
- H. The Contractor specifically agrees that all workers engaged on the Site, whether employees of the Contractor, Subcontractor, or other person performing or contracting to do any part of the Work, shall be certified, prior to performing any Work, as having successfully completed the OSHA 10-hour construction safety and health course as required by NYS Labor Law Section 220-h.

Section 16.04 - Nondiscrimination

- A. To the extent required by Article 15 of the NYS Executive Law (also known as the Human Rights Law) and all other NYS and United States statutory and constitutional non-discrimination provisions, the Contractor shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, creed, color, sex (including gender identity or expression), national origin, sexual orientation, military status, age, disability, predisposing genetic characteristics, marital status or domestic violence status.
- B. If the Contractor is directed to do so by the Owner, the Contractor shall request each employment agency, labor union or authorized representative of workers with which the Contractor has a collective bargaining agreement or other agreement or understanding, to furnish a written statement that such employment agency, labor union or representative will not discriminate on the basis of race, creed, color, sex, national origin, age, disability or marital status, and that such union or representative will affirmatively cooperate in the implementation of the Contractor's obligations under Articles 15 and 15A of the NYS Executive Law.
- C. The Contractor shall state, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees, that in the performance of the Contract, all qualified applicants will be afforded equal employment opportunities without discrimination because of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, age, disability, or marital status.
- D. The Contractor shall include the provisions of paragraphs A, B, and C of this General Conditions Section 16.04 in every Subcontract and purchase order in such a manner that such provisions will be binding upon each Subcontractor and vendor as to the operations for the Contract to be performed within the State of New York.
- E. Pursuant to NYS Labor Law, Section 220-e, the Contractor specifically agrees:

- 1. That in the hiring of employees for the performance of Work under the Contract or any subcontract hereunder, or for the manufacture, sale or distribution of materials, equipment or supplies hereunder, but limited to operations performed within the territorial limits of the State of New York, no Contractor, Subcontractor, nor any person acting on behalf of such Contractor or Subcontractor, shall by reason of race, creed, color, disability, sex or national origin discriminate against any citizen of the State of New York who is qualified and available to perform the Work to which the employment relates.
- 2. That no Contractor, Subcontractor, nor any person on behalf of such Contractor or Subcontractor shall, in any manner, discriminate against or intimidate any employee hired for the performance of Work under the Contract on account of race, creed, color, disability, sex, or national origin.
- 3. That there may be deducted from the amount payable to the Contractor, by the Owner under the Contract, a penalty of fifty dollars (\$50.00) for each person for each calendar day during which such person was discriminated against or intimidated in violation of the terms of the Contract.
- 4. That the Contract may be canceled or terminated by the Owner and all moneys due or to become due hereunder may be forfeited for a second or any subsequent violation of the terms or conditions of this Section 16.04 E of the Contract.

Section 16.05 - Domestic Steel

The Dormitory Authority is required to comply with all provisions of Title 4 of Article 9 of the NYS Public Authorities Law, including NYS Public Authorities Law Section 2603-a, and in accordance therewith, if the amount of the Contract exceeds \$100,000, the Owner requires that all structural steel, reinforcing steel or other major steel items to be incorporated in to the Work of the Contract be produced or made in whole or substantial part in the United States, its territories, or possessions. The Owner, in its discretion, may grant waivers of this requirement in accordance with NYS Public Authorities Law Section 2603-a. Contractor must request a waiver in writing and obtain a written waiver of this requirement from Owner before using in performance of the Contract any steel not produced or made in whole or substantial part in the United States, its territories, or possessions.

Section 16.06 - Failure to Comply with Article 16

The Owner will not be responsible for any Claim arising from compliance with this General Conditions Article 16.

ARTICLE 17—RECORDS/AUDITS/INVESTIGATIONS/ETHICS

Section 17.01 – Preparation of Records/Owner's Right to Inspect Records and to Audit

The Contractor shall, concurrently with performance of the Contract, prepare substantiating records regarding performance of the Contract, including records of Subcontractors and material suppliers. General Conditions Section 17.03 describes the records and other data to be maintained by Contractor, Subcontractors, and material suppliers. The Contractor shall maintain and keep, for a period of at least six (6) years after the date of payment of the final Application for Payment, all records and other data relating to the Work, including records of Subcontractors and material suppliers. Upon seven (7) calendar days' written notice, the Contractor shall make its records (including records of Subcontractors and material suppliers) available during normal business hours to the Owner or its authorized representative(s). Owner

and its authorized representative(s) shall be entitled to inspect, examine, review and copy the Contractor's records (including records of Subcontractors and material suppliers) at the Owner's reasonable expense, within adequate workspace at the Contractor's facilities. The Owner shall also have the right to have Owner or its authorized representative audit all records and other data of the Contractor, Subcontractors and material suppliers relating to the Work.

Section 17.02- False Statements/Information/Disclosure

Failure to comply with General Conditions Section 17.01, providing False Representations, false statements or inaccurate information submitted in accordance with Contract Documents, including but not limited to, an Application for Payment, a Claim or a Change Order, or False Representations, false statements, or inaccurate information submitted to the Owner, or a determination that the Contractor participated in the kick-back of wages may result in one or more of the following actions:

- A. Termination of the Contract for cause, pursuant to General Conditions Section 11.01.
- B. Rejection of future bids or disapproval of a contract or subcontract.
- C. Withholding of payments.
- D. Criminal prosecution.
- E. Civil prosecution under Article XIII of the NYS State Finance Law the New York False Claims Act.
- F. Rejection of a Claim or Change Order.
- G. Deduction of the Owner's cost of an audit from the Contract amount.

Section 17.03 - Owner's Right to Conduct Investigations

- A. The Contractor agrees to cooperate fully and faithfully with any investigation, audit or inquiry conducted by the Owner.
- B. The Contractor shall grant the Owner the right to examine all books, records, files, accounts, computer records, documents, and correspondence, including electronically-stored information, in the possession or control of the Contractor, its subsidiaries and affiliated companies and any other company directly or indirectly controlled by the Contractor, relating to the Contract. These shall include, but not be limited to: Subcontracts; bid files; payroll and personnel records; cancelled checks; correspondence; memoranda; daily reports of Work completed that day; schedules; reports; audits; vendor qualification records; original estimate files; Change Order/Contract Amendment estimate files; detailed worksheets; Subcontractor, consultant and supplier proposals for both successful and unsuccessful bids; backcharge logs; any records detailing cash, trade, or volume discounts earned; insurance proceeds, rebates or dividends received; payroll and personnel records; tax returns; and the supporting documentation for the aforesaid books and records.
- C. At the Owner's request, said materials shall be provided in a computer readable format, where available. At the request of the Owner, the Contractor shall execute such documents, if any, as are necessary to give the Owner access to Contract-related books, documents, or records, which are, in whole or part, under control of the Contractor but not currently in the Contractor's physical possession. The Contractor shall not enter in to any agreement with a Subcontractor, consultant, or supplier, in

connection with the Contract, that does not contain a right to audit clause in favor of the Owner. The Contractor shall assist the Owner in obtaining access to past and present Subcontractor, consultant, and supplier amendment/change order files (including detailed documentation covering negotiated settlements), accounts, computer records, documents, correspondence, and any other books and records in the possession of Subcontractors, consultants and suppliers pertaining to the Contract, and, if appropriate, enforce the right-to-audit provisions of such agreements.

- D. The Contractor shall assist the Owner in obtaining access to, interviews with, and information from all former and current persons employed and/or retained by the Contractor, for purposes of the Contract.
- E. The Contractor shall require each Subcontractor to include in all agreements that the Subcontractor may hereinafter enter in to with any and all Subcontractors, consultants, and suppliers, in connection with the Contract, a right-to-audit clause in favor of the Owner conferring rights and powers of the type outlined in this General Conditions Section 17.03. The Contractor shall not enter in to any Subcontract with a Subcontractor in connection with the Contract that does not contain such a provision. The Contractor shall not make any payments to a Subcontractor, consultant, or supplier from whom the Contractor has failed to obtain and supply to the Owner complete, accurate, and truthful information in compliance with a request from the Owner to the Contractor.
- F. Any violation of the provisions of this General Conditions Article 17 shall justify termination of this Contract and may result in the Owner's rejection of the Contractor's bids or proposals for future contracts and the deduction of the Owner's cost of an audit from the Contract amount.

Section 17.04 - Disclosure of Criminal Investigation

- A. The Contractor shall immediately notify the Owner in the event that any owner, partner, director, officer or employee of the Contractor, or its affiliated companies as identified in the NYS Vendor Responsibility Questionnaire For Profit Construction (CCA-2), are subpoenaed or questioned in connection with any business-related criminal investigation, whether or not the owner, partner, director, officer or employee is, or is believed to be, the subject or target of such investigation, or is notified or otherwise learns that any owner, partner, director, officer or employee of the Contractor or its affiliated companies is under investigation for an alleged business-related violation of criminal law, or in the event that any premises or records of the Contractor are searched pursuant to a search warrant seeking evidence of a crime or crimes, unless otherwise precluded by law enforcement authorities.
- B. The Contractor shall immediately notify the Owner in the event that any owner, partner, director, officer or employee of the Contractor or its affiliated companies as identified in the NYS Vendor Responsibility Questionnaire For Profit Construction (CCA-2), the firm itself, or one of its affiliated companies is indicted or charged in an accusatory instrument for any business-related violation of local, state or federal criminal law, unless otherwise precluded by law enforcement authorities.
- C. In the event that any owner, partner, director, officer, or employee of the Contractor is indicted or charged in an accusatory instrument for any business-related violation of local, state, or federal criminal law relating to this Contract or any other Dormitory Authority contract, the Owner may require the Contractor to remove said owner, partner, director, officer, or employee from any direct involvement in the affairs of the Contractor as it relates to this Contract and all other Dormitory Authority contracts until the criminal matter is resolved. In the event that any owner, partner, director, officer, or employee of the Contractor is convicted of a business-related violation of local, state, or federal criminal law, the Owner may require the Contractor to permanently remove said individual from any direct involvement in the affairs of this Contract and all other Dormitory Authority contracts.

- D. In the event that the Contractor or any owner, partner, director, officer, or employee of the Contractor is convicted of a business-related violation of local, state, or federal criminal law, the Owner may schedule a hearing with the Contractor to determine the Contractor's responsibility to continue work under this Contract and other Dormitory Authority contracts. Following this hearing, the Owner may, at its sole discretion, take one or more of the following actions:
 - 1. Terminate this Contract.
 - 2. Require the Contractor, at its own expense, to hire an independent private-sector inspector general to monitor its activities, institute procedures and conduct internal inquiries, in a manner prescribed by the Owner.
 - 3. Increase retainage to an amount not to exceed ten percent (10%).
 - 4. Take any other remedial action deemed appropriate.

Section 17.05 - Anti-Riot Provisions

- A. The Contractor agrees that no part of the Contract funds shall be used to make payments, give assistance, or supply services, in any form, to any individual convicted in any federal, state, or local court of competent jurisdiction for inciting, promoting, or carrying on a riot, or engaging in any group activity resulting in material damage to property or injury to persons found to be in violation of federal, state or local laws designed to protect persons or property.
- B. The Contractor and each Subcontractor shall notify their employees of all rules and regulations adopted pursuant to Article 129-A of the NYS Education Law. The Contractor shall post notices containing the text of the aforementioned rules and regulations at the Site.

Section 17.06 - Ethical Conduct

- A. Officers and employees of the Owner are bound by Sections 73, 73-a and 74 of the NYS Public Officers Law. In addition, no officer, employee, architect, attorney, engineer, inspector, or consultant of or for the Owner authorized on behalf of the Owner to exercise any legislative, executive, administrative, supervisory, or other similar functions in connection with the Contract or the Work, shall become personally interested, directly or indirectly, in the Contract, material supply contract, subcontract, insurance contract, or any other contract pertaining to the Work.
- B. Section 73(5) of the NYS Public Officers Law expressly prohibits the Contractor, or its agents, from directly or indirectly offering or giving any gift having more than nominal value to an employee of the Owner under circumstances in which it could be reasonably inferred the gift was intended to influence the employee in the performance of their official duties or was intended as a reward for the employee's official action.
 - 1. In addition to the prohibition of Section 73(5) of the NYS Public Officers Law, the Dormitory Authority has a "zero tolerance" policy with respect to the solicitation, acceptance, or receipt of gifts from disqualified sources. Therefore, the Contractor and its agents shall refrain from offering or giving anything of value to an employee of the Owner. Employees of the Owner may not solicit any gift, gratuity, stipend, or thing of value from the Contractor or its agents. Violations of these gift provisions may be grounds for immediate Contract termination and/or referral for civil action or criminal prosecution.

- C. To promote a working relationship with the Owner based on ethical business practices, the Contractor is expected to:
 - 1. Furnish all goods, materials and services to the Owner as contractually required and specified.
 - 2. Submit complete and accurate reports to the Owner and its representatives as required.
 - 3. Not seek, solicit, demand or accept any information, verbal or written, from the Owner or its representatives that provides an unfair advantage over a competitor.
 - 4. Not engage in any activity or course of conduct that restricts open and fair competition on Owner-related projects and transactions.
 - 5. Not engage in any course of conduct with Owner employees or its representatives that constitutes a conflict of interest, in fact or in appearance.
 - 6. Not offer or give any unlawful gifts or gratuities, or engage in bribery or other criminal activity.
- D. The Owner encourages the Contractor to advance and support ethical business conduct and practices among its directors, officers, and employees, preferably through the adoption of corporate ethics awareness training programs and written codes of conduct.
- E. Although the Contractor may employ relatives of Owner employees, the Owner shall be made aware of such circumstances as soon as possible, preferably in writing, to ensure a conflict of interest situation does not arise. The Owner reserves the right to request that the Contractor modify the work assignment of a relative of an Owner employee where a conflict of interest, or the appearance thereof, is deemed to exist.
- F. The Contractor may hire former employees of the Owner. However, as a general rule, former employees of the Owner may neither appear nor practice before the Owner, nor receive compensation for services rendered on a matter before the Owner, for a period of two years following their separation from service with the Owner. In addition, former employees of the Owner are subject to a "lifetime bar" from appearing before the Owner or receiving compensation for services regarding any transaction in which they personally participated or which was under their active consideration during their tenure with the Owner.
- G. The Contractor agrees to notify the Owner's Office of Internal Affairs at 518-257-3193 of any activity by an employee of the Owner that is inconsistent with the contents of this General Conditions Section 17.06.
- H. Any violation of this General Conditions Section 17.06 shall justify termination of this Contract and may result in Owner's rejection of the Contractor's bids or proposals for future agreements.

Section 17.07 – Continuing Integrity

A. Contractor shall at all times during the Contract term remain responsible. Contractor agrees, if requested by the President of Owner or his or her designee, to present evidence of its continuing legal authority to do business in New York State, integrity, experience, ability, prior performance, and organizational and financial capacity.

- B. The President of Owner or his or her designee, in his or her sole discretion, reserves the right to suspend any or all activities under this Contract, at any time, when he or she discovers information that calls in to question the responsibility of Contractor. In the event of such suspension, Contractor will be given written notice outlining the particulars of such suspension. Upon issuance of such notice, Contractor shall comply with the terms of the suspension order. Contract activity may resume at such time as the President of Owner or his or her designee issues a written notice authorizing a resumption of performance under the Contract.
- C. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Contract, upon written notice to Contractor, and a reasonable opportunity to be heard with the appropriate Owner officials or staff, the Contract may be terminated by the President of Owner or his or her designee at Contractor's expense where Contractor is determined by the President of Owner or his or her designee to be non-responsible. In such event, the President of Owner or his or her designee may complete the contractual requirements in any manner he or she may deem advisable and pursue available legal or equitable remedies for the breach.

Section 17.08 – Iran Divestment

- A. By entering in to this Contract, Contractor certifies, under the penalties of perjury, that Contractor is not on the list created pursuant to paragraph (b) of subdivision 3 of Section 165-a of the NYS State Finance Law. Contractor further certifies that Contractor will not utilize on this Contract any subcontractor that is identified on the list created pursuant to paragraph (b) of subdivision 3 of Section 165-a of the NYS State Finance Law.
- B. During this Contract, should Owner receive information that a person (as defined in NYS State Finance Law §165-a) is in violation of the above-referenced certifications, Owner will review such information and offer the person an opportunity to respond. If the person fails to demonstrate that it has ceased its engagement in the investment activity which is in violation of the Act within 90 days after the determination of such violation, then Owner shall take such action as may be appropriate and provided for by law, rule, or contract, including, but not limited to, seeking compliance, recovering damages, or declaring the Contractor in default.

ARTICLE 18 -- 2005 PROCUREMENT LOBBYING LAW

Section 18.01 - Procurement Lobbying Law

Bidders shall affirm their understanding of and agree to comply with NYS State Finance Law § 139-j (3) and § 139-j (6) (b), certify their compliance with NYS State Finance Law § 139-k (5), disclose prior non-responsibility determinations under NYS State Finance Law § 139-j, and shall certify that the information they provide with respect to NYS State Finance Law § 139-j and § 139-k is complete, true, and accurate. Contractor hereby reaffirms its understanding of an agreement to comply with NYS State Finance Law § 139-j (3) and § 139-j (6) (b), re-certifies its compliance with NYS State Finance Law § 139-k (5) and recertifies that the information it provided with respect to NYS State Finance Law § 139-j and § 139-k is complete, true, and accurate.

Section 18.02 - Contractor's Certifications

For any contract \$15,000 or more each Contractor shall submit, with its bid, on the form provided herewith, the 2005 Procurement Lobbying Law – Certification, pursuant to NYS State Finance Law § 139-j and § 139-k. The information contained in the 2005 Procurement Lobbying Law – Certification, pursuant to NYS State Finance Law § 139-j and § 139-k will serve as an informational resource to aid the Owner in making an award determination.

Section 18.03 - Termination Provisions

The Owner reserves the right to terminate this Contract in the event it is found that the certification filed by the Contractor in accordance with NYS State Finance Law § 139-j and § 139-k, as such may be amended or modified, was intentionally false or intentionally incomplete. Upon such finding, the Owner may exercise its right pursuant to General Conditions Section 11.01 – Termination for Cause.

ARTICLE 19 -- EXECUTIVE ORDER No. 125

Section 19.01 - Determination of Contractor Responsibility

In order to assist the Owner in determining the responsibility and reliability of the lowest bidder for the Contract and to effectuate the directives of Executive Order No. 125, dated May 22, 1989, (9 NYCRR §4.125) the Council of Contracting Agencies has adopted procedures to collect and exchange relevant information among contracting agencies.

Section 19.02 – NYS Vendor Responsibility Questionnaire

- A. For any Contract valued at \$10,000 or more, the NYS Vendor Responsibility Questionnaire For Profit Construction (CCA-2) for the Contractor or for any Subcontractor shall be submitted as requested by the Owner. Owner may request an updated NYS Vendor Responsibility Questionnaire For Profit Construction (CCA-2) for the Contractor or for any Subcontractor as often as the Owner, in its sole and exclusive discretion, deems necessary to carry out the Owner's duties and responsibilities under this Contract.
- B. The information contained in the NYS Vendor Responsibility Questionnaire For Profit Construction (CCA-2) will serve as an informational resource to aid the Owner in making an award determination and in making other determinations for this Contract.

ARTICLE 20 -- OPPORTUNITY PROGRAMS

Section 20.01 - General Provisions

- A. The Dormitory Authority is required to implement the provisions of NYS Executive Law Article 15-A and Parts 140 through 145 of Title 5 of the NYCRR for all State contracts (as defined in such statute and regulations) with a value:
 - 1. in excess of \$25,000 for labor, services, equipment, materials, or any combination of the foregoing; or
 - 2. in excess of \$100,000 for real property renovations and construction.
- B. The Contractor agrees, in addition to any other nondiscrimination provision of the Contract and at no additional cost to the Owner, to fully comply and cooperate with the Owner in the implementation of NYS Executive Law ARTICLE 15-A, PARTICIPATION BY MINORITY GROUP MEMBERS AND WOMEN WITH RESPECT TO STATE CONTRACTS, and the regulations promulgated thereunder. These requirements include: equal employment opportunities for minority group members and women (EEO), and contracting opportunities for NYS certified minority and women-owned business

enterprises (MWBEs). The Contractor's demonstration of good faith efforts pursuant to 5 NYCRR § 142.8 shall be a part of these requirements. These provisions shall be deemed supplementary to, and not in lieu of the nondiscrimination provisions required by NYS Executive Law Article 15 (the Human Rights Law) and other applicable federal, state and local laws.

C. Failure to comply with all requirements in this General Conditions Article 20 may result in a finding of non-responsiveness, non-responsibility, breach of contract or any combination of the foregoing leading to the assessment of liquidated damages pursuant to General Conditions Section 20.06 and other remedies available to the Owner pursuant to the Contract and applicable law.

Section 20.02 – Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO)

A. The provisions of NYS Executive Law Article 15-A, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder pertaining to equal employment opportunities for minority group members and women shall apply to the Contract.

B. The Contractor shall:

- 1. Undertake or continue, and ensure each Subcontractor shall undertake or continue, existing EEO programs to ensure that minority group members and women are afforded equal employment opportunities without discrimination because of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, age, disability, or marital status. For these purposes, EEO shall apply in the areas of recruitment, employment, job assignment, promotion, upgrading, demotion, transfer, layoff, or termination and rates of pay or other forms of compensation.
- 2. Submit an EEO policy statement to the Owner within seventy-two (72) hours after the date of the Letter of Intent to award the Contract.
- 3. Adopt a model EEO policy statement and require each Subcontractor to adopt a model EEO policy statement if the Contractor or Subcontractor does not have an existing EEO policy statement, and if the Owner requires the Contractor or Subcontractor to adopt a model EEO policy statement.
- 4. Have a Contractor's EEO policy statement that shall include the following language:
 - a. The Contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, age, disability, or marital status, will undertake or continue existing EEO programs to ensure that minority group members and women are afforded equal employment opportunities without discrimination, and shall make and document its conscientious and active efforts to employ and utilize minority group members and women in its work force.
 - b. The Contractor shall state in all solicitations or advertisements for employees that, in the performance of the Contract, all qualified applicants will be afforded equal employment opportunities without discrimination because of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, age, disability, or marital status.
 - c. The Contractor shall request each employment agency, labor union, or authorized representative of workers with which it has a collective bargaining or other agreement or understanding, to furnish a written statement that such employment agency, labor union, or representative will not discriminate on the basis of race, creed, color, national origin, sex age,

disability or marital status and that such union or representative will affirmatively cooperate in the implementation of the Contractor's obligations herein.

- 5. The Contractor shall include the provisions of paragraphs a. through c. of this General Conditions Section 20.02 B. 4. and Subdivision E of this General Conditions Section 20.02, which provides for relevant provisions of the Human Rights Law, in every Subcontract in such a manner that the requirements of these provisions will be binding upon each Subcontractor as to Work in connection with the Contract.
- C. To ensure compliance with this General Conditions Section 20.02, the Contractor shall submit a staffing plan, on a form provided by Owner, to document the composition of the proposed workforce to be utilized in the performance of the Contract by the specified categories listed, including ethnic background, gender, and Federal occupational categories. The Contractor shall complete the staffing plan form and submit it when directed by Owner.
- D. To ensure continuous compliance with General Conditions Section 20.02:
 - 1. The Contractor shall submit a Workforce Utilization Report, and shall require each Subcontractor to submit a Workforce Utilization Report, in such form as shall be required by the Owner on a monthly basis during the term of the Contract.
 - 2. Separate forms shall be completed by the Contractor and each Subcontractor.
 - 3. Pursuant to Executive Order 162 (9 NYCRR 8.162) dated January 9, 2017, the Contractor and each Subcontractor are also required to report the gross wages paid to each of their employees for the Work performed by such employees on the Contract on a monthly basis.
- E. The Contractor shall comply with the provisions of the NYS Human Rights Law, and all other State and Federal statutory and constitutional non-discrimination provisions. The Contractor and each Subcontractor shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, creed (religion), color, sex, national origin, sexual orientation, military status, age, disability, predisposing genetic characteristic, marital status, or domestic violence victim status, and shall also follow the requirements of the NYS Human Rights Law with regard to non-discrimination on the basis of prior criminal conviction and prior arrest.

Section 20.03 – Opportunities for Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises (MWBE)

- A. The Owner has established goals for the participation in this Contract of NYS certified minority-owned business enterprises ("MBE") and NYS certified women-owned business enterprises ("WBE" and collectively with MBEs, "MWBE"). The goals (collectively, MWBE Contract Goals) are set forth in the Information for Bidders Section 8.0 Opportunity Programs Requirements.
- B. The Contractor represents and warrants that, as a condition for award of the Contract, the Contractor has submitted a Statewide Utilization Management Plan ("SUMP") via the NYS Contract System (NYSCS) which lists all proposed Subcontractors including an identification of the NYS certified MWBE subcontractors and suppliers the Contractor intends to use to perform the Work of the Contract and to achieve the MWBE Contract Goals established in the Contract Documents. In addition, or alternatively, Contractor may have submitted a request for a waiver. Prior to award of the Contract, the Owner approved Contractor's plan to achieve the MWBE Contract Goals established in the Contract Documents (MWBE Utilization Plan) to the extent the Owner did not approve Contractor's request for

- a waiver of part or all of the MWBE Contract Goals. Owner approval of the MWBE Utilization Plan approves a Subcontractor only for the purpose of the MWBE Utilization Plan.
- C. Contractor agrees to adhere to the MWBE Utilization Plan in the performance of the Contract. Contractor shall not change the Utilization Plan without the prior written approval of the Owner. Contractor further agrees that failure to adhere to the MWBE Utilization Plan shall constitute a material breach of the Contract and upon such breach, the Owner shall be entitled to any remedy provided in the Contract or by law, including but not limited to a finding that the Contractor is non-responsible.
- D. The Contractor understands that only sums paid to MWBEs for the performance of a commercially useful function, as that term is defined in 5 NYCRR § 140.1 may be applied towards the achievement of the applicable MWBE Contract Goal. The portion of a subcontract with an MWBE serving as a supplier that shall be deemed to represent the commercially useful function performed by the MWBE shall be 60% of the total value of the subcontract. The portion of a subcontract with an MWBE serving as a broker that shall be deemed to represent the commercially useful function performed by the MWBE shall be the monetary value for fees, or the markup percentage, charged by the MWBE. The Owner will audit the Contractor's efforts to achieve the MWBE Contract Goals through the NYSCS.

Section 20.04 - Good Faith Efforts

- A. The Contractor shall document good faith efforts pursuant to 5 NYCRR § 142.5 to provide meaningful participation by MWBEs as Subcontractors (which includes material suppliers, other vendors, and others; see definition of Subcontractor in General Conditions Article 1 Definitions) in the performance of the Contract, to comply with the requirements of the Contract and to enable the Owner to determine compliance with the provisions of this General Conditions Article 20. Guidelines for documentation of good faith efforts are at http://www.dasny.org/tools-forms/forms under MWSBE.
- B. If the Contractor fails to adequately document good faith efforts, it may result in a finding of non-compliance.

Section 20.05 - Waivers

- A. If the Contractor, after making good faith efforts satisfactory to the Owner, is unable to achieve the MWBE Contract Goals, the Contractor may submit a request for a waiver through the NYSCS, or a non-electronic method provided by the Owner. The request for a waiver must be supported by evidence of the good faith efforts by the Contractor to achieve the maximum feasible MWBE participation towards the applicable MWBE Contract Goals. If the documentation included with the waiver request is complete, the Owner shall evaluate the request and issue a written notice of acceptance or denial within twenty (20) business days of receipt.
- B. If the Owner, upon review of the SUMP, the MWBE Utilization Plan, the NYSCS and any other relevant information, determines that the Contractor is failing or refusing to comply with the MWBE Contract Goals and no waiver has been issued in regard to such non-compliance, the Owner may issue a notice of deficiency to the Contractor. The Contractor shall respond to the notice to deficiency within seven (7) business days of receipt. Such response may include a request for partial or total waiver of MWBE Contract Goals.

Section 20.06 – Damages - MWBE Participation

A. If the Owner determines that the Contractor is not in compliance with the requirements of this General Conditions Article 20 and the Contractor refuses to comply with the requirements of this General

Conditions Article 20, or if the Contractor is found to have willfully and intentionally failed to comply with the MWBE Contract Goals, then: (1) the Contractor shall be obligated to pay the Owner liquidated damages; or (2) the Contractor shall be obligated to pay the Owner other appropriate damages; or (3) the Owner shall receive one or more other appropriate remedies, unless the Owner elects to pursue its remedies under NYS Executive Law Section 316. If the Owner declines to pursue its remedies under NYS Executive Law Section 316, the Owner may elect to pursue one or more of liquidated damages, other appropriate damages, and one or more other appropriate remedies.

- B. If the Owner decides to assess liquidated damages, the Contractor shall be obligated to pay to the Owner liquidated damages in an amount equal to the difference between all sums identified for payment to MWBEs if the Contractor had achieved the MWBE Contract Goals and all sums actually paid to MWBEs for performance of Work under the Contract. If such liquidated damages have not been withheld by the Owner, the Contractor shall pay such liquidated damages to the Owner within sixty (60) days after they are assessed. provided, however, that if the Contractor has filed a complaint with the Director of the Division of Minority and Women's Business Development pursuant to 5 NYCRR §142.2, liquidated damages shall be payable only in the event of a determination adverse to the Contractor following the complaint process. The liquidated damages are intended to compensate the Owner only for the Owner's damage if the Owner determines that the Contractor is not in compliance with the requirements of General Conditions Sections 20.03, 20.04 and 20.05 and the Contractor refuses to comply with the requirements of General Conditions Sections 20.03, 20.04 and 20.05, or if the Contractor is found to have willfully and intentionally failed to comply with the MWBE Contract Goals. In addition, the Contractor shall be liable to the Owner to the fullest extent permitted by law for:
 - 1. whatever other appropriate damages the Owner may incur; or
 - 2. any other appropriate remedy to which the Owner may be entitled as a result of the Contractor's refusal to comply with the requirements of this General Conditions Article 20 outside the requirements of General Conditions Sections 20.03, 20.04, 20.05 and the MWBE Contract Goals.

Other appropriate damages include, but are not limited to, the expenses for personnel, supplies and overhead incurred by the Owner to administer and enforce the requirements of this General Conditions Article 20 other than the requirements of General Conditions Sections 20.03, 20.04, 20.05 and the MWBE Contract Goals.

Section 20.07 – Reporting to Owner

The Contractor shall complete the reports and submit as indicated to establish and update EEO requirements during the life of the Contract. Reports not submitted at such time shall be cause for the Owner to delay payment to the Contractor. The listed reports are a requirement of the Contract and copies are included in the Contract Documents and template forms are also available on the Dormitory Authority's web site at, http://www.dasny.org/tools-forms/forms, under MWSBE.

<u>ARTICLE 21- SERVICE-DISABLED VETERAN OWNED BUSINESSES</u>

Section 21.01 – General Provisions

Article 17-B of the NYS Executive Law provides for more meaningful participation in public procurement by certified Service-Disabled Veteran – Owned Businesses (SDVOB), thereby further integrating such businesses into New York State's economy. The Dormitory Authority recognizes the need to promote the employment of service-disabled veterans and to ensure that certified SDVOBs have opportunities for maximum feasible participation in the performance of Dormitory Authority contracts.

Section 21.02 – Contract with Goals

- A. If the Information for Bidders established an overall goal for SDVOB participation in this Contract and Contractor submitted an SDVOB Utilization Plan that was accepted by the Dormitory Authority, Contractor shall follow the accepted SDVOB Utilization Plan. Contractor, by award of the Contract, certified that Contractor shall follow the submitted and accepted SDVOB Utilization Plan for the performance of SDVOBs on the Contract.
- B. Contractor shall not change the accepted SDVOB Utilization Plan without the prior written consent of the Dormitory Authority. Any modifications or changes to the accepted SDVOB Utilization Plan after award of the Contract to the Contractor shall be reported to the Dormitory Authority on a revised SDVOB Utilization Plan. As part of a revised SDVOB Utilization Plan, the Contractor may request a partial or total waiver of the goal for SDVOB participation but such request must be made prior to submission of the Application for Payment for the final payment on the Contract. Contractor shall make and shall document good faith efforts to provide meaningful participation by SDVOBs as subcontractors or suppliers in the performance of the Contract. The revised SDVOB Utilization Plan is not effective unless and until it is accepted by the Dormitory Authority. If the revised SDVOB Utilization Plan is not accepted by the Dormitory Authority, the Dormitory Authority shall issue a notice of deficiency and the Contractor shall proceed as set forth in paragraph D of this General Conditions Section 21.02
- C. Contractor shall report to the Dormitory Authority Monthly SDVOB Contractor Compliance during the Contract documenting the preceding month's progress towards implementing the accepted SDVOB Utilization Plan and achieving the SDVOB goals for the Contract. This information shall be submitted to the Dormitory Authority in the manner and at the times directed by the Dormitory Authority.
- D. If the Dormitory Authority, upon review of the SDVOB Utilization Plan and the Monthly SDVOB Contractor Compliance reports determines that the Contractor is failing or refusing to comply with the Contract SDVOB goals and no waiver has been issued with respect to such non-compliance, the Dormitory Authority may issue a notice of deficiency to the Contractor. The Contractor shall respond to the notice of deficiency within seven (7) business days of receipt. Such response may include a request for partial or total waiver of the Contract SDVOB goals.
- E. Contractor shall make and shall document its good faith efforts to utilize SDVOBs in the performance of the Contract. Evidence of required good faith efforts includes but is not limited to:
 - 1. Copies of solicitations to SDVOBs and any responses thereto;
 - 2. Explanation of the specific reason(s) each SDVOB responding to a Contractor's solicitation was not selected;
 - 3. Dates of any pre-bid, pre-award or other meetings attended by Contractor, if any, scheduled by the Dormitory Authority with certified SDVOBs which the Dormitory Authority determined were capable of fulfilling the SDVOB goals in the Contract;
 - 4. Information describing the specific steps undertaken to reasonably structure the scope of subcontracts and material orders for the purpose of subcontracting with, or obtaining materials from, SDVOBs;
 - 5. Other information relevant to the waiver request.

F. Contractor's failure to use SDVOBs in accordance with the accepted SDVOB Utilization Plan or any accepted revised SDVOB Utilization Plan shall be a material breach of the Contract and upon such breach, the Dormitory Authority shall be entitled to any remedy provided in the Contract, by law or regulation or at law or in equity, including but not limited to a finding the Contractor is non-responsible. If the Dormitory Authority finds the Contractor willfully and intentionally fails to comply with the Contract SDVOB goals, the Contractor shall pay damages to the Dormitory Authority as set forth in 9 NYCRR § 252.2(s).

Section 21.03 – Contract with No Goals

If the Information for Bidders does not establish an overall goal for SDVOB participation in this Contract, Contractors are still strongly encouraged and expected to consider SDVOBs in the fulfillment of the requirements of the Contract in recognition of the service and sacrifices made by service-disabled veterans and in recognition of their economic activity in doing business in New York State. The Contractor is encouraged to make good faith efforts to promote and assist in the participation of SDVOBs in performance of the Contract as Subcontractors.